Prognostic factors, treatment and outcome in adult acute lymphoblastic leukemia

To my family

Örebro Studies in Medicine 134



PIOTR KOZLOWSKI

Prognostic factors, treatment and outcome in adult acute lymphoblastic leukemia

Population-based studies in Sweden

© Piotr Kozlowski, 2016

Title: Prognostic factors, treatment and outcome in adult acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Population-based studies in Sweden. *Publisher*: Örebro University 2016 www.oru.se/publikationer-avhandlingar

Print: Örebro University, Repro February/2016

ISSN 1652-4063 ISBN 978-91-7529-121-5

Abstract

Piotr Kozlowski (2016): Prognostic factors, treatment and outcome in adult acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Population-based studies in Sweden. Örebro Studies in Medicine 134

Acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL) has poor prognosis in older/elderly adults and in high-risk/relapsed disease. Recommended treatment of ALL was evaluated (study I-IV). Data was obtained from the Swedish Acute Leukemia registries and from patient records.

I. We assessed ALL relapse treatment and outcome in 76 patients aged 15-65 years (y). Complete remission (CR) was achieved in 50/71 patients (70%). Of them, 29 underwent allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (hSCT). Five year overall survival (OS) was 15%, but close to 50% in 19 patients <35y after hSCT.

II. We studied outcome of treatment with the Hyper-CVAD protocol in 19 of 24 patients with T-ALL aged 18-72y. CR was reached in 89%, but 5y leukemia-free survival was only 29%, and 20% in 15 patients not transplanted in CR1. Six patients received hSCT in CR2. Finally, 5y OS in all 19 patients was 47%. The only negative prognostic factor found was age \geq 35y.

III. We evaluated minimal residual disease (MRD) monitoring in 35 patients with Philadelphia (Ph) negative B-ALL aged 46-79y and treated with the ABCDV protocol. The CR rate was 91%. MRD was measured by flow cytometry in 73% in CR1 (MRD1) and omitted in those >70y or with high-risk ALL. Five patients received hSCT (only one due to MRD). Five year OS in the whole cohort was 47%. Continuous CR but not OS was improved in patients with MRD1 <0.1 %.

IV. We studied 155 patients with ALL (Ph+ in 35%) aged 55-85y and treated with remission induction/palliation (124/31). Both, intensive, and palliative treatment resulted in the CR rates of 70/83/16% and 3y OS of 26/32/3%. OS was negatively influenced by age and platelet count \leq 35×10⁹/L (but not Ph+). OS was not enhanced by introduction of an age-adapted protocol.

We concluded that intensive treatment with subsequent allogeneic hSCT is the most reasonable option in younger patients with ALL recurrence (I). Hyper-CVAD has low relapse-preventing efficacy (II). MRD guided intensification is probably feasible in only a minority of older patients (III). Prognosis in elderly ALL is poor, but no longer impaired by Ph+ (IV).

Keywords: Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia, adult, chemotherapy, prognosis, population-based.

Piotr Kozlowski, Faculty of Medicine and Health, Örebro University, SE-701 82 Örebro, Sweden, piotr.kozlowski@regionorebrolan.se

List of papers

This thesis is based on the following papers, which are referred to in the text by their Roman numerals:

- I. Kozlowski P, Åström M, Ahlberg L, Bernell P, Hulegårdh E, Hägglund H, Karlsson K, Markuszewska-Kuczymska A, Tomaszewska-Toporska B, Smedmyr B, Hallböök H. High curability via intensive reinduction chemotherapy and stem cell transplantation in young adults with relapsed acute lymphoblastic leukemia in Sweden 2003-2007. Haematologica. 2012;97(9):1414-21.
- II. Kozlowski P, Åström M, Ahlberg L, Bernell P, Hulegårdh E, Hägglund H, Karlsson K, Markuszewska-Kuczymska A, Tomaszewska-Toporska B, Smedmyr B, Amini RM, Hallböök H. High relapse rate of T cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia in adults treated with Hyper-CVAD chemotherapy in Sweden. Eur J Haematol. 2014;92(5):377-81.
- III. Bergfelt E, Kozlowski P, Ahlberg L, Hulegårdh E, Hägglund H, Karlsson K, Markuszewska-Kuczymska A, Tomaszewska-Toporska B, Smedmyr B, Åström M, Amini RM, Hallböök H. Satisfactory outcome after intensive chemotherapy with pragmatic use of minimal residual disease (MRD) monitoring in older patients with Philadelphia-negative B cell precursor acute lymphoblastic leukaemia: a Swedish registry-based study. Med Oncol. 2015;32(4):135.
- IV. Kozlowski P, Bergfelt E, Ahlberg L, Hulegårdh E, Hägglund H, Karlsson K, Tomaszewska-Toporska B, Smedmyr B, Åström M, Hallböök H. Age but not Philadelphia positivity impairs outcome in older/elderly patients with Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia in the Swedish population (in manuscript).

The papers I-III are reprinted with permission of the publishers.

Contents

ABBREVIATIONS	9
INTRODUCTION	. 11
History of ALL treatment	. 11
Epidemiology	. 12
Etiology	. 13
Clinical presentation, diagnostics and classification	. 13
Prognostic factors	. 14
Age	. 15
Performance status	. 16
Sex	. 16
White Blood Cell count	. 16
CNS disease	. 17
Phenotype	. 17
Genetics	. 17
Minimal Residual Disease (MRD)	. 18
Treatment	. 19
Younger adults	. 20
Older/elderly	. 21
Philadelphia positive ALL	. 21
T-ALL	. 22
Allogeneic hSCT	. 23
Relapse	. 23
Population registries in Sweden	. 24
SUMMARY OF PAPERS	. 2.5
Aims	. 25
Overall aim	. 25
Specific aims	. 25
Materials and Methods	. 26
Data collection	. 26
Diagnostic procedures	. 26
Response- and high risk criteria	. 27
Treatment recommendations	. 27
Statistics	. 28
Results	. 29
Paper I	. 30
±	

Paper II	
Paper III	
Paper IV	
Patients treated intensively	
Toxicity	
Allogeneic hSCT in CR1	
Prognostic factors	
Outcome before and after the introduction of new guidelines	
Palliation	
Discussion	
Conclusions	
Paper I	
Paper II	
Paper III	
Paper IV	
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	44
REFERENCES	

Abbreviations

ALL	Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia
AML	Acute Myeloid Leukemia
AYA	adolescents and young adults
BM	bone marrow
CAR T-cells	chimeric antigen receptor modified T cells
CC	comorbidity component
CCR	continuous complete remission
CI	confidence interval
CNS	central nervous system
CR	complete remission
ED	early death
EFS	event free survival (EFS)
ETP	early thymic precursor
EWALL	the European Working Group on Adult ALL
FISH	fluorescence in situ hybridization
G-CSF	granulocyte colony-stimulating factor
GVHD	graft-versus-host disease
GVL	graft-versus-leukemia
HR	high-risk
hSCT	hematopoietic stem cell transplantation
ICD	International Classification of Diseases
LFS	leukemia-free survival
MAC	myeloablative conditioning
MRD	minimal residual disease
NOPHO	the Nordic Society of Paediatric Haematology and Oncology
OS	overall survival
PCR	polymerase chain reaction
PF	prognostic factors
Ph+	Philadelphia chromosome positive
PLT	platelets
PS	performance status
RD	related donor
RICT	reduced intensity conditioning transplant
RT-PCR	reverse-transcriptase polymerase chain reaction
SR	standard risk
SVALL	the Swedish Adult ALL group
TCR	T-cell-receptor

TKI	tyrosine kinase inhibitors
TRM	transplant-related mortality
URD	unrelated donor
WDO	1 • 1 1 1 11

- WBC white blood cell count
- WHO World Health Organization

Introduction

Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia (ALL) is one of the most proliferative malignancies which can affect individuals at any age, but a minority of all patients are adults. Intense, prolonged, response/risk factor guided and complex regimes combining chemotherapy, steroids, biological and targeted therapy are used. Hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (hSCT) is applied in a proportion of patients with high risk ALL in order to prevent disease reoccurrence. The outcome in children/younger adults is improving (1-3) but elderly patients as well as those with relapsed /refractory disease still have poor prognosis (4, 5). New therapies such as bispecific antibodies and engineered T-cells (CAR T-cells) are emerging which even those groups can benefit of (4). Most of the protocols and prognostic factors were evaluated in retrospective studies. Prospective randomized trials are few due to rarity of the disease, and a population based perspective is almost lacking. Selection mechanisms are present in most trials with exclusion of patients not fit enough (elderly/with comorbidities or poor performance status) as well as those treated outside university hospitals. This leads to overestimation of the efficacy of the studied protocols (6). Establishment of nation-wide registries gave the opportunity to unbiased collection of data on patients' characteristics, treatment and outcome in this rare disease. Many countries/national ALL groups introduced guidelines in order to standardize ALL therapy. In Sweden, the guidelines were introduced 1986 and are continuously updated by the Swedish Adult ALL group (SVALL). All patients with the diagnosis are reported to nationwide Acute Leukemia/ ALL registries. This gave us the opportunity to perform studies evaluating results of treatments with specific regimens (ABCDV, Hyper-CVAD, EWALL backbone) in well-defined ALL groups (T-ALL, relapsed ALL, older/elderly), as well as implementation and prognostic significance of minimal residual disease (MRD). The results reciprocally influenced/will influence the content of the Swedish guidelines.

History of ALL treatment

ALL was incurable until the 1960s. Development of effective ALL therapy was initiated by Sidney Farber ("father of the modern chemotherapy") who demonstrated for the first time that remission of the disease in children can be achieved with folic acid antagonists (7). Successive introduction of methotrexate, asparaginase, 6-mercaptopurine, vincristine, steroids and finally combining systemic chemotherapy and central nervous system (CNS) prophylaxis led to cure in half of the patients in the 1970s. Allogeneic hSCT in refractory/relapsed disease was introduced in the 1980s, followed by intensification of post-induction therapies based on risk classification systems (1990s). Molecular targeted therapy with tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKI) in Philadelphia chromosome positive (Ph+) ALL came into use in first decade of this century (8). The progress in therapy occurred mostly in children, with "adult ALL" clinicians utilizing experiences e.g. pediatric protocol use in younger adults in recent decades (9-11). Last years' most exciting invention of bispecific antibodies and CAR Tcells will probably have substantial impact on ALL therapy in the future.

Epidemiology

ALL accounts for 30% of all acute leukemias. The incidence of ALL is estimated to 1/50 000/year and is increasing (12). It is highest in children of ages 1-4 years, and is rising again after age 60 years (12), as demon-



Figure 1. Number of adult patients (303 totally) diagnosed with ALL per age group according to the Swedish Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia Registry (2007-12).

strated in Figure 1. Median age at diagnosis in adults in Sweden is 54 years (13). The incidence is higher in males than in females (12) but in the Swedish population this difference was more prominent from age 80 years and up (13). B-cell phenotype accounts for about 4/5, and T-cell for 1/5 of ALL in adults (1, 3). T-ALL is common in males and young adults but rare in children and the elderly. Ethnic differences are observed, with lowest ALL incidence in blacks and highest B-ALL in Hispanic whites (12).

Etiology

Most studies on etiology concern childhood ALL. The disease arises from hematopoietic precursors of the lymphoid lineage. Environmental exposures and genetics are involved, and the pathogenesis is probably a multistep process. The strongest evidence for exposures as cause of ALL is demonstrated for ionic radiation according to studies of atomic bomb survivors (14). Prenatal X-ray in mothers increased the risk for childhood ALL (15). Interestingly, paternal but not maternal perinatal smoking was associated with ALL risk in the offspring (16). One of postulated exposures in adults was hair dye use (17). Epidemiological studies support a hypothesis about early life viral infection influence on leukemogenesis, based on number of siblings and birth order (18). Viral etiology is acknowledged in other lymphoid malignancies such as the human T-cell lymphotropic virus (HTLV) in adult T-cell leukemia (19), the Epstein–Barr virus (EBV) in endemic Burkitt leukemia/lymphoma (20), as well as the bovine leukemia virus (BLV) in animal leukemia (21). There is evidence of increased risk in first degree relatives of patients with ALL (22) which can be explained by the fact that some specific germline genomic variation predisposes for the disease (23). Down's syndrome is associated with excess of both Acute Myeloid Leukemia (AML) and ALL (24). Early genetic changes (in utero) are plausible causes of MLL-positive infant ALL as concordance in monozygotic twins is 100% (25).

Clinical presentation, diagnostics and classification

As ALL is a highly proliferative malignancy the symptoms usually have short duration and progress rapidly unless therapy is started. Bone marrow (BM) failure (with anemia, neutro- and thrombocytopenia), lymphadenopathy /splenomegaly and sometimes bone pain are main features. Very high white blood cell count (WBC) leading to leukostasis is uncommon. Fever du to infection or cytokine release by leukemic cells is present in many patients. In the elderly though, proliferative potential seems to be less pronounced, with less common lymphadenopathy (26, 27), splenomegaly (27), and lower WBC (26). CNS disease affects 5-8% of the patients at diagnosis (28-30), with mainly meningeal and cranial nerve involvement. Other extramedullary manifestations are rare with exception of frequent mediastinal mass in T-ALL (31), with risk for esophageal/tracheal/vena cava superior obstruction. The T-cell phenotype is associated with higher WBC, more frequent hepatomegaly, and CNS involvement at diagnosis as compared with B-ALL (31). Diagnostics comprises pathological examination of BM (>20% of blasts required for diagnosis) with genetic evaluation and immunophenotyping as well as lumbar puncture and radiological imaging to investigate any other organ (liver, spleen, lymph nodes, CNS) involvement. Mature B-ALL is regarded as a separate entity (Burkitt leukemia) by the 2008 WHO classification (Table 1).

Table 1. The 2008 World Health Organization (WHO) classification of ALL (32). B lymphoblastic leukemia/lymphoma:

B lymphoblastic leukemia/lymphoma, NOS

- B lymphoblastic leukemia/lymphoma with recurrent genetic abnormalities
- B lymphoblastic leukemia/lymphoma with t(9;22)(q34;q11.2), *BCR-ABL1*
- B lymphoblastic leukemia/lymphoma with t(v;11q23); MLL rearranged

B lymphoblastic leukemia/lymphoma with t(12;21)(p13;q22) *TEL-AML1* (ETV6-RUNX1)

- B lymphoblastic leukemia/lymphoma with hyperdiploidy
- B lymphoblastic leukemia/lymphoma with hypodiploidy
- B lymphoblastic leukemia/lymphoma with t(5;14)(q31;q32) IL3-IGH
- B lymphoblastic leukemia/lymphoma with t(1;19)(q23;p13.3) TCF3-PBX1

T lymphoblastic leukemia/lymphoma

Prognostic factors

The panorama of prognostic factors (PF) is changing as new protocols/specific therapies are emerging and new more reliable PF replace/complement those classical/historical. Some PF are used in clinical studies/ praxis to define risk groups in order to intensify consolidation (hSCT included) in high-risk (HR) disease. Some common PF are listed in Table 2.

Age

High age is still the most important negative PF (1, 10, 13, 28, 33-37). Survival in adult ALL (Sweden) per age category is shown in Figure 2. Impact of age is however influenced by factors changing over lifetime as: disease biology, comorbidity, susceptibility to toxicity, and hSCT/intensive protocol eligibility. Some of those could be modified as for example with use of pediatric protocols in younger adults, or reduced intensity hSCT in older adults.

Factor	Prognosis	Used as high risk
		criterion in clini-
		cal studies
Patient related:		
High age	poor	no
Male sex	(poor)	no
Performance status	poor	no
Disease related:		
High WBC	poor	yes
CNS involvement	(poor)	no/yes
Immunophenotype		
CD20+*	poor	no
CD10-*	poor	no
ETP/early T-ALL**	poor	no/yes
CD1a+**	good	no
Genetics		
Ph+/BCR-ABL*	poor	yes
t(4;11)/MLL	poor	yes
hyperdiploidy	good	no
hypodiploidy	poor	no
Complex karyotype	poor	no/yes
Ph like*	poor	no
Based on response:		
Late CR achievement	poor	yes
MRD	poor	yes

Table 2. Selected prognostic factors for survival in adult ALL.

*in B-ALL, **in T-ALL

Performance status

Poor performance status (PS) according to WHO (32) is regarded as a negative PF by some authors (34, 37, 38) and is also often used as exclusion criterion in clinical studies.

Sex

Historically, boys had impaired survival as compared with girls (39). In adults, conflicting data were reported with no survival difference between sexes in most studies, and some reporting worse outcome in males (40, 41). According to the population-based study (40), disparity in overall survival (OS) between sexes disappeared during 2002-2006. Higher complete remission (CR) rate was found in males with T-ALL (42).



Figure 2. Overall survival in adult patients with ALL in three age groups according to the Swedish Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia Registry (2007-12).

White Blood Cell count

High WBC, either as continuous variable or above a cutoff value, is still an acknowledged risk factor (10, 33, 35-37, 43). It is however often ex-

plained by other, more specific biological factors such as *MLL* rearrangement (44), T-cell phenotype (31) or Ph+ disease (45, 46).

CNS disease

CNS involvement was associated with high relapse rate and unfavorable prognosis historically (47). CNS directed prophylaxis abolished its poor prognostic value, and non-inferior outcome in patients with CNS leukemia at diagnosis as compared to those without it (48) with some exceptions (30, 49).

Phenotype

Data on the role of T-cell phenotype as PF is conflicting as according to some studies patients with T-ALL have favorable (33) or unfavorable survival (28, 50) compared with B-ALL. A population based study found that T-ALL was associated with enhanced survival in adults in contrast to children having impaired survival as compared with B-ALL (12). Most authors though failed to demonstrate a difference in outcome between the phenotypes. According to stage of maturation, T-ALL is classified as early thymic precursor (ETP) with frequent co-expression of myeloid markers, early non-ETP (pro-), cortical/thymic (CD1a positive), and mature/medullary (51, 52). ETP and non-ETP account for 50% of all T-ALL cases (53). Lower CR rate was achieved in immature T-ALL (51) and survival was impaired in ETP in adults (54). A lower proportion of patients with early and mature T-ALL reached molecular CR as compared with thymic (55). CD1a positivity was associated with favorable prognosis in T-ALL (31). CD10 negative pre-B ALL was associated with poor outcome and frequent MLL rearrangement (56). Impaired survival was observed in ALL with CD20 positivity (36).

Genetics

Cytogenetic aberrations are present in ³/₄ of adult ALL patients (57) and have major prognostic impact (58). Aside from classical cytogenetics the use of fluorescence in situ hybridization (FISH) and reverse-transcriptase polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) have become routine analyses in ALL diagnostics (59).

Philadelphia chromosome [t(9;22)(q34.1;q11.2)/BCR-ABL1 rearrangement] is the most frequent single genetic aberration, present in about 11-29% of all adult ALL. There are two main variants of the *BCR/ABL* gene, depending on the length of the sequence of the BCR gene: p210 (in more than 90% of chronic myeloid leukemia and one third of ALL) and p190 in 70-75% of ALL (60). Ph+ is regarded as a poor PF together with t(4;11)(11q23)/MLL rearrangement (7%), complex karyotype, and hypodiploidy (58, 59). In patients with hyperdiploidy and t(12;21)/ETV6-RUNX1 (most common aberration in childhood ALL, uncommon in adults) favorable outcome is observed (59). With the development of genomic profiling, new genetic abnormalities get attention, such as *BCR-ABL* like ALL [with *IKZF1* (IKAROS) mutations] with poor prognosis; *CRLF2*; rearrangements of *ABL1*, *JAK2*, and *PDGFRB*; mutations of *JAK1* and *JAK2*; in T-ALL: *NOTCH1* (60% of patients with T-ALL) or *FBXW7* mutations (61). Frequency of favorable cytogenetic features (hyperdiploidy) decreases and unfavorable (hypodiploidy, complex karyotype, and the Ph+) increases with age (11, 57) with exception of *MLL* which is rare in adults >60 years (57).

Minimal Residual Disease (MRD)

MRD defines a presence of leukemic blasts in BM at a submicroscopic level in patients in CR, and reflects disease biology, pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of the given chemotherapy. Measurement of MRD depends on ALL subtype and available method. Aberrant phenotype has to be established at diagnosis by flow cytometry or PCR [BCR-ABL, MLL-AFF1, TCF3-PBX1, ETV6-RUNX1, rearrangement the immunoglobulin or T-cell-receptor (TCR)]. Sensitivity of multicolor flow cytometry is reaching that of PCR. Next-generation sequencing (NGS) is applicable in MRD and as sensitive as real-time quantitative RT-PCR according to the recent study (62). MRD appears to be the single most important, based on response PF for relapse and death in all ALL subtypes/ages (35, 63-68). It is used as HR disease indicator in Ph- ALL defined as standard risk (SR) at diagnosis leading to treatment escalation (11, 55, 69). Deintensification of therapy based on MRD negativity in HR Ph- patients is less common in adults (70). Different cut-off levels (most common 10⁻³ to 10^{-4}) and time-points are used with postinduction MRD (29, 35, 66) or later measurement (55, 66, 67) both having strong impact on outcome. In Ph+ ALL late (3 months and later) but not early (at CR) MRD negativity was associated with lower relapse risk and with a prolonged overall survival (OS) (68). Prognostic value of pre-transplant (71) and posttransplant MRD (72) was demonstrated in the allogeneic hSCT setting.

Treatment

ALL protocols consist commonly of induction (with aim of reaching CR), consolidation (intensification) and prolonged maintenance (up to 2-2.5 years) with reinduction courses. There are some exceptions such as the Hyper-CVAD regimen with two alternating courses (73). Induction is based on various combinations of prednisolone or dexamethasone, vincristine, anthracyclines, asparaginase; consolidation on cyclophosphamide, cytarabine (Ara-C), high dose methotrexate, vincristine, asparaginase, mercaptopurine. Maintenance is given in SR group, and HR group without hSCT prospect. CNS directed prophylaxis/therapy with intrathecal methotrexate with/without cytarabine and steroids is always recommended during induction/consolidation. Eligible patients with HR disease proceed to hSCT or receive intensified treatment. TKI are applied in Ph+ ALL from diagnosis. Combining CD20 antibodies and chemotherapy in B-ALL enhanced survival, mainly in younger patients but not to the same extent as in Burkitt leukemia (74). Standard therapy regimens used in adults rendered unsatisfactory long-term survival (30-40%) despite high CR rate of 74-90% (33, 37, 43, 73). Similarly estimated 3 year OS (29%) in patient treated with the ABCDV protocol (Table 3) in Sweden 1994-98 was observed (28).

	Drug	Dose	Days
	Imatinib in Ph+ ALL	600 mg o.d.	continuously
e	Prednisolone	60 mg/m ² oral	-5-0
Pre- phas	Cyclophosphamide	200 mg/m ² i.v.	-5-0
и	Methotrexate	10 mg/m ² i.t.	0
Ictic		(max 15 mg)	
npu	Ara-C (cytarabine)	3 g/m ² b.i.d. i.v.	1-3
emission i BCDV)	Betamethasone	20 mg/m ² oral	1-5
	Cyclophosphamide	600 mg/m ² i.v.	1
	Daunorubicin	30 mg/m ² i.v.	1-3
R. (A	Vincristine	2 mg i.v.	1
	Vincristine	2 mg i.v.	1
Consoli- dation 1 (VABA)	Amsacrine	200 mg/m ² i.v.*	1-3
	Betamethasone	20 mg/m ² oral	1-5
	Ara-C	3 g/m ² i.v.*	1-4

Table 3. ABCDV protocol +/- imatinib.

	Betamethasone	20 mg/m ² oral	1-5	
oli- n 2) E)	Cyclophosphamide	1000 mg/m ² i.v.	1	
ons CD	Daunorubicin	30 mg/m ² i.v.	1-2	
C ep E	Etoposide	100 mg/m ² i.v.	1-5	
	Vincristine	2 mg i.v.	1	
n - A)	Amsacrine	200 mg/m ² i.v.	1-2	
ons inic AB ₄	Betamethasone	20 mg/m ² oral	1-5	
C 🖞 da C	Ara-C	3 g/m ² i.v.	1-3	
-t 0	Methotrexate	1500 mg/m ² i.v.	1, 15	
on- lida nc	PEG-Asparaginase	1000 E/m ² i.v.	2, 16	
(N tic S C	6-Mercaptopurine	60 mg/m ² oral	1-21	
Ļ	6-Mercaptopurine**	50-75 mg/m ² o.d.	continuously	
00	Methotrexate**	5-10 mg/m ² oral	continuously	
last	weekly			
шо	Reinduction course- every 2:nd (1:st year) and every 3:rd (2:nd			
s fre	year) month:			
year	Daunorubicin (1:st year)	40 mg/m ² i.v.	1	
n 2	Vincristine (1:st year)	2 mg i.v.	1	
ce i	Prednisolone	60 mg/m2 oral	1-7 (1:st year)	
on			1-5 (2:nd year)	
nte l lati	Ara-C (2:nd year)	60 mg/m ² x1 sc	1-5	
Mai solic	Thioguanine (2:nd	80 mg/m ² oral	1-5	
	vear)			

Optional pre-phase. VABA as second induction. MAP in high risk disease only.

*For patients >70 years of age, amsacrine is given d 1–2 and Ara-C d 1–3. **Omitted in Ph+ ALL.

Younger adults

Outcome in patients 15-40 years was notably impaired as compared with children historically. Retrospective studies comparing outcome in adolescents treated either in "adult" or pediatric centers showed benefit of the latter (49, 75, 76). A number of studies (though not randomized) demonstrated substantial advantage of pediatric protocols over the traditional adult protocols in treatment of adolescents and young adults (AYA) (10, 77) and adults up to 55 years (9, 10). According to the latter study (10), toxic death was more common and survival impaired in adults >45 years as compared with <45. Advantage of a pediatric protocol in terms of event free survival (EFS) but not OS was demonstrated in patients 45-55 years (9) as compared to AYA. Pediatric regimens consist of higher cumulative doses of asparaginase, cortisone, vincristine and methotreaxate as comparetd with "adult" protocols. The Nordic Society of Paediatric Haematology and Oncology (NOPHO) protocol is currently used in younger adults in Sweden (11).

Older/elderly

Older/elderly patients (>55 years) are often treated according to standard adult protocols. However, the outcome is inferior as compared with younger adults included in the same trials in terms of CR achievement, disease free survival (DFS) and OS (27, 50, 78). CR rate in elderly is ranging from 34 to 84% (26, 27, 41, 50, 79-81) and long-term survival is poor reaching only 20-30% (27, 78, 79, 81). The main issue regarding induction treatment is high early death (ED) rate (11-34%) (26, 27, 41, 78-80). Comorbidities, poor performance status, toxicity, need for chemotherapeutics dose reductions and more frequent HR features (26, 27, 41, 78-80) are contributing to dismal outcome in this group. Results of treatment with an age-adapted protocol (Table 4) established by the European Working Group on Adult ALL (EWALL) were reported recently (82-84) showing high CR rate (85-90%) and substantial long-term survival.

Philadelphia positive ALL

Ph+ ALL constitutes a distinct entity in regard to biology, prognosis and therapy. Responses to standard chemotherapy were poor with low CR rate, high relapse rate as well as impaired survival as compared to Ph- (34, 37, 45, 58).

After introduction of imatinib (the first TKI), CR rates and OS improved markedly as compared with the "pre-imatinib era" (85, 86). Still, the vast majority of patients will subsequently relapse unless hSCT is performed, and the procedure is recommended in all eligible patients (87). TKI enabled more patients to be transplanted due to higher CR rate (86), and use of TKI post-transplant can prevent relapse (88). In elderly patients less intensive regimens combining chemotherapy/steroids and imatinib (82, 85, 89), nilotinib (83) or dasatinib (84) resulted in satisfactory short-term outcome. Relapse/imatinib resistance is associated with *BCR-ABL* kinase domain mutations in nearly all patients (mostly T315I) (90), who can be effectively treated with third generation TKI ponatinib which overcomes the resistance (91).

	Drug	Dose	Days
	Imatinib in Ph+ ALL	600 mg o.d.	continuously
	Methotrexate	12 mg i.t.	1
4)	Dexamethasone	10 mg/m ² oral	1-7, 13-16
n I 0-3	Vincristine	1 mg i.v.	6,13
ctio d 2	Idarubicin	10 mg i.v.	6, 7, 13, 14
) II (Ara-C (cytarabine)	60 mg/m ² i.v.	21-24, 28-31
n ir and	Cyclophosphamide	300 mg/m ² i.v.	20-22
ssio 16)	Methotrexate/Ara-	12/40/12.5 mg i.t.	12, 20, 27,
emis 1-1	C/prednisolone		34
R(d	G-CSF	5 μg/kg s.c.	6-, 20-
	Methotrexate*	1000 mg/m ² i.v.	1
oli- n 1	Asparaginase*	10 000 E/m ² i.v. or	2
ons atic		i.m.	
di Q			
a- 6	Ara-C (cytarabine)	1000 mg/m ² i.v.	1, 3, 5
, 4,			
onsc on 2			
tic			
2	6-Mercaptopurine**	50-75 mg/m2 o.d.	continuously
cenance in from start uction	Methotrexate** weekly	5-10 mg/m2 oral	continuously
	Reinduction course- every 2:nd	(1:st year) and every	3:rd (2:nd year)
	month during maintenance:	· ·	
ain ars ind	Vincristine	1 mg i.v.	1
M of	Dexamethasone	40 mg oral	1-2

Table 4. EWALL backbone +/- imatinib.

*50% methotrexate and asparaginase dose reduction in patients aged >70 y. Asparaginase omitted in Ph+ALL. **omitted in Ph+ ALL.

T-ALL

As mentioned previously, disease with T-phenotype represents a distinctive subgroup of ALL in terms of epidemiology, presentation and genetics. The same protocols as in B-ALL are generally applied. However, at relapse of T-ALL, nelarabine (prodrug of guanine arabinoside) can be used with reported CR of 31% and one year OS of 28% (92). The drug can be applied even upfront in combination with standard regimens (93). Use of autologous hSCT as consolidation with subsequent prolonged mainte-

nance was reported to be exceptionally effective recently (94). Use of pediatric protocols in T-ALL (10) up to age of 69 showed significantly improved long-term survival as compared with classical ones (81 vs. 44%). As mentioned previously prognosis is worst in ETP. When allogeneic hSCT was performed in CR1 no difference in OS was found between all subtypes of T-ALL suggesting beneficial effect of the approach in ETP (53).

Allogeneic hSCT

Allogeneic hSCT is widely used as remission consolidation in HR ALL though its utilization is limited by patients' eligibility and donor availability. Prospective studies using donor/no donor "biological" randomization showed benefit of the procedure in SR disease (95, 96). The benefit was less pronounced (Ph+ included)(96) or absent in HR disease (Ph+ excluded)(95) though metaanalysis of seven studies (97, 98) could demonstrate OS improvement and cost effectiveness of the approach in the HR group. Results of transplant using stem cells from unrelated donor (URD) were similar to those with stem cell source from matched related donor (RD) (99). Utilization of hSCT in SR AYA is questioned by favorable results of pediatric inspired protocols (100). Autologous hSCT gave inferior outcome as compared with both allogeneic hSCT and standard chemotherapy (95). However, according to a population based study (101), the advantage of the allogeneic transplantation over autologous was observed in Ph+ disease only. In older adults not eligible for standard myeloablative conditioning (MAC) there is an option of reduced intensity conditioning transplant (RICT), though both relapse rate and transplant-related mortality (TRM) are still quite high in the latter group (40% and 28%, respectively) (102). Patients developing chronic graft-versus-host disease (GVHD) had improved OS (103), suggesting importance of a graft-versusleukemia (GVL) effect in ALL. Implementation of RICT contributed to survival prolongation in recent years in patients 40-69 years according to a population-based study (1).

Relapse

Risk of ALL recurrence is increasing with age at diagnosis, and prognosis is dismal especially in those relapsing after hSCT (104). Most patients (90%) relapse in the BM, while CNS is the most common extramedullary relapse site (105). It was demonstrated that intensive therapy with the aim of reaching CR2 prolongs survival (106, 107), but long-term OS is seen

only in 7-12% of patients (105, 108, 109). There are a number of rescue protocols containing anthracyclines, vincristine, steroids, cyclophosphamide, cytarabine, and asparaginase, producing CR in 0-80% of patients (109). Remissions though are short-lived, and allogeneic hSCT is considered as the only curative option after CR2 achievement (105, 107-109). However, the procedure is available only for a minority of patients due to poor performance status, lack of a donor or second relapse. Transplantation without prior CR2 achievement is of questionable value (109, 110). Higher age and early relapse are regarded as unfavorable factors for achievement of CR2 and survival (105, 108). The new monoclonal antibodies blinatumomab (bispecific anti-CD19/CD3) (111) and inotuzumab ozogamicin (anti-CD22 bound to calicheamicin) (112) showed high activity in refractory/relapsed adult Ph- B-ALL, with low serious toxicity. Even advanced engineered T-cell therapies directed against the same target (CD19) have been developed, with CR rate of 90% in the relapsed/refractory setting (113). Long-term outcome of these therapies are to be awaited.

Population registries in Sweden

The Swedish Cancer Registry was founded in 1958 and covers the whole population. Subsequently the Swedish Acute Leukemia Registry in 1997 and Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia Registry in 2007 were established. Coverage of the latter was estimated to 98% as compared with The Cancer Registry (13). Both leukemia records contain basic pathology/clinical data (as the date of diagnosis/relapse/death, ALL phenotype, hSCT), and more specific data (as Ph status, used protocol, and MRD) is reported to the recent one. The Swedish Cause of Death Registry was established in 1961. The causes of death are coded according to the International Classification of Diseases (ICD). Undernotification of acute leukemias in the Cancer Registry as compared with the Swedish Cause of Death Registry was reported previously (114). Obtaining data and linkage between various registries is possible through a unique personal identification code. This enables population-based epidemiological and clinical studies.

Summary of papers

Aims

Overall aim

Study of disease characteristics, implementation of guidelines, and results of therapy with focus on outcome, toxicity, and prognosis in specific ALL subsets in the Swedish population.

Specific aims

Paper I. Investigation of the characteristics of relapsed ALL and its treatment with specific protocols recommended by national guidelines, and efficacy of hSCT in second CR.

Paper II. Evaluation of an augmented protocol (Hyper-CVAD) for T-ALL treatment in terms of feasibility, outcome, and toxicity.

Paper III. Assessment of clinical use and prognostic implications of MRD in Ph negative B-ALL in older adults treated with the ABCDV protocol.

Paper IV. Evaluation of disease characteristics and different therapeutic approaches in older/elderly ALL

Materials and Methods

Data collection

The studies are population-based, semi prospective, and basic clinical/pathology/treatment data were obtained from the Swedish Acute Leukemia/ALL Registries. Additionally, search was performed using the Swedish Cause of Death Registry for study IV. Inclusion criteria are presented in Table 5.

Paper	Ι	II	III	IV
Diagnosis	Relapsed	T-ALL	Ph- B-ALL	B-/T-ALL
	B-/T-ALL			
Treatment	guidelines	Hyper-CVAD	ABCDV	guidelines
Age	<66y	No age limit	>45y	55-85y
Period	2003-2007	10.2002-09.2006	2007-2011	2005-2012

Table 5. Inclusion criteria used in four studies.

Clinical and laboratory data as well as pathology and genetic reports were complemented directly from patient records. For study purposes, MRD levels were ascertained at each pathology department and later verified by one pathologist (Paper III). Performance status (PS) at diagnosis according to WHO (32), the comorbidity component (CC) of the Charlson Comorbidity Index (115), number of comorbidities and drugs were recorded (Paper IV), as well as cytostatics dose-reduction /omission and toxicities (grade III-IV) according to Common Terminology Criteria for Adverse Events (116). The studies were performed in accordance with the declaration of Helsinki, with approval from the Regional Ethical Review Board in Uppsala/Sweden (Paper I-III: Ups 03-520, Paper IV: Ups 2014/063).

Diagnostic procedures

The diagnosis of ALL was made using BM morphology, immunophenotype, and genetic analysis according to the WHO Classification (32) at each center. Genetic analyses included G-banding, FISH, and RT-PCR. CNS-leukemia was diagnosed in presence of blasts in cerebrospinal fluid or/and radiology, and bulky disease when lymph node conglomerate exceeded 10 cm or a mediastinal mass 1/3 of the thoracic diameter.

Response- and high risk criteria

CR criteria were: hematopoietic recovery, less than five percent blasts in the BM, and no extramedullary disease. MRD was assessed after induction (MRD1) and consolidations (MRD2-3) by flow cytometry (six-color since 2008) in Ph- B-ALL, RT-PCR in Ph+ ALL, and flow cytometry/PCR of TCR rearrangement in T-ALL. HR factors according to the guidelines included: WBC > 30×10^{9} /L in B-ALL or > 100×10^{9} /L in T-ALL, Ph+, t(4;11)/MLL, late CR achievement, and/or HR MRD (>1% after remission induction, not reaching <0.1% after consolidation therapy, or duplicate measurements >0.1% after the consolidation courses), and T-cell phenotype (from 2009).

Treatment recommendations

Treatment protocols recommended by the Swedish national guidelines during the study period are presented in Table 6.

Period	2005-2009			2009-2012	
Age	All eligible	18-45y	Biological	Biological age	Biological age
\backslash	adults		age 45-	60-75y or	>75y or
\backslash			60y	younger with	younger with
\backslash				comorbidities	serious comor-
ALL \					bidities
Pre-B	ABCDV	NOPHO	ABCDV	EWALL	Reduced
Ph-					CHOP (75%),
					VAD, VCR+
					steroids
Pre-B	ABCDV	ABCDV	ABCDV	EWALL	Imatinib
Ph+	+imatinib*	+imatinib	+imatinib	+imatinib	+steroids
Т	Hyper-	NOPHO	ABCDV	EWALL	Reduced
	CVAD				CHOP (75%),
					VAD, VCR+
					steroids

Table 6. Treatment of ALL according to the national guidelines.

*imatinib as standard treatment for Ph+ disease was introduced 2007.

The Hyper-CVAD protocol (73) was modified by replacing dexamethasone with equivalent doses of betamethasone (Paper II). Granulocyte colony-stimulating factor (G-CSF) (if not already part of the protocol) and anti-infectious prophylaxis were used according to local recommendations at each center. Allogeneic hSCT was recommended in eligible patients in the presence of HR factors. Local routines in terms of conditioning regimens, donor type, and GVHD prophylaxis were used at the six transplantation centers. In patients with SR leukemia and HR, not eligible for hSCT/without donor, maintenance therapy was to be started after consolidation. ABCDV for late relapse (>2 years since initial diagnosis) and FLAG-Asp/MEA for early relapse were recommended (Table 7).

	Drug	Dose	Days
<u>с</u> ь .	Fludarabine	30 mg/m ² i.v.	1, 2, 3, 4, 5
LA(Asp	Ara-C	2000 mg/m ² i.v.	1, 2, 3, 4, 5
Ē	PEG-Asparaginase	500 E/m ² i.v.	2, 16
-	Mitoxantrone	$12 \text{ mg/m}^2 \text{ i.v.}$	1, 2, 3, 4
AE/	Etoposide	100 mg/m ² i.v.	1, 2, 3, 4
~	Ara-C	$1000 \text{ mg/m}^2 \text{ b.i.d. i.v.}$	1, 2, 3, 4

Table 7. Salvage regimens recommended in national guidelines 2003–2007.

Allogeneic hSCT in CR2 was advised for younger, eligible patients if not transplanted in CR1.

Statistics

Distributions of survival (OS, LFS, EFS, CCR) were defined as shown in Table 8, and calculated by the Kaplan-Meier method, and 95% confidence intervals (95% CI) were obtained.

Table 8. Survival t	terms and	definitions.
---------------------	-----------	--------------

	From	То	Event	Paper
OS	Diagnosis*	Death, last	Death	I, II, III,
		follow up		IV
Event free survival (EFS)	Diagnosis	Relapse, death, last follow up	Relapse, death	IV
Continuous CR (CCR)	CR	Relapse, death, last follow up	Relapse	III
Leukemia-free survival (LFS)	CR**	Relapse, death, last follow up	Relapse, death	II

*relapse in study I, **event at day 1 in patients with refractory ALL/no CR evaluation Differences in survival according to risk factors were analysed by the logrank test or Cox univariate regression analysis. Relevant covariates were included in Cox multivariate regression analysis (Paper I and IV). Logistic regression was used for evaluation of correlations between variables and CR achievement (Paper I, IV) as well as distribution of risk factors in two age groups (Paper I). Chi-square or two-tailed Fischer's exact test was applied for proportions and Mann-Whitney U test for continuous variable comparisons (Paper IV). Statistical tests were used with an alfasignificance level of 5%. Analyses were performed with SPSS (v.21-23, IBM) statistical package.

Results

Summary of results from all four papers is presented in Table 9.

paper	Ι	II	III	IV
Patients treat-	71	19	35	124
ed intensively				
(n)				
Median age	39 (19-65)	32 (18-72)	61 (46–79)	65 (55-82)
years (range)				
Male:Female	42:29	15:4	12:23	57:67
Main	ABCDV,	Hyper-CVAD	ABCDV	EWALL,
protocol	MEA, FLAG-			ABCDV
	Asp			
CR%	70	89	91	83
Allogeneic	29*	4	5	20
hSCT (n)				
OS 1 year	41 (29, 52)			59 (50, 67)
(95% CI)%				
OS 3 year	22 (13, 32)			32 (24, 40)
(95% CI)%				
OS 5 year	15 (7, 24)	47 (26, 69)	47 (30, 64)	
(95%CI)%				
Negative	Age >35y,	Age ≥35y,	Age >65y,	Age ≥75y,
prognostic	time to re-	long time	PS ≥2	PLT ≤35**,
factors	lapse <18	between	MRD1	Male sex***
	months	course 1 and	>0.1%	
		3		

Table 9. Patient characteristics, outcome, and risk factors per study.

*in CR2, **platelet (PLT) count (×109/L), ***in patients 55-64 years

Paper I

76 patients with relapsed ALL were identified. Five patients received only palliation and were excluded. Median age at diagnosis in remaining 71 was 39 (range: 15-65) years. Pre-B phenotype was present in 58 (82%) and T in 13 (18%). 14/67 (21%) had Ph/BCR-ABL positivity and 2/67 MLL rearrangement. 14 patients received hSCT in CR1. In 39 of 71 patients (55%) disease recurred within 18 months (median 13, range: 2-82). Isolated BM relapse was observed in 72% and CNS involvement in 8% of individuals. Remission induction with MEA (n=9), FLAG-Asp (n=16), ABCDV (n=21), TKI (n=8) and other protocols (n=17) was attempted obtaining CR in respective: 67, 63, 43, 75, 35% of patients (not significant differences although ABCDV was recommended for late relapse). Totally 50/71 (70%) of the patients achieved CR2 [37/71 (50%) after first course]. Age >35 years at diagnosis and time to relapse <18 months influenced final CR2 achievement negatively (P = 0.012 and 0.001, respectively). Both higher age and early relapse proved to be negative prognostic factors for CR2 achievement previously (108). Induction dead occurred in 3/71 (4%) patients. Allogeneic hSCT was performed in 29 of 57 (51%) eligible patients (not transplanted in CR1) with stem cells from RD (n=14), URD (n=14) or cord blood (n=1). The majority received MAC (n=25) and only four RICT. Two patients (+ one in active disease) underwent autologous SCT. Consolidation chemotherapy was given to remaining patients in CR2. None of patients transplanted in CR1 became longterm survivors, but those with URD transplant had superior OS as compared with RD (P = 0.037). OS in the whole cohort of 71 patients at one year was 41% (95%CI: 29, 52) and the projected 5 year OS rate was 15% (95%CI: 7, 24), which is in parity with previous results (105, 108, 109). Patients not receiving allogeneic SCT in CR1 (n=57) had CR2 rate of 70% and median OS of 9 months (range: 0.5-99).

Best survival was noted in patients undergoing allogeneic SCT in CR2 as compared with patients who achieved CR2 but were treated without allogeneic SCT, and those without achievement of CR2 [5 year OS, (95%CI): 34%, (17, 52) vs. 9%, (0, 26) vs. 0%] as presented in Figure 3. Negative prognostic factors for OS in our cohort were: age >35 years, time from diagnosis to relapse <18 months, and additionally in non-transplanted (in CR1) patients isolated BM relapse (multivariate analysis). Influence of age and time to relapse on prognosis was demonstrated previously (105, 108, 109). When divided in four groups in terms of time to relapse </p>

time to relapse had the longest, and older patients with short time to relapse had the shortest OS (Figure 4).



Figure 3. Effects of allogeneic SCT (allo-SCT) in CR2, and CR2 achievement, on overall survival.



Figure 4. Overall survival according to age at diagnosis and time to relapse (TTR).

All patients older than 35 years at diagnosis (n=42) died regardless of postremission therapy.

As demonstrated previously intensive treatment of relapse can enhance survival (106) and a number of protocols are used with widely varying results (109) though both MEA and FLAG-Asp proved to be efficacious in CR2 induction. CR was achieved in a high proportion of patients with Ph+ disease (transplanted in CR1) using TKI only (6/8- 75%), but none of them have survived.

The only curative consolidation option in CR2 is allogeneic hSCT as confirmed in our cohort. High proportion of patients in our study (41%) underwent the procedure as compared to other reports (17–30%) (105, 108, 109). hSCT in active relapse is not a reasonable option (109, 110). The approach could be questioned in older populations as none of our patients older than 35 years survived regardless of remission consolidation used, and TRM was high. RICT could be a solution as indicated previously (100). Outcome in transplanted patients <35 years old was satisfactory suggesting that the procedure should be used rather in CR2 than CR1 in SR disease. Achieving CR2 even without subsequent SCT enhanced survival in our study. Even if allogeneic hSCT is to be preferred in relapsed disease, autologous hSCT could be a reasonable option, as prolonged survival was observed in two of our patients. Efficacy of autologous transplantation in CR2 was demonstrated by others (105, 108).

Beside age and time to relapse, other prognostic factors including Philadelphia chromosome status, WBC, blast count in BM, and lactate dehydrogenase in various scoring systems, were evaluated previously (110, 117). Patients experiencing disease recurrence at extramedullary site (mainly CNS) had improved survival as compared to isolated BM relapse in our study. However, the prognostic role of CNS involvement at relapse is not established (105, 108, 109).

Paper II

All patients diagnosed with T-ALL during the study period were identified (n=24). Five patients were excluded (four treated with palliative intention and one with a concomitant relapse of sarcoma). Remaining 19 patients were treated with the Hyper-CVAD protocol. The median age was 32 years (range: 18–72) with male dominance (15/19, 79%). Specific disease characteristics were: mediastinal mass (n=11), CNS involvement (n=1), WBC >100 × 10⁹/L (n=1). Of 14 evaluable patients five had immature (pro/pre), three cortical/thymic, and 6 had medullary T-cell phenotype.

Karyotype (16/19 evaluable) was complex (n=2) including one with the *MLL* fusion gene, showed miscellaneous aberrations (n=9), and was normal (n=5) respectively.

17/19 (89%) patients achieved CR: after one or two Hyper-CVAD cycles (n=15), after more than two cycles (n=2), after nelarabine therapy (n=1), and after allogeneic SCT (n=1). HR disease was present in 6 patients: hyperleukocytosis (n=1), MRD (n=1), no CR (n=2), and late CR achievement (n=2). The survival data in whole cohort was as follows: 2 and 5 year LFS - 29% (95%CI: 8, 51), the 2 year OS - 63% (95%CI: 42, 85), and 5-year OS 47% (95%CI: 26, 69). LFS was inferior as compared to a previous report of 5 year CR duration of 55% (34). Four patients (three with HR disease) underwent allogeneic hSCT upfront (MAC), with two long-term survivors (two deaths due to relapse). All but one nontransplanted patients (n=14, three with HR features) received all eight cycles of the Hyper-CVAD protocol (without significant dose reductions), with the median time between cycle one and eight of 5.7 (range: 4.9-8.5) months, which was similar to previously reported data (73). Mediastinal irradiation was applied in 3/11 patients with initial mediastinal involvement. Observed serious toxicities were: severe neuropathy (vincristine related, n=1), bacterial (n=5) and invasive fungal infections (n=1), and femoral head avascular necrosis (n=1). No toxic deaths due to chemotherapy only were observed. Five year LFS and OS in this group were 20% (95%CI: 0, 40) and 47% (95%CI: 21, 72) respectively. 12 of 15 (80%) patients relapsed after median 9 months (range: 2-23), and six patients were transplanted in CR2 (MAC), with three becoming long-term survivors.

Age ≥ 35 years at diagnosis influenced LFS [hazard ratio 2.7 (95%CI: 0.9, 8.3); Figure 5A] and OS [hazard ratio 5.1 (95%CI: 1.55, 16.7); Figure 5B] negatively, but not relapse rate [<35 years old - 7/9 (78%) vs. ≥ 35 years old - 5/6 (83%); P = 0.79] despite low transplantation rate in the older group [1/7 (14%) vs. 9/12 (75%); P = 0.01]].



Figure 5. Leukemia-free (A) and overall survival (B) according to age (<35 years or \geq 35 years) in patients treated with Hyper-CVAD.

Of all parameters, only time between cycle 1 and 3 (median 47 days) had a negative impact on OS [hazard ratio 1.05 (95%CI: 1.006, 1.09); P = 0.03; time as continuous variable], but not on LFS.

Although the T-ALL cohort was small due to rarity of the disease we could perform population-based assessment of efficacy of the Hyper-CVAD protocol. Adherence was acceptable. However, replacement of dexamethasone (used in original protocol) with betamethasone could have influenced the results. Outcome was similar to the previously reached by ABCDV in T-ALL (28). No toxic deaths and high relapse rate suggest possibility/need of protocol intensification, as relapsed disease has dismal prognosis (31). hSCT is the most effective treatment after ALL recurrence (107). The procedure is often unavailable for older patients, who had generally much worse outcome, as compared to younger despite equal relapse rate. One can speculate that clinicians failed to identify all patients with HR ALL, as MRD was not measured consistently. This group (HR T-ALL) can benefit from hSCT in CR1 (51, 118), but high TRM in older patients (95) limits the option and other approaches such as intensifying the Hyper-CVAD protocol (119), combining nelarabine and Hyper-CVAD, and using pediatric-like regimens (120) have been proposed.
Paper III

The ABCDV protocol was given to 35 patients with Ph- B-ALL and median age of 61 (range: 46-79) years. Relatively high proportion of the patients (91 %) achieved CR (30 after ABCDV, two after VABA). Two patients (6%) died during induction (within 30 days) which can be regarded as acceptable in this age group. Eight patients with CR (25 %) could not follow the protocol due to different reasons (mainly high age and infections), reflecting toxicity of the protocol and need of further studies in older patients (9). Allogeneic hSCT was performed in CR1 in five patients aged 47-64 years with HR factors [t(4;11) (n=2), WBC (n=2), or MRD (n=1)]. A total of 30 patients reached CR after induction with ABCDV. MRD1 measurement by flow cytometry was performed in 22 of 30 patients achieving CR after the first course, on day 19-26 (Table 10). MRD was not measured in eight patients over 70 years of age or with HR criteria reflecting pragmatic use of the tool by the clinicians, as treatment escalation was not a reasonable option in the former, and already indicated in the latter group. MRD1 was not evaluable in two cases (hypoplastic BM), not detectable in 8, and detectable at levels 0.01-0.099%, 0.1-0.9%, and >1% in 5, two, and 5 patients. After the second course of treatment, MRD2 (after VABA) was evaluable in 16 of 17 patients and detectable in three with analysis performed on day 48-78. Only one patient was assigned to the HR group due to persistent MRD. CCR at the last follow-up was still present in 17 patients (49%): 6 with HR and 11 with SR disease. Among patients with SR leukemia, 7 had MRD1 <0.1 %, one >1 %, and three no MRD measurement (two > 70 years of age, one not evaluable). Relapse occurred in 15 patients (7 with HR and 8 with SR features). One of 5 patients transplanted in CR2 became a long-term survivor. Surviving patients were followed up a median of 71 months. Five year OS and CCR was 47 % (95 % CI 30-64 %) and 51 % (95 % CI 33-70 %), respectively.

Negative prognostic factors for OS were age >65 years and PS ≥ 2 (Table 10), but neither high MRD1 nor other HR features. CCR was influenced positively (and reached almost 90% in patients in the SR group) by MRD1 <0.1 % (Table 10). However, it is difficult to assess the prognostic value of the procedure based on such a low number of patients.

	n (%)	5 year OS	Р	n	5 year CCR	Р
		(95%CI)%			(95%CI)%	
Age <65	25 (71)	59 (39, 79)	0.01	24	58 (37, 79)	0.01
Age >65	10 (29)	20 (0, 45)		8	29 (0, 62)	
PS 0-1	27 (77)	55 (36, 74)	0.04	26	53 (33, 74)	NS
PS ≥2	8 (23)	25 (0, 55)		6	40 (0, 83)	
HR *	15 (43)	47 (21, 72)	NS	13	40 (11, 67)	NS
SR	20 (57)	49 (27, 71)		19	59 (19, 75)	
MRD1 >0.1%	7 (35)	54 (14, 93)	NS	7	43 (6, 80)	0.05
MRD1 <0.1%	13 (65)	69 (44, 94)		13	83 (62, 100)	
HR and/or	20 (71)	43 (20, 66)	NS	18	40 (16, 64)	0.04
MRD1 ≥0.1%						
SR including	8 (29)	75 (45, 100)		8	87 (65, 100)	
MRD1 <0.1%**						

Table 10. Factors affecting OS and CCR.

* refractory: n= 2, late CR: n=2, WBC over 30×10^{9} /L: n=9, t(4;11): n=4, high risk MRD: n=1. Two patients had more than one HR factor. **omitting 7 patients regarded as SR according to the protocol but who did not have MRD1 measurement

Two main methods of MRD measurement are applied currently – PCR and flow cytometry (67), and analyses are used in different fashion depending on ALL phenotype (29, 35, 55, 66, 121). In our study MRD1 was measured by the latter method at median 25 days with discrimination level of 1%, though CCR was influenced at level of 0.1%. As only one patient was assigned to the HR group based on MRD positivity, and it was not measured in elderly, the serial MRD assessment could be questioned. On the other hand, MRD1 as a marker of HR disease could hypothetically indicate need of treatment de-escalation in elderly patients, as cure is not probable.

Paper IV

Patients from ALL registries (n=172) and the Swedish Cause of Death Registry (n=2) were identified. 19 patients with Burkitt leukemia (11%) were excluded. In the final study cohort of 155 patients with median age of 67 and male:female ratio of 72:83, 91% had B- ,9% T-, 1% B- UNS phenotype, 9% CNS involvement, only one patient bulky disease, and two mediastinal involvement. T-ALL was more common in males [10/72 (14%) vs. 2/83 (2%); P = 0.01]. Genetic analysis (G-band karyotyping, FISH or PCR for at least BCR-ABL) was performed in 140 of 155 (90%) patients. 35% had Ph+ ALL and 6% MLL. Characteristics of our cohort were similar to those from other studies (26, 27, 41, 78-80), with low T-ALL/bulky disease, and high Ph+ incidence. Intensive treatment was applied in 124 (80%) and palliative in 31 (20%) patients with different median age of 65 (55-82) and 79 (55-85) years, respectively. The proportions of patients with PS ≥ 2 and CC ≥ 1 were higher in the palliative cohort (P < 0.001 and 0.005). Only age (as continuous variable) and proportion of patients with PS \geq 2 differed between the two cohorts (*P* < 0.001 and < 0.05, respectively; multivariate analysis). CR, one and 3 year OS were: 67%, 50% (95%CI: 42, 58) and 26% (95%CI: 20, 33), respectively.

Patients treated intensively

Two main protocols, EWALL-backbone +/-TKI and ABCDV +/-TKI, were administered to 35 and 79 patients of which the former were older [median age of 69 (range 62-82) vs. 63 years (range: 55-79), respectively; P < 0.001]. Modification of treatment was performed in 34% of the patients for both protocols. Other regimens were: Hyper-CVAD (n=5), daunorubicin/cytarabine (n=4, due to misclassification as AML), pre-phase treatment only in one who died before continuation. TKI was started at induction in all 40 patients with Ph+ and one with Ph- ALL. When analyzing treatment in three age groups (55-64, 65-74, 75-82 years), ABCDV was most common in the youngest (given to 83% in this group).

In the total cohort, CR was achieved in 83% of the patients, compared to 34-84% in previous reports (not population-based) (26, 27, 41, 50, 79-81), with lowest proportion in oldest age group compared with youngest (59% vs. 90%; P = 0.03), and slightly higher proportion in Ph+ ALL than in Ph- (93% vs. 80%; P = 0.07). EWALL-backbone+/-TKI gave CR in 70% of patients compared to 85-97% in other studies assessing the proto-col (82-84), and ABCDV+/-TKI gave CR in 89%. Median survival and median follow-up of survivors were 16 months (range 0-126) and 74 (33-

126) months, respectively. OS/EFS were 59% (95%CI: 50, 67)/ 47% (95%CI: 38, 56) after one and estimated to 32% (95%CI: 24, 40)/ 25% (95%CI: 17, 33) after 3 years. The latter was similar to results reported by others in older/elderly patients (78, 79). EWALL-backbone/ABCDV resulted in one year OS of 49% (95%CI: 32, 65)/ 63% (95%CI: 53, 74) and 3 year OS of 20% (95%CI: 7, 33)/ 39% (95%CI: 28, 50), respectively. According to the previously cited report (82), one year OS reached 60% in another EWALL-backbone treated cohort. Relapse was the main cause of death (56/124, 45%), as demonstrated also by others (27, 78-80). Early death (ED; within 60 days) occurred in 18/124 patients (15%), which is consistent with previous reports (11-34%) (26, 27, 41, 78-80). Higher proportion of patients with PS ≥ 2 experienced ED as compared to PS <2 [7/26 (27%) vs. 11/97 (11%); P = 0.046]. ED for EWALL-backbone was 20% in contrast to other studies of the protocol with none (82, 83) or low early death (84). 13% of patients receiving ABCDV died within 60 days. Patients aged 65-74 years received EWALL-backbone and ABCDV in similar proportions (47% vs. 45%). The former was applied mainly after October 2009 (19/22, 86%) and the latter mainly in the preceding period (22/31, 71%; P < 0.001). CR after treatment with EWALLbackbone and ABCDV was achieved in 72% and 88% respectively (P =0.18), and the ED rate was similar (20% vs 21%). OS was not different between EWALL and ABCDV cohorts, despite the same median age (69 years) in patients 65-74 years (Figure 6).

Toxicity

The toxicity profile among three age groups was not different (except more common kidney failure in the two oldest). Interestingly patients with diabetes as compared to those without were affected by invasive fungal infection more frequently [7/16 (44%) vs. 15/106 (14%); P = 0.004] which is a novel finding possibly indicating the need of prophylaxis in this group. Higher proportion of patients treated with ABCDV as compared to EWALL-backbone experienced serious infections [69/79 (87%) vs. 23/35 (66%); P = 0.007] and serious toxicity of TKI [(45%) vs. 1/12 (8%); P = 0.03].



Figure 6. Overall survival in patients aged 65-74y according to protocol (EWALL-backbone vs. ABCDV).

Allogeneic hSCT in CR1

19% of patients reaching CR1, with median age of 60 years (range: 55-66), received allogeneic hSCT (RICT in 13 and MAC in 7) after ABCDV (n=17) and Hyper-CVAD (n=3) treatment. 14 of 20 patients had Ph+ ALL and 5 had other HR factors. HLA-identical RD and matched URD were in equal proportion. OS and EFS after 3 years were 40% (95%CI: 18, 62) and 25% (95%CI: 6, 44). Men (n=10) were of younger age [57.5 vs. 62 years in women (P = 0.04)] but had impaired OS (P = 0.05) and EFS (P = 0.04). TRM was 40% (8/20) and 6 patients relapsed. Transplantation in Ph+ ALL did not enhance survival (patients receiving palliative treatment included) (Figure 7).

Prognostic factors

Age (analyzed as three groups), PLT $\leq 35 \times 10^{\circ}/L$, sex, creatinine >90, phenotype (B-/T-cell), WBC >100× 10°/L were included in multivariate analysis. Only high age (P = 0.025; Figure 8) and thrombocytopenia (P = 0.008) proved to be negative prognostic factors for OS and EFS (not shown) in multivariate analysis. Adverse effect of age in older/elderly (1, 3, 41, 80) and thrombocytopenia in adults (3, 34) were demonstrated previously. Neither presence of Ph+ nor CC $\geq 1/PS \geq 2$ influenced survival significantly. Thrombocytopenia was more common in females than in males in the

youngest age group [39/67 (58%) vs. 20/57 (35%); P = 0.01]; despite this fact, males in the age group had poorer OS than females (Figure 9) which was earlier demonstrated by only one study of elderly ALL (41).



Figure 7. Overall survival in patients with Ph+ transplanted and not transplanted (intensive and palliative treated included, all receiving TKI)



Figure 8. Overall survival in intensively treated patients with B- and T-ALL according to age group.



Figure 9. Overall survival in youngest age group (55-64y) according to sex.

MRD1 was not analyzed consistently (59% of all patients in CR1) and positivity (>0.1%) did not influence survival (not shown).

Outcome before and after the introduction of new guidelines

Of 155 patients, 92 (59%) were diagnosed before and 63 (41%) after October 2009, receiving intensive treatment in 79% and 80% respectively. Median age [64 and 67 years (P = 0.1)] and distribution of prognostic factors were not significantly different between the two periods. Contemporary guidelines were followed for remission induction in 93% of the patients. EWALL-backbone was used mainly after October 2009 [29/50 (58%) vs. 6/74 (8%) in the previous period; P < 0.001] which neither influenced survival in the whole cohort nor in the three age groups.

Palliation

Of 31 patients receiving palliation, 17 (55%) were treated more intensively with intravenous cytostatic combinations and/or TKI (with 29% achieving CR), and 14 with oral cytostatics and/or cortisone, or supportive care only. OS was 13% (95% CI%: 1, 25) after one and 3% (95% CI: 0, 9) after 3 years. When comparing with the oldest age group (75-85y) given palliation (n=23), OS was not significantly different in 12 patients (75-82y) receiving remission induction therapy (P = 0.12).

Discussion

Our study is quite unique, as it specifies patients', disease, and therapy characteristics in a population based cohort of older/elderly ALL treated according to national guidelines, which were followed to a large extent. High proportion of patients <75 years received remission induction (90%) in contrast to those >75 years. The latter group had dismal outcome, comparable with those receiving palliation, suggesting use of "intensive palliation" (+ TKI in Ph+ disease) rather than standard ALL protocols in patients >75 years. Age-adapted EWALL-backbone did not enhance survival in Sweden, and at age 65-74 years gave similar outcome as ABCDV. Our finding of impaired survival in males <65 years may be protocol specific, as differences in survival between sexes have disappeared during population-based study period (40) and when applying modern pediatric protocol (122).

There were no survivors among patients with T-cell phenotype, though their number was probably too low to draw any conclusions. The phenotype carried poor prognosis in elderly according to one study only (50).

OS in Ph- and Ph+ ALL did not differ in our cohort although Ph+ is considered a HR factor by most authors (123). Even possibly improved outcome in elderly with Ph+ was reported previously (79), and TKI had substantial impact on enhancement of the survival in this ALL subgroup (124).

High proportion of patients <65 years underwent hSCT mostly due to Ph positivity. hSCT procedure in CR1 is encouraged by some authors (78, 124), particularly in Ph+ ALL (123). We found no advantage of hSCT in Ph+ disease in terms of OS. It is possible that the procedure is too toxic in older individuals, as TRM was high.

Conclusions

Paper I

Patients with ALL recurrence are rarely cured. In our study, a proportion of younger patients <35y could achieve long-term survival by means of intensive chemotherapy (MEA and FLAG-Asp appearing effective) with subsequent hSCT. However, older patients and those relapsing after hSCT were beyond rescue. This implicates the strong need of preventing relapse in older patients and novel rescue therapies in the high risk group. A combination of time to relapse and age predicts outcome in relapsed ALL.

Paper II

With Hyper-CVAD, CR was achieved in a high proportion of patients with T-ALL, without serious toxicity. However, survival (especially LFS) was unsatisfactory, and a high relapse rate was observed both in older and younger patients. Probably due to high hSCT rate in CR2, the latter had favorable OS. The protocol was abandoned in upcoming guidelines and replaced by the Nordic NOPHO 2008 study protocol in patients <45 years, and hSCT in CR1 following the ABCDV protocol in eligible patients older than 45 years.

Paper III

By applying the ABCDV protocol, around half of treated ALL patients >45 years can be cured, experiencing acceptable toxicity. MRD measurement was performed only in patients potentially benefitting of treatment escalation. Continuous remission in patients reaching MRD negativity after induction treatment (<0.1%) was excellent. MRD1 cut-off level will be reduced from 1% to 0.1% in the upcoming guidelines.

Paper IV

The outcome in older/elderly ALL patients was poor, with high early mortality and relapse rate, despite the use of an age-adapted protocol mainly in those 65-74 years old. Allogeneic hSCT did not enhance survival in Ph+ ALL, and the aberration had no impact on outcome in our cohort, probably due to consistent use of TKI. Poor prognostic factors (high age and thrombocytopenia) can be identified at diagnosis. Impact of male sex on survival in older patients was demonstrated but could not be explained. Intensive treatment should primarily be withheld in patients older than 75 years.

Acknowledgements

This thesis owes its existence to inspiration, support and involvement of several people.

Firstly, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my principal supervisor Helene Hallböök for the project of this thesis, all the advice, patience, and immense knowledge about ALL.

Special thanks go to Maria Åström, co-supervisor, for introducing me to the project, her constant motivation, and finding solutions to difficult statistical problems.

I would like to thank Emma Bergfelt, my co-worker, for her enthusiasm, and hard work with creation of databases and data collection.

My heartfelt gratitude goes to Ulf Tidefelt for the support and inspiration, not only for me but also other researchers at Örebro University Hospital.

I would also like to thank all the present and past members of SVALL for doing an excellent clinical and research work, and for all the stimulating discussions about ALL. Special thanks to Karin Karlsson for her dedication to the development of the Swedish ALL Registry.

My deepest gratitude to all my colleagues at the hematology section, in particular my clinical supervisor Olle Linder, for sharing their knowledge. Thank you to all staff at "83:an" and MM2 for such a good atmosphere at the workplace, despite our struggle with serious hematological illnesses.

Many thanks go to the teachers at Örebro University for broadening my horizons in statistics, epidemiology, research methodology and ethics.

I am grateful to Åsa Berglind for great administration during my PhD studies.

Last but not least, I would like to thank my family: for understanding and spiritual support throughout the writing of this thesis.

This thesis was supported by grants from the Research Committee of Region Örebro County Council (Örebro), and Lions Cancer Foundation (Uppsala).

References

- 1. Dinmohamed AG, Szabo A, van der Mark M, Visser O, Sonneveld P, Cornelissen JJ, et al. Improved survival in adult patients with acute lymphoblastic leukemia in the Netherlands: a population-based study on treatment, trial participation and survival. Leukemia. 2015.
- 2. Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results (SEER) Program (<u>www.seer.cancer.gov</u>) Research Data (1973–2008), National Cancer Institute, DCCPS, Surveillance Research Program, Cancer Statistics Branch.
- 3. Toft N, Schmiegelow K, Klausen TW, Birgens H. Adult acute lymphoblastic leukaemia in Denmark. A national population-based retrospective study on acute lymphoblastic leukaemia in Denmark 1998-2008. British journal of haematology. 2012;157(1):97-104.
- 4. Frey NV, Luger SM. How I treat adults with relapsed or refractory Philadelphia chromosome-negative acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood. 2015;126(5):589-96.
- 5. Gokbuget N. How I treat older patients with ALL. Blood. 2013;122(8):1366-75.
- 6. Denson AC, Mahipal A. Participation of the elderly population in clinical trials: barriers and solutions. Cancer Control. 2014;21(3):209-14.
- 7. Farber S, Diamond LK. Temporary remissions in acute leukemia in children produced by folic acid antagonist, 4-aminopteroyl-glutamic acid. The New England journal of medicine. 1948;238(23):787-93.
- 8. Seibel NL. Acute lymphoblastic leukemia: an historical perspective. Hematology / the Education Program of the American Society of Hematology American Society of Hematology Education Program. 2008:365.
- 9. Huguet F, Leguay T, Raffoux E, Thomas X, Beldjord K, Delabesse E, et al. Pediatric-inspired therapy in adults with Philadelphia chromosome-negative acute lymphoblastic leukemia: the GRAALL-2003 study. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology. 2009;27(6):911-8.
- 10. Al-Khabori M, Minden MD, Yee KW, Gupta V, Schimmer AD, Schuh AC, et al. Improved survival using an intensive, pediatric-based chemotherapy regimen in adults with T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Leukemia & lymphoma. 2010;51(1):61-5.
- 11. Toft N, Birgens H, Abrahamsson J, Bernell P, Griskevicius L, Hallbook H, et al. Risk group assignment differs for children and adults 1-45 yr with acute lymphoblastic leukemia treated by the NOPHO ALL-2008 protocol. European journal of haematology. 2013;90(5):404-12.
- 12. Dores GM, Devesa SS, Curtis RE, Linet MS, Morton LM. Acute leukemia incidence and patient survival among children and adults in the United States, 2001-2007. Blood. 2012;119(1):34-43.
- 13. Juliusson G, Karlsson K, Hallbook H. Population-based analyses in adult acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood. 2010;116(6):1011; author reply 2.

- 14. Preston DL, Kusumi S, Tomonaga M, Izumi S, Ron E, Kuramoto A, et al. Cancer incidence in atomic bomb survivors. Part III. Leukemia, lymphoma and multiple myeloma, 1950-1987. Radiation research. 1994;137(2 Suppl):S68-97.
- 15. Doll R, Wakeford R. Risk of childhood cancer from fetal irradiation. Br J Radiol. 1997;70:130-9.
- 16. Liu R, Zhang L, McHale CM, Hammond SK. Paternal smoking and risk of childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia: systematic review and metaanalysis. J Oncol. 2011;2011:854584.
- 17. Rauscher GH, Shore D, Sandler DP. Hair dye use and risk of adult acute leukemia. American journal of epidemiology. 2004;160(1):19-25.
- 18. Altieri A, Castro F, Bermejo JL, Hemminki K. Number of siblings and the risk of lymphoma, leukemia, and myeloma by histopathology. Cancer epidemiology, biomarkers & prevention : a publication of the American Association for Cancer Research, cosponsored by the American Society of Preventive Oncology. 2006;15(7):1281-6.
- 19. Mahieux R, Gessain A. HTLV-1 and associated adult T-cell leukemia/lymphoma. Rev Clin Exp Hematol. 2003;7(4):336-61.
- 20. Brady G, MacArthur GJ, Farrell PJ. Epstein-Barr virus and Burkitt lymphoma. J Clin Pathol. 2007;60(12):1397-402.
- 21. Lairmore MD. Animal models of bovine leukemia virus and human Tlymphotrophic virus type-1: insights in transmission and pathogenesis. Annu Rev Anim Biosci. 2014;2:189-208.
- 22. Crump C, Sundquist J, Sieh W, Winkleby MA, Sundquist K. Perinatal and familial risk factors for acute lymphoblastic leukemia in a Swedish national cohort. Cancer. 2015;121(7):1040-7.
- 23. Trevino LR, Yang W, French D, Hunger SP, Carroll WL, Devidas M, et al. Germline genomic variants associated with childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Nat Genet. 2009;41(9):1001-5.
- 24. Hasle H, Clemmensen IH, Mikkelsen M. Risks of leukaemia and solid tumours in individuals with Down's syndrome. Lancet. 2000;355(9199):165-9.
- 25. Greaves MF, Maia AT, Wiemels JL, Ford AM. Leukemia in twins: lessons in natural history. Blood. 2003;102(7):2321-33.
- 26. Sancho JM, Ribera JM, Xicoy B, Morgades M, Oriol A, Tormo M, et al. Results of the PETHEMA ALL-96 trial in elderly patients with Philadelphia chromosome-negative acute lymphoblastic leukemia. European journal of haematology. 2007;78(2):102-10.
- 27. O'Brien S, Thomas DA, Ravandi F, Faderl S, Pierce S, Kantarjian H. Results of the hyperfractionated cyclophosphamide, vincristine, doxorubicin, and dexamethasone regimen in elderly patients with acute lymphocytic leukemia. Cancer. 2008;113(8):2097-101.
- 28. Hallbook H, Simonsson B, Ahlgren T, Bjorkholm M, Carneskog J, Grimfors G, et al. High-dose cytarabine in upfront therapy for adult patients with acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. British journal of haematology. 2002;118(3):748-54.
- 29. Beldjord K, Chevret S, Asnafi V, Huguet F, Boulland ML, Leguay T, et al. Oncogenetics and minimal residual disease are independent outcome

predictors in adult patients with acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood. 2014;123(24):3739-49.

- 30. Lazarus HM, Richards SM, Chopra R, Litzow MR, Burnett AK, Wiernik PH, et al. Central nervous system involvement in adult acute lymphoblastic leukemia at diagnosis: results from the international ALL trial MRC UKALL XII/ECOG E2993. Blood. 2006;108(2):465-72.
- 31. Marks DI, Paietta EM, Moorman AV, Richards SM, Buck G, DeWald G, et al. T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia in adults: clinical features, immunophenotype, cytogenetics, and outcome from the large randomized prospective trial (UKALL XII/ECOG 2993). Blood. 2009;114(25):5136-45.
- 32. Vardiman JW, Thiele J, Arber DA, Brunning RD, Borowitz MJ, Porwit A, et al. The 2008 revision of the World Health Organization (WHO) classification of myeloid neoplasms and acute leukemia: rationale and important changes. Blood. 2009;114(5):937-51.
- 33. Rowe JM, Buck G, Burnett AK, Chopra R, Wiernik PH, Richards SM, et al. Induction therapy for adults with acute lymphoblastic leukemia: results of more than 1500 patients from the international ALL trial: MRC UKALL XII/ECOG E2993. Blood. 2005;106(12):3760-7.
- 34. Kantarjian H, Thomas D, O'Brien S, Cortes J, Giles F, Jeha S, et al. Longterm follow-up results of hyperfractionated cyclophosphamide, vincristine, doxorubicin, and dexamethasone (Hyper-CVAD), a dose-intensive regimen, in adult acute lymphocytic leukemia. Cancer. 2004;101(12):2788-801.
- 35. Holowiecki J, Krawczyk-Kulis M, Giebel S, Jagoda K, Stella-Holowiecka B, Piatkowska-Jakubas B, et al. Status of minimal residual disease after induction predicts outcome in both standard and high-risk Ph-negative adult acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. The Polish Adult Leukemia Group ALL 4-2002 MRD Study. British journal of haematology. 2008;142(2):227-37.
- Thomas DA, O'Brien S, Jorgensen JL, Cortes J, Faderl S, Garcia-Manero G, et al. Prognostic significance of CD20 expression in adults with de novo precursor B-lineage acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood. 2009;113(25):6330-7.
- 37. Jinnai I, Sakura T, Tsuzuki M, Maeda Y, Usui N, Kato M, et al. Intensified consolidation therapy with dose-escalated doxorubicin did not improve the prognosis of adults with acute lymphoblastic leukemia: the JALSG-ALL97 study. Int J Hematol. 2010;92(3):490-502.
- 38. Thomas X, Olteanu N, Charrin C, Lheritier V, Magaud JP, Fiere D. Acute lymphoblastic leukemia in the elderly: The Edouard Herriot Hospital experience. Am J Hematol. 2001;67(2):73-83.
- 39. Pui CH, Boyett JM, Relling MV, Harrison PL, Rivera GK, Behm FG, et al. Sex differences in prognosis for children with acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology. 1999;17(3):818-24.
- 40. Pulte D, Jansen L, Gondos A, Katalinic A, Barnes B, Ressing M, et al. Survival of adults with acute lymphoblastic leukemia in Germany and the United States. PloS one. 2014;9(1):e85554.
- 41. Robak T, Szmigielska-Kaplon A, Wrzesien-Kus A, Wierzbowska A, Skotnicki AB, Piatkowska-Jakubas B, et al. Acute lymphoblastic leukemia

in elderly: the Polish Adult Leukemia Group (PALG) experience. Annals of hematology. 2004;83(4):225-31.

- 42. Vitale A, Guarini A, Ariola C, Mancini M, Mecucci C, Cuneo A, et al. Adult T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia: biologic profile at presentation and correlation with response to induction treatment in patients enrolled in the GIMEMA LAL 0496 protocol. Blood. 2006;107(2):473-9.
- 43. Thomas X, Boiron JM, Huguet F, Dombret H, Bradstock K, Vey N, et al. Outcome of treatment in adults with acute lymphoblastic leukemia: analysis of the LALA-94 trial. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology. 2004;22(20):4075-86.
- 44. Vey N, Thomas X, Picard C, Kovascovicz T, Charin C, Cayuela JM, et al. Allogeneic stem cell transplantation improves the outcome of adults with t(1;19)/E2A-PBX1 and t(4;11)/MLL-AF4 positive B-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia: results of the prospective multicenter LALA-94 study. Leukemia. 2006;20(12):2155-61.
- 45. Udomsakdi-Auewarakul C, Promsuwicha O, Tocharoentanaphol C, Munhketvit C, Pattanapanyasat K, Issaragrisil S. Immunophenotypes and outcome of Philadelphia chromosome-positive and -negative Thai adult acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Int J Hematol. 2003;78(4):337-43.
- 46. Faderl S, Kantarjian HM, Thomas DA, Cortes J, Giles F, Pierce S, et al. Outcome of Philadelphia chromosome-positive adult acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Leukemia & lymphoma. 2000;36(3-4):263-73.
- 47. Gokbuget N, Hoelzer D. Meningeosis leukaemica in adult acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. J Neurooncol. 1998;38(2-3):167-80.
- 48. Reman O, Pigneux A, Huguet F, Vey N, Delannoy A, Fegueux N, et al. Central nervous system involvement in adult acute lymphoblastic leukemia at diagnosis and/or at first relapse: results from the GET-LALA group. Leukemia research. 2008;32(11):1741-50.
- 49. Hallbook H, Gustafsson G, Smedmyr B, Soderhall S, Heyman M, Swedish Adult Acute Lymphocytic Leukemia G, et al. Treatment outcome in young adults and children >10 years of age with acute lymphoblastic leukemia in Sweden: a comparison between a pediatric protocol and an adult protocol. Cancer. 2006;107(7):1551-61.
- 50. Shin DY, Kim I, Kim KH, Choi Y, Beom SH, Yang Y, et al. Acute lymphoblastic leukemia in elderly patients: a single institution's experience. The Korean journal of internal medicine. 2011;26(3):328-39.
- 51. Shimizu H, Handa H, Hatsumi N, Takada S, Saitoh T, Sakura T, et al. Distinctive disease subgroups according to differentiation stages in adult patients with T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. European journal of haematology. 2013;90(4):301-7.
- 52. Litzow MR, Ferrando AA. How I treat T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia in adults. Blood. 2015;126(7):833-41.
- 53. Brammer JE SR, Jorgensen JL, Ledesma C, Rondon G, Poon M et al. Multi-Center Analysis of the Effect of Disease Subtype and Minimal Residual Disease on Allogeneic Stem Cell Transplantation Outcomes in T-Cell Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia (T-ALL) 4408. ASH; Orlando2015.
- 54. Neumann M, Heesch S, Gokbuget N, Schwartz S, Schlee C, Benlasfer O, et al. Clinical and molecular characterization of early T-cell precursor

leukemia: a high-risk subgroup in adult T-ALL with a high frequency of FLT3 mutations. Blood Cancer J. 2012;2(1):e55.

- 55. Gokbuget N, Kneba M, Raff T, Trautmann H, Bartram CR, Arnold R, et al. Adult patients with acute lymphoblastic leukemia and molecular failure display a poor prognosis and are candidates for stem cell transplantation and targeted therapies. Blood. 2012;120(9):1868-76.
- 56. Gleissner B, Goekbuget N, Rieder H, Arnold R, Schwartz S, Diedrich H, et al. CD10- pre-B acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL) is a distinct high-risk subgroup of adult ALL associated with a high frequency of MLL aberrations: results of the German Multicenter Trials for Adult ALL (GMALL). Blood. 2005;106(13):4054-6.
- 57. Moorman AV, Chilton L, Wilkinson J, Ensor HM, Bown N, Proctor SJ. A population-based cytogenetic study of adults with acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood. 2010;115(2):206-14.
- 58. Pullarkat V, Slovak ML, Kopecky KJ, Forman SJ, Appelbaum FR. Impact of cytogenetics on the outcome of adult acute lymphoblastic leukemia: results of Southwest Oncology Group 9400 study. Blood. 2008;111(5):2563-72.
- 59. Mrozek K, Harper DP, Aplan PD. Cytogenetics and molecular genetics of acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Hematol Oncol Clin North Am. 2009;23(5):991-1010, v.
- 60. Pane F, Intrieri M, Quintarelli C, Izzo B, Muccioli GC, Salvatore F. BCR/ABL genes and leukemic phenotype: from molecular mechanisms to clinical correlations. Oncogene. 2002;21(56):8652-67.
- 61. Mullighan CG. Genomic profiling of B-progenitor acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Best Pract Res Clin Haematol. 2011;24(4):489-503.
- 62. Ladetto M, Bruggemann M, Monitillo L, Ferrero S, Pepin F, Drandi D, et al. Next-generation sequencing and real-time quantitative PCR for minimal residual disease detection in B-cell disorders. Leukemia. 2014;28(6):1299-307.
- 63. Conter V, Bartram CR, Valsecchi MG, Schrauder A, Panzer-Grumayer R, Moricke A, et al. Molecular response to treatment redefines all prognostic factors in children and adolescents with B-cell precursor acute lymphoblastic leukemia: results in 3184 patients of the AIEOP-BFM ALL 2000 study. Blood. 2010;115(16):3206-14.
- 64. Raff T, Gokbuget N, Luschen S, Reutzel R, Ritgen M, Irmer S, et al. Molecular relapse in adult standard-risk ALL patients detected by prospective MRD monitoring during and after maintenance treatment: data from the GMALL 06/99 and 07/03 trials. Blood. 2007;109(3):910-5.
- 65. Schrappe M, Valsecchi MG, Bartram CR, Schrauder A, Panzer-Grumayer R, Moricke A, et al. Late MRD response determines relapse risk overall and in subsets of childhood T-cell ALL: results of the AIEOP-BFM-ALL 2000 study. Blood. 2011;118(8):2077-84.
- 66. Patel B, Rai L, Buck G, Richards SM, Mortuza Y, Mitchell W, et al. Minimal residual disease is a significant predictor of treatment failure in non T-lineage adult acute lymphoblastic leukaemia: final results of the international trial UKALL XII/ECOG2993. British journal of haematology. 2010;148(1):80-9.

- 67. Bruggemann M, Schrauder A, Raff T, Pfeifer H, Dworzak M, Ottmann OG, et al. Standardized MRD quantification in European ALL trials: proceedings of the Second International Symposium on MRD assessment in Kiel, Germany, 18-20 September 2008. Leukemia. 2010;24(3):521-35.
- 68. Ravandi F, Jorgensen JL, O'Brien SM, Jabbour E, Thomas DA, Borthakur G, et al. Minimal residual disease assessed by multi-parameter flow cytometry is highly prognostic in adult patients with acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. British journal of haematology. 2015.
- 69. Bassan R, Spinelli O, Oldani E, Intermesoli T, Tosi M, Peruta B, et al. Improved risk classification for risk-specific therapy based on the molecular study of minimal residual disease (MRD) in adult acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL). Blood. 2009;113(18):4153-62.
- 70. Ribera JM, Oriol A, Morgades M, Montesinos P, Sarra J, Gonzalez-Campos J, et al. Treatment of high-risk Philadelphia chromosome-negative acute lymphoblastic leukemia in adolescents and adults according to early cytologic response and minimal residual disease after consolidation assessed by flow cytometry: final results of the PETHEMA ALL-AR-03 trial. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology. 2014;32(15):1595-604.
- 71. Gandemer V, Pochon C, Oger E, Dalle JH, Michel G, Schmitt C, et al. Clinical value of pre-transplant minimal residual disease in childhood lymphoblastic leukaemia: the results of the French minimal residual disease-guided protocol. British journal of haematology. 2014;165(3):392-401.
- 72. Zhou Y, Slack R, Jorgensen JL, Wang SA, Rondon G, de Lima M, et al. The effect of peritransplant minimal residual disease in adults with acute lymphoblastic leukemia undergoing allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk. 2014;14(4):319-26.
- 73. Kantarjian HM, O'Brien S, Smith TL, Cortes J, Giles FJ, Beran M, et al. Results of treatment with hyper-CVAD, a dose-intensive regimen, in adult acute lymphocytic leukemia. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology. 2000;18(3):547-61.
- 74. Thomas DA, O'Brien S, Kantarjian HM. Monoclonal antibody therapy with rituximab for acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Hematol Oncol Clin North Am. 2009;23(5):949-71, v.
- 75. de Bont JM, Holt B, Dekker AW, van der Does-van den Berg A, Sonneveld P, Pieters R. Significant difference in outcome for adolescents with acute lymphoblastic leukemia treated on pediatric vs adult protocols in the Netherlands. Leukemia. 2004;18(12):2032-5.
- 76. Stock W, La M, Sanford B, Bloomfield CD, Vardiman JW, Gaynon P, et al. What determines the outcomes for adolescents and young adults with acute lymphoblastic leukemia treated on cooperative group protocols? A comparison of Children's Cancer Group and Cancer and Leukemia Group B studies. Blood. 2008;112(5):1646-54.
- 77. Rijneveld AW, van der Holt B, Daenen SM, Biemond BJ, de Weerdt O, Muus P, et al. Intensified chemotherapy inspired by a pediatric regimen combined with allogeneic transplantation in adult patients with acute

lymphoblastic leukemia up to the age of 40. Leukemia. 2011;25(11):1697-703.

- 78. Sive JI, Buck G, Fielding A, Lazarus HM, Litzow MR, Luger S, et al. Outcomes in older adults with acute lymphoblastic leukaemia (ALL): results from the international MRC UKALL XII/ECOG2993 trial. British journal of haematology. 2012;157(4):463-71.
- 79. Brandwein JM, Gupta V, Wells RA, Schuh AC, Schimmer AD, Lipton JH, et al. Treatment of elderly patients with acute lymphoblastic leukemiaevidence for a benefit of imatinib in BCR-ABL positive patients. Leukemia research. 2005;29(12):1381-6.
- Saillard C, Etienne A, Charbonnier A, D'Incan E, Rey J, Arnoulet C, et al. Evaluation of comorbidity indexes in the outcome of elderly patients treated for acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Leukemia & lymphoma. 2014;55(9):2211-2.
- Hunault-Berger M, Leguay T, Thomas X, Legrand O, Huguet F, Bonmati C, et al. A randomized study of pegylated liposomal doxorubicin versus continuous-infusion doxorubicin in elderly patients with acute lymphoblastic leukemia: the GRAALL-SA1 study. Haematologica. 2011;96(2):245-52.
- 82. Gökbuget N LT, Hunault M, et al. First European chemotherapy schedule for elderly patients with acute lymphoblastic leukemia: promising remission rate and feasible moderate dose intensity consolidation [abstract]. 2008.
- 83. Ottmann G HPH, Cayuela J-M et al. Nilotinib (Tasigna®) and Chemotherapy for First-Line Treatment in Elderly Patients with De Novo Philadelphia Chromosome/BCR-ABL1 Positive Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia (ALL): A Trial of the European Working Group for Adult ALL (EWALL-PH-02). ASH Session: 614.: 2014.
- 84. Rousselot P CM, Huguet F, et al. Dasatinib (Sprycel®) and low intensity chemotherapy for first-line treatment in patients with de novo Philadelphia positive ALL aged 55 and over: final results of the EWALL-Ph-01 Study [abstract]. Blood: 2012.
- 85. Delannoy A, Delabesse E, Lheritier V, Castaigne S, Rigal-Huguet F, Raffoux E, et al. Imatinib and methylprednisolone alternated with chemotherapy improve the outcome of elderly patients with Philadelphiapositive acute lymphoblastic leukemia: results of the GRAALL AFR09 study. Leukemia. 2006;20(9):1526-32.
- 86. Fielding AK, Rowe JM, Buck G, Foroni L, Gerrard G, Litzow MR, et al. UKALLXII/ECOG2993: addition of imatinib to a standard treatment regimen enhances long-term outcomes in Philadelphia positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood. 2014;123(6):843-50.
- 87. Imamura M, Shigematsu A. Allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation in adult acute lymphoblastic leukemia: potential benefit of medium-dose etoposide conditioning. Exp Hematol Oncol. 2015;4:20.
- 88. Brissot E, Labopin M, Beckers MM, Socie G, Rambaldi A, Volin L, et al. Tyrosine kinase inhibitors improve long-term outcome of allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation for adult patients with Philadelphia chromosome positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Haematologica. 2015;100(3):392-9.

- 89. Vignetti M, Fazi P, Cimino G, Martinelli G, Di Raimondo F, Ferrara F, et al. Imatinib plus steroids induces complete remissions and prolonged survival in elderly Philadelphia chromosome-positive patients with acute lymphoblastic leukemia without additional chemotherapy: results of the Gruppo Italiano Malattie Ematologiche dell'Adulto (GIMEMA) LAL0201-B protocol. Blood. 2007;109(9):3676-8.
- 90. Soverini S, De Benedittis C, Papayannidis C, Paolini S, Venturi C, Iacobucci I, et al. Drug resistance and BCR-ABL kinase domain mutations in Philadelphia chromosome-positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia from the imatinib to the second-generation tyrosine kinase inhibitor era: The main changes are in the type of mutations, but not in the frequency of mutation involvement. Cancer. 2014;120(7):1002-9.
- 91. Sanford DS, Kantarjian H, O'Brien S, Jabbour E, Cortes J, Ravandi F. The role of ponatinib in Philadelphia chromosome-positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Expert Rev Anticancer Ther. 2015;15(4):365-73.
- 92. DeAngelo DJ, Yu D, Johnson JL, Coutre SE, Stone RM, Stopeck AT, et al. Nelarabine induces complete remissions in adults with relapsed or refractory T-lineage acute lymphoblastic leukemia or lymphoblastic lymphoma: Cancer and Leukemia Group B study 19801. Blood. 2007;109(12):5136-42.
- 93. Jain P, Kantarjian H, Ravandi F, Thomas D, O'Brien S, Kadia T, et al. The combination of hyper-CVAD plus nelarabine as frontline therapy in adult T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia and T-lymphoblastic lymphoma: MD Anderson Cancer Center experience. Leukemia. 2014;28(4):973-5.
- 94. Parovichnikova EN, Kuz'mina LA, Mendeleeva LP, Kliasova GA, Troitskaia VV, Sokolov AN, et al. [Autologous hematopoietic stem cell transplantation as late high-dose consolidation in adult patients with T-cell lymphoblastic leukemias: Results of a Russian multicenter study]. Ter Arkh. 2015;87(7):15-25.
- 95. Goldstone AH, Richards SM, Lazarus HM, Tallman MS, Buck G, Fielding AK, et al. In adults with standard-risk acute lymphoblastic leukemia, the greatest benefit is achieved from a matched sibling allogeneic transplantation in first complete remission, and an autologous transplantation is less effective than conventional consolidation/maintenance chemotherapy in all patients: final results of the International ALL Trial (MRC UKALL XII/ECOG E2993). Blood. 2008;111(4):1827-33.
- 96. Cornelissen JJ, van der Holt B, Verhoef GE, van't Veer MB, van Oers MH, Schouten HC, et al. Myeloablative allogeneic versus autologous stem cell transplantation in adult patients with acute lymphoblastic leukemia in first remission: a prospective sibling donor versus no-donor comparison. Blood. 2009;113(6):1375-82.
- 97. Yanada M, Matsuo K, Suzuki T, Naoe T. Allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation as part of postremission therapy improves survival for adult patients with high-risk acute lymphoblastic leukemia: a metaanalysis. Cancer. 2006;106(12):2657-63.
- 98. Bartolozzi B, Bosi A, Orsi C. Allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation as part of postremission therapy improves survival for adult

patients with high-risk acute lymphoblastic leukemia: a meta-analysis. Cancer. 2007;109(2):343; author reply 4.

- 99. Nishiwaki S, Inamoto Y, Sakamaki H, Kurokawa M, Iida H, Ogawa H, et al. Allogeneic stem cell transplantation for adult Philadelphia chromosomenegative acute lymphocytic leukemia: comparable survival rates but different risk factors between related and unrelated transplantation in first complete remission. Blood. 2010;116(20):4368-75.
- 100. Ribera JM. Allogeneic stem cell transplantation for adult acute lymphoblastic leukemia: when and how. Haematologica. 2011;96(8):1083-6.
- 101. Hallbook H, Hagglund H, Stockelberg D, Nilsson PG, Karlsson K, Bjorkholm M, et al. Autologous and allogeneic stem cell transplantation in adult ALL: the Swedish Adult ALL Group experience. Bone Marrow Transplant. 2005;35(12):1141-8.
- 102. Ram R, Storb R, Sandmaier BM, Maloney DG, Woolfrey A, Flowers ME, et al. Non-myeloablative conditioning with allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation for the treatment of high-risk acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Haematologica. 2011;96(8):1113-20.
- 103. Mohty M, Labopin M, Tabrizzi R, Theorin N, Fauser AA, Rambaldi A, et al. Reduced intensity conditioning allogeneic stem cell transplantation for adult patients with acute lymphoblastic leukemia: a retrospective study from the European Group for Blood and Marrow Transplantation. Haematologica. 2008;93(2):303-6.
- 104. Spyridonidis A, Labopin M, Schmid C, Volin L, Yakoub-Agha I, Stadler M, et al. Outcomes and prognostic factors of adults with acute lymphoblastic leukemia who relapse after allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation. An analysis on behalf of the Acute Leukemia Working Party of EBMT. Leukemia. 2012;26(6):1211-7.
- 105. Fielding AK, Richards SM, Chopra R, Lazarus HM, Litzow MR, Buck G, et al. Outcome of 609 adults after relapse of acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL); an MRC UKALL12/ECOG 2993 study. Blood. 2007;109(3):944-50.
- 106. Camera A, Annino L, Chiurazzi F, Fazi P, Cascavilla N, Fabbiano F, et al. GIMEMA ALL - Rescue 97: a salvage strategy for primary refractory or relapsed adult acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Haematologica. 2004;89(2):145-53.
- 107. Gokbuget N, Stanze D, Beck J, Diedrich H, Horst HA, Huttmann A, et al. Outcome of relapsed adult lymphoblastic leukemia depends on response to salvage chemotherapy, prognostic factors, and performance of stem cell transplantation. Blood. 2012;120(10):2032-41.
- 108. Oriol A, Vives S, Hernandez-Rivas JM, Tormo M, Heras I, Rivas C, et al. Outcome after relapse of acute lymphoblastic leukemia in adult patients included in four consecutive risk-adapted trials by the PETHEMA Study Group. Haematologica. 2010;95(4):589-96.
- 109. Tavernier E, Boiron JM, Huguet F, Bradstock K, Vey N, Kovacsovics T, et al. Outcome of treatment after first relapse in adults with acute lymphoblastic leukemia initially treated by the LALA-94 trial. Leukemia. 2007;21(9):1907-14.

- 110. Advani A, Jin T, Bolwell B, Copelan E, Sekeres M, Sobecks R, et al. A prognostic scoring system for adult patients less than 60 years of age with acute lymphoblastic leukemia in first relapse. Leukemia & lymphoma. 2009;50(7):1126-31.
- 111. Topp MS, Gokbuget N, Stein AS, Zugmaier G, O'Brien S, Bargou RC, et al. Safety and activity of blinatumomab for adult patients with relapsed or refractory B-precursor acute lymphoblastic leukaemia: a multicentre, singlearm, phase 2 study. Lancet Oncol. 2015;16(1):57-66.
- 112. Kantarjian H, Thomas D, Jorgensen J, Kebriaei P, Jabbour E, Rytting M, et al. Results of inotuzumab ozogamicin, a CD22 monoclonal antibody, in refractory and relapsed acute lymphocytic leukemia. Cancer. 2013;119(15):2728-36.
- 113. Maude SL, Frey N, Shaw PA, Aplenc R, Barrett DM, Bunin NJ, et al. Chimeric antigen receptor T cells for sustained remissions in leukemia. The New England journal of medicine. 2014;371(16):1507-17.
- 114. Astrom M, Bodin L, Tidefelt U. Adjustment of incidence rates after an estimate of completeness and accuracy in registration of acute leukemias in a Swedish population. Leukemia & lymphoma. 2001;41(5-6):559-70.
- 115. Charlson ME, Pompei P, Ales KL, MacKenzie CR. A new method of classifying prognostic comorbidity in longitudinal studies: development and validation. J Chronic Dis. 1987;40(5):373-83.
- Common Terminology Criteria for Adverse Events (CTCAE) v4.03. In: 09-5410 NPN, editor. USDHHS: National Cancer Institute; 2010.
- 117. Duval M, Klein JP, He W, Cahn JY, Cairo M, Camitta BM, et al. Hematopoietic stem-cell transplantation for acute leukemia in relapse or primary induction failure. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology. 2010;28(23):3730-8.
- 118. Bakr M, Rasheed W, Mohamed SY, Al-Mohareb F, Chaudhri N, Al-Sharif F, et al. Allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation in adolescent and adult patients with high-risk T cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. 2012;18(12):1897-904.
- 119. Faderl S, Thomas DA, O'Brien S, Ravandi F, Garcia-Manero G, Borthakur G, et al. Augmented hyper-CVAD based on dose-intensified vincristine, dexamethasone, and asparaginase in adult acute lymphoblastic leukemia salvage therapy. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk. 2011;11(1):54-9.
- 120. Ribera JM. Advances in acute lymphoblastic leukemia in adults. Curr Opin Oncol. 2011;23(6):692-9.
- 121. Fossat C, Roussel M, Arnoux I, Asnafi V, Brouzes C, Garnache-Ottou F, et al. Methodological aspects of minimal residual disease assessment by flow cytometry in acute lymphoblastic leukemia: A French multicenter study. Cytometry B Clin Cytom. 2015;88(1):21-9.
- 122. Schmiegelow K, Heyman M, Gustafsson G, Lausen B, Wesenberg F, Kristinsson J, et al. The degree of myelosuppression during maintenance therapy of adolescents with B-lineage intermediate risk acute lymphoblastic leukemia predicts risk of relapse. Leukemia. 2010;24(4):715-20.
- 123. Fielding AK. Current treatment of Philadelphia chromosome-positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Haematologica. 2010;95(1):8-12.

124. Pfeifer H WC, Wassmann B, et al. . Long term follow-up of 121 elderly patients with Philadelphia-positive acute lymphoblastic leukaemia (Ph+ALL) treated in prospective GMALL trials supports a greater emphasis on allogeneic SCT as definitive postremission therapy [abstract]. Blood. 2012;(102). Abstract 2608.

PAPER I

Articles and Brief Reports

High curability via intensive reinduction chemotherapy and stem cell transplantation in young adults with relapsed acute lymphoblastic leukemia in Sweden 2003–2007

Piotr Kozlowski,¹ Maria Åström,¹ Lucia Ahlberg,² Per Bernell,³ Erik Hulegårdh,⁴ Hans Hägglund,³ Karin Karlsson,⁵ Alicja Markuszewska-Kuczymska,⁶ Beata Tomaszewska-Toporska,⁵ Bengt Smedmyr,⁷ and Helene Hallböök⁷

¹Hematology Section, Department of Medicine, Örebro University Hospital, Örebro; ²Department of Hematology, University Hospital of Linköping, Linköping; ³Karolinska University Hospital, Stockholm; ⁴Department of Hematology and Coagulation, Sahlgrenska University, Göteborg; ⁶Department of Hematology, Skåne University Hospital, Lund; ⁶Department of Hematology, Cancer Center, University Hospital, Umeå; and ⁷Department of Hematology, Uppsala University, Uppsala, Sweden, for the Swedish Adult ALL Group

ABSTRACT

Background

A minority of patients with adult acute lymphoblastic leukemia who relapse are rescued. The aim of this population-based study was to assess the results of reinduction treatment and allogeneic stem cell transplantation in patients in second complete remission.

Design and Methods

Between 2003–2007, 76 adults (<66 years) with relapsed acute lymphoblastic leukemia (Burkitt's leukemia excluded) were prospectively reported to The Swedish Adult Acute Leukemia Registry and later evaluated.

Results

Reinduction with: (i) mitoxantrone, etoposide, and cytarabine (MEA); (ii) fludarabine, cytarabine, pegylated-asparaginase plus granulocyte colony-stimulating factor (FLAG-Asp); and (iii) cytarabine, betamethasone, cyclophosphamide, daunorubicin, and vincristine (ABCDV) resulted in complete remission in 6/9 (67%), 10/16 (63%) and 9/21 (43%) of the patients, respectively. Allogeneic stem cell transplantation was performed during second complete remission in 29 patients. Multivariate analysis regarding overall survival after relapse revealed that age over 35 years at diagnosis and relapse within 18 months were negative prognostic factors. Overall survival rates at 3 and 5 years were 22% (95% CI: 13-32) and 15% (95% CI: 7-24). Of 19 patients less than 35 years at diagnosis who underwent allogeneic stem cell transplantation in second remission, ten (53%) are still alive at a median of 5.5 years (range, 4.2–8.3) after relapse, whereas all patients over 35 years old at diagnosis have died.

Conclusions

Allogeneic stem cell transplantation remains the treatment of choice for young adults with relapsed acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Both (i) mitoxantrone, etoposide, and cytarabine and (ii) fludarabine, cytarabine, pegylated-asparaginase plus granulocyte colony-stimulating factor seem effective as reinduction treatments and should be further evaluated. New salvage strategies are needed, especially for patients over 35 years old at diagnosis.

Key words: adult acute lymphoblastic leukemia, relapse, salvage therapy, allogeneic stem cell transplantation, prognostic factors

Citation: Kozlowski P, Åström M, Ahlberg L, Bernell P, Hulegårdh E, Hägglund H, Karlsson K, Markuszewska-Kuczymska A, Tomaszewska-Toporska B, Smedmyr B, and Hallböök H. High curability via intensive reinduction chemotherapy and stem cell transplantation in young adults with relapsed acute lymphoblastic leukemia in Sweden 2003–2007. Haematologica 2012;97(9):1414-1421. doi:10.3324/haematol.2011.057851

©2012 Ferrata Storti Foundation. This is an open-access paper.

Manuscript received on November 14, 2011. Revised version arrived on March 20, 2012. Manuscript accepted on April 13, 2012.

Correspondence: Piotr Kozlowski, Department of Medicine, Örebro University Hospital 01 85 Örebro, Sweden. Phone: international +46.19.6021000. Fax: international +46.19.6024580. E-mail: piotr.kozlowski@orebroll.se

Introduction

Acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL) in adults has an unsatisfactory prognosis despite efforts to improve longterm outcome with strategies such as adaptation of pediatric protocols,12 use of tyrosine kinase inhibitors in Philadelphia chromosome-positive disease³ and allogeneic stem cell transplantation (SCT) in first complete remission (CR1).4-6 Primary chemotherapy-resistant disease is unusual and CR1 can be reached in 90% of Philadelphia chromosome-negative patients with novel protocols,17 but relapse is frequent, especially in patients over 35 years of age at diagnosis. This age group is considered as high-risk both at diagnosis^{7,8} and relapse.⁹ Prognosis remains very poor for relapsing patients, with approximately 40% achieving second complete remission (CR2) through salvage regimens and only 7-12% becoming long-term survivors.10-12 Allogeneic SCT seems to be the best consolidation option for adult patients with relapsed ALL,10-12 although only a minority of such patients are eligible for the procedure as a result of poor performance status, lack of a donor or short duration of CR2. Achieving CR2 after relapse is an important aim for patients who are considered for allogeneic SCT.11 If relapse occurs after SCT the long-term outcome is dismal, although donor lymphocyte infusions with or without chemotherapy or a second transplant are used in attempts to improve survival.11

We present here the results of a national, multicenter, prospective, population-based study of outcome among adult patients aged 19 to 65 years with ALL relapse diagnosed during 2003–2007 in Sweden. Most of the patients had primary treatment according to national guidelines for ALL, as recommended by the Swedish Adult ALL Group (SVALL). The guidelines suggest two different treatment protocols for early relapses, and retreatment according to the initial therapy for late relapses, with the intention to proceed to allogeneic SCT in CR2 for eligible patients. The aim of the current study was to assess outcome among adult patients after first ALL relapse, and the utilization and efficacy of recommended protocols and of allogeneic SCT in this setting.

Design and Methods

Patients

Adult patients with first relapse of ALL were prospectively reported to The Swedish Acute Leukemia Registry in 2003–2007. The Swedish Acute Leukemia Registry is a truly population-based registry containing data on patients diagnosed with acute leukemia since 1997, with 98% coverage.¹³ Missing data were added retrospectively. Patients older than 66 years at relapse were excluded from this analysis as not being eligible for allogeneic SCT, as were patients with Burkitt's leukemia. Informed consent was obtained from all patients. The date of last follow-up of the survivors was 3rd June 2011. The study was approved by the regional ethical review board in Uppsala.

Initial diagnostics and treatment

Diagnostics and treatment at primary diagnosis of ALL were performed at each center according to the national guidelines. Induction therapy consisted of cytarabine, betamethasone, cyclophosphamide, daunorubicin, and vincristine (ABCDV)/vincristine, cytarabine, betamethasone, and amsacrine (VABA) for Bprecursor ALL, as previously described,¹⁴ and hyper-CVAD for T- ALL.¹⁵ Asparaginase was not incorporated in either the induction or consolidation protocol. Complementary use of tyrosine kinase inhibitors in Philadelphia chromosome-positive ALL was not mandatory in this period except for refractory or relapsed disease.

High-risk ALL was defined by the presence of at least one of the following criteria: white blood cell (WBC) count >30x10⁷/L (>100×10⁷/L for T-ALL), central nervous system disease, more than one course required to achieve CR1, Philadelphia-positive chromosome-positive or t(4;11), and for patients first diagnosed in 2002–2007, high levels of minimal residual disease (>1% after induction or >0.1% after consolidation). Myeloablative allogeneic SCT in CR1 was recommended for these patients but not for patients with standard-risk ALL. The CR1 rate and 3-year overall survival after diagnosis for all patients treated with the ABCDV/VABA protocol were 86% and 29%, respectively, as reported previously.¹⁴

Relapse treatment

Between 2003 and 2007, the national guidelines recommended retreatment with ABCDV for late relapses (>2 years since initial diagnosis) and two treatment alternatives for early relapses: fludarabine, cytarabine, pegylated-asparaginase plus granulocyte colony-stimulating factor (FLAG-Asp) and mitoxantrone, etoposide, and cytarabine (MEA) (Table 1). For patients not undergoing transplantation in CR1 the aim was to perform myeloablative allogeneic SCT in CR2. The final decision on the choice of relapse treatment was left to the treating physicians.

Statistical methods

Overall survival was calculated from the time of first relapse to death or time of last follow-up. Distributions of overall survival were estimated by the Kaplan-Meier method and differences in overall suvival according to risk factors were analyzed by the logrank test. In addition, univariate and multivariate Cox regression analyses were performed to evaluate the effects of relevant covariates on overall survival. Ninety-five percent confidence intervals (95% CI) for hazard ratios (HR) were obtained. Correlations between variables and achievement of CR2 were evaluated by logistic regression. This method was also used to estimate differences in the distribution of risk factors in two age groups (<35 and >35 years at diagnosis). Statistical analyses were performed with SPSS or StatView statistical packages.

Results

Patients' characteristics

According to The Swedish Acute Leukemia Registry there were 76 adult patients aged <66 years with ALL relapse in the years between 2003 and 2007 in Sweden. A flow chart illustrating treatment in the whole cohort is presented in Figure 1. Five patients (7%) received palliative treatment: with cyclophosphamide (n=1), thioguanine/mercaptopurine (n=1), corticosteroids (n=1) or supportive care only (n=2). The median age in this group was 60 years (range, 30–63) and the median overall survival was 1 month (range, 0.5–14). These five patients were excluded from further analysis.

The characteristics of the 71 remaining patients treated with intensive chemotherapy and/or tyrosine kinase inhibitors are shown in Table 2. There was a slight male predominance (60%). The median age at first ALL diagnosis was 39 years (range, 15–65) for all patients and 36 years (range, 15–65) for the 57 patients not undergoing transplantation in CR1. The median age at relapse for all patients was 39 years (range, 19-65). B-precursor ALL was more common (82%) than T-ALL (18%). Data on cytogenetics were available for 67 patients (94%). Fourteen cases (20%) had Philadelphia chromosome-positive ALL, detected by the presence of t(9;22) and/or bcr-abl, and two cases (3%) had t(4;11). Twenty-seven patients had normal karyotypes (38%) and 24 had miscellaneous abnormalities (34%). A high WBC count (as defined previously) was present in 13 cases, all with B-precursor ALL.

The median time from diagnosis to relapse was 13 months (range, 2-82), with 55% relapsing within 18 months.

Isolated bone marrow relapse was most common (51/71, 72%). Extramedullary relapse at a single site was

seen in five patients: central nervous system (n=3), testes (n=1) and extremities (n=1). Disease recurrence in both bone marrow and an extramedullary site occurred in nine patients: central nervous system (n=3), testes (n=1), mediastinum (n=1), uterus (n=1), lymph nodes (n=2) and base of the skull (n=1).

Overall, allogeneic SCT was performed in 14 patients and autologous SCT in three patients in CR1. This cohort of 17 patients included 13 patients with the pretreatment highrisk factors of high WBC count and/or adverse cytogenetics [t(4;11) or Philadelphia chromosome], two patients with late CR1, one with a complex karyotype and one patient unable to tolerate maintenance therapy.



Table 1. The most commonly used salvage regimens, recommended in national guidelines 2003-2007.

ABCDV		
Cytarabine	3000 mg/m ² b.i.d. every 12 h i.v.	d 1,2,3
Betamethasone	20 mg/m ² oral	d 1,2,3,4,5
Cyclophosphamide	600 mg/m ² i.v.	d 1
Daunorubicin	30 mg/m ² i.v.	d 1,2,3
Vincristine	2 mg i.v.	d 1
FLAG asparaginase		
Fludarabine	30 mg/m ² i.v.	d 1, 2, 3, 4, 5
Cytarabine	2000 mg/m ² i.v.	d 1, 2, 3, 4, 5
PEG asparaginase	500 E/m ² i.v.	d 2, 16
MEA		
Mitoxantrone	12 mg/m ² i.v.	d 1, 2, 3, 4
Etoposide	100 mg/m ² i.v.	d 1, 2, 3, 4
Cytarabine	1000 mg/m ² b.i.d. every 12 h i.v.	d 1, 2, 3, 4

The CR2 rate after the first salvage treatment was 52% (37/71). With additional treatment CR2 was achieved in 70% (50/71) of patients: 11 and two patients received two and three reinduction courses, respectively. Three patients died as a result of toxicity/infection after reinduction without reaching CR2. Gender, immunophenotype, cytogenetics, WBC count at diagnosis, site of relapse and allogeneic SCT performed during CR1 did not significantly influence either the CR2 rate after first salvage or the final CR2 rate. Final achievement of CR2 was negatively influenced by age >35 years at diagnosis (60% versus 86%) (P=0.012), and also by time to relapse <18 months (54% versus 91%) (P=0.001).

The outcomes of the applied salvage regimens and characteristics of the patients treated are presented in Table 3. Both recommended options for early relapsing patients, i.e. MEA and FLAG-Asp, resulted in CR2 in high proportions of patients (67% and 63%, respectively). Reinduction with ABCDV, which was recommended for late-relapsing patients, induced CR2 in 43% of cases after one course, suggesting poorer efficacy than for MEA and FLAG-Asp, although statistically not proven. Other therapy options used as first salvage treatment were: hyper-CVAD (n=2), hyper-CVAD in combination with a tyrosine kinase inhibitor (n=2), a tyrosine kinase inhibitor (n=8), FLAG-idarubicin (n=2), FLAG (n=2), MEA with nelarabine (n=1) or rituximab (n=1), high-dose cytarabine (n=1), combinations of cytarabine and anthracyclines (n=1) or cytarabine and methotrexate (n=1), a combination of radio- and chemotherapy (n=1), and a modified NHL-BFM 90 protocol¹⁶ (n=3). Subsequent treatments in refractory disease were heterogeneous and not reported for all patients. Those used as second-line therapy achieving CR2 were VABA¹⁴ (n=4), a tyrosine kinase inhibitor (n=1), FLAG-Asp (n=4), hyper-CVAD (n=1), and the NHL-BFM 90 protocol (n=1). Effective third-line salvage therapies were hyper-CVAD with gemtuzumab ozogamicin (n=1) and induction according to a pediatric protocol (NOPHO-92)¹⁷ (n=1).

Overall survival after relapse

The median overall survival of the 71 patients receiving intensive chemotherapy was 9 months (range, 0.5-100). The overall survival rate at 1 year was 41% (95% CI: 29-52%), after 3 years it was 22% (95% CI: 13–32%), and the projected 5-year overall survival rate was 15% (95% CI: 7-24%). Eleven patients (15%), all below 35 years of age at diagnosis, are still alive at a median of 5.5 years (range, 4-8.2) after relapse. A majority of the 60 dead patients (n=43, 72%) died of leukemia. Other common causes of death were infection (n=8, 13%) and graft-*versus*-host disease (n=3, 5%).

	All patients N=71				Patients not transplanted in CR1 N-57			
	N.	Univariate analysis HR-OS (95%CI)	N-14	Multivariate ana HR-OS (95%CI)	Ilysis	N.	Multivariate a HR-OS (95%CI)	nalysis
Gender male female	42 29	1.34(0.80-2.24)	P=0.264			34 23		
Age at diagnosis 15-35 35-65	29 42	4.82(2.65-8.78)	<i>P</i> <0.001	3.65(1.83-7.25)	<i>P<</i> 0.001	26 31	3.81(1.70-8.55)	<i>P=</i> 0.001
Immunophenotype T-cell pre-B	13 58	1.51(0.74-3.08)	P=0.257			12 45		
Cytogenetics others adverse *	54 16	2.17(1.20-3.89)	<i>P=</i> 0.01			49 5		
WBC count at diagnosis low high * *	51 13	2.19(1.16-4.14)	<i>P=</i> 0.016			43 8		
Time from diagnosis to relapse >18 months <18 months	32 39	2.89(1.69-4.94)	<i>P<</i> 0.001	2.19(1.19-4.02)	<i>P</i> =0.012	26 31	3.43(1.56-7.58)	<i>P</i> =0.002
Site of relapse * * * extramedullary +/- BM isolated BM	14 52	2.15(1.05-4.41)	<i>P=</i> 0.036	1.67(0.80-3.50)	P=0.174	10 44	3.54(1.26-9.99)	<i>P=</i> 0.017
AlloSCT in CR1 no yes	57 14	1.54(0.84-2.81)	P=0.16					
Treatment after relapse alloSCT in CR2 no alloSCT in CR2 CR2 not achieved	29 21 21	2.28(1.21-4.29) 7.59(3.94-14.62)	P<0.001 P=0.011 P<0.001	1.48(0.74-2.95) 5.60(2.72-11.52)	P<0.001 P=0.265 P<0.001	29 11 17	3.06(1.24-7.54) 4.90(2.22-10.79)	P<0.001 P=0.015 P<0.001

Table 2. Patients' characteristics and treatment factors analyzed by way of univariate and multivariate Cox regression for effects on overall survival.

1(9,22), ((4,11); one missing value (three missing values in TALL were regarded as "other"); ** >30x10⁺/L for BALL and >100x10⁺/L for TALL; seven missing values; ***five missing values. AlloSCT: allogeneic stem cell transplantation.

In order to analyze the influence of CR2 and subsequent allogeneic SCT on overall survival the study population was divided into three groups. Kaplan-Meier survival curves for these groups are shown in Figure 2, with advantageous outcome for patients receiving allogeneic SCT in CR2 (Figure 2, curve A) compared to patients achieving CR2 with no subsequent allogeneic SCT (Figure 2, curve B), and the worst outcome for patients not achieving CR2 (Figure 2, curve C). Three patients from group B died within 119 days of relapse (the median time until allogeneic SCT in CR2). Their causes of death were second relapse of ALL, aspergillosis and complications after a liver biopsy. The difference in overall survival between patients in groups A and B remained statistically significant even when these patients were excluded (*data not shown*).

Along with a failure to achieve CR2 and no allogeneic SCT in CR2, other negative prognostic factors with regards to overall survival in univariate analyses were age >35 years at diagnosis (P<0.001), time to relapse <18 months (P<0.001), adverse cytogenetics (P=0.007), high WBC count (P=0.016) and isolated bone marrow relapse (P=0.036) (Table 2).

In the multivariate model for overall survival the variables cytogenetics and WBC count at diagnosis had to be omitted, as no patients with high-risk features (high WBC count and/or adverse cytogenetics) underwent transplantation in CR2. Five of the 71 patients had missing information on relapse site and these patients were excluded from the multivariate analysis. Age >35 years at diagnosis (P<0.001), time to relapse <18 months (P=0.011) and lack of achievement of CR2 (P<0.001) had significant negative impacts on overall survival after relapse (Table 2).

The patients were divided into four subgroups with differing overall survival rates depending on age and time to relapse: <35 years with relapse after >18 months, <35 years with relapse in <18 months, >35 years with relapse after >18 months, and >35 years with relapse in <18 months (Figure 3). No patients older than 35 years were rescued compared with projected 5-year overall survival rates of 25% (95% CI: 0-50%) and 47% (95% CI: 23-71%) among young adults with relapse in <18 months and after >18 months, respectively.

Patients >35 years old at diagnosis had more high-risk features compared with those <35 years old: adverse cytogenetics (36% *versus* 7%, *P*=0.004) and high WBC counts (32% versus 8%, P=0.017). Isolated bone marrow relapse (86.5% versus 69%, P=0.084) and time to relapse <18 months (64% versus 41%, P=0.056) were also slightly more common in older patients. Fewer patients >35 years old versus <35 years old proceeded to allogeneic SCT in CR2 (24% versus 65.5%, P<0.001).

Outcome in patients who relapsed after allogeneic stem cell transplantation in first complete remission

All patients who relapsed after allogeneic SCT in CR1 (n=14) died at a median of 7 months (range, 1-51) after relapse. As shown in Table 2, their overall survival was not significantly different from that of patients who relapsed and who had not undergone transplantation in CR1 (P=0.16) when analyzed overall. Ten patients carried the Philadephia chromosome and one had t(4;11). The median time between SCT and relapse was 10 months (range, 2-45). Having a transplant from an unrelated donor (7/14) was associated with a longer time to first relapse (P=0.042, log-rank test) and longer overall survival after first relapse (P=0.037, log-rank test) compared with having a transplant from a related donor (7/14). Donor lymphocyte infusions were given to 9/14 patients, in combination with tyrosine kinase inhibitors, chemotherapy or both. Donor lymphocyte infusions had no significant influence on overall survival (log-rank test). One relapsed patient underwent a second allogeneic transplant but died from an early second relapse.

Outcome in patients who did not receive allogeneic stem cell transplantation in first complete remission

The median overall survival of the 57 patients who did not undergo allogeneic SCT in CR1 was 9 months (range, 0.5–99), with 11 patients still alive belonging to this group. Forty (70%) achieved CR2 after the first (n=28), second (n=10) or third (n=2) salvage treatment and 29 (51%) proceeded subsequently to allogeneic SCT from an HLA identical related donor (n=13), a mismatched related donor (n=1), a 10/10 antigen matched unrelated donor (n=7), a mismatched unrelated donor (n=7) and unrelated cord blood (n=1). Myeloablative conditioning (mainly cyclophosphamide/total body irradiation) was used in 25 cases and reduced-intensity conditioning in four cases. The source of stem cells was peripheral blood (n=25), bone marrow (n=2), peripheral blood and bone marrow

Salvage regimen	Complete remission rate	ı 5-year overall survival	Median age (range) years	Proportion of patients older than 35 years	Proportion of patients with CR1 lasting <18 months	AlloSCT in CR1	AlloSCT in CR2
MEA	6/9 67%	11%	45 (22-62)	8/9 89%	4/9 44%	0/9 0%	5/9 56%
FLAG-Asp	10/16 63%	19%	37 (18-65)	7/16 44%	14/16 88%	1/16 6%	8/16 50%
ABCDV	9/21 43%	29%	36 (15-61)	11/21 52%	6/21 29%	1/21 5%	13/21 62%
TKI alone	6/8 75%	0%	43 (21-59)	6/8 75%	6/8 75%	8/8 100%	0/8 0%
Other	6/17 35%	6%	40 (19-62)	10/17 59%	10/17 59%	4/17 24%	3/17 18%

Table 3. Complete remission rates after the first reinduction course and patients' characteristics according to the applied salvage regimens.

Intensive reinduction CT and SCT for relapsed ALL







Figure 3. Overall survival (OS) according to age at diagnosis and time to relapse (TTR).

(n=1) and cord blood (n=1). The median time from relapse to transplantation was 119 days (range, 51-226). The remaining patients (n=23) received chemotherapy only (n=21) or autologous SCT (n=2). Autologous SCT was performed during active disease in one patient who died 31 months later (CR2 was reached after the SCT) and in one patient with isolated testis relapse who is alive after 8 years of follow-up. None of the patients who achieved CR2 but did not proceed to SCT became long-time survivors.

For the eight patients with pretreatment high-risk factors whose treatment did not include SCT in CR1, the outcome was dismal. Their median age was 52 years (range, 22-61) and the median time from diagnosis to relapse was 6 months (range, 2-12). In this cohort of patients all but one had a WBC count of $>30\times10^{\circ}/L$, three had Philadelphia chromosome-positive leukemia, one had t(4;11), one had a complex karyotype and two had tetraploid leukemia; only one patient reached CR2 and their median overall survival was 3.9 months (range, 0.5-7.7).

A projected 5-year overall survival rate of 34% (95% CI: 17-52%) for patients who underwent allogeneic SCT in CR2 compares with 9% (95% CI: 0-26%) for patients who achieved CR2 but were treated without allogeneic SCT, and 0% for those without achievement of CR2. Cox multivariate regression concerning overall survival was performed. Other variables tested in this model were time to relapse, age, and site of relapse (isolated bone marrow versus extramedullary \pm bone marrow), with the results shown in Table 2. A survival advantage for the allogeneic SCT group was found compared with both the group of patients not reaching CR2 (HR 4.90, P<0.001) and those reaching CR2 but not treated with allogeneic SCT (HR 3.06, P=0.015). Along with age >35 years at diagnosis and time to relapse <18 months, isolated bone marrow relapse also had a negative impact on overall survival compared with extramedullary \pm bone marrow relapse (HR 3.54, P=0.017).

Within the cohort of 29 patients who underwent allogeneic SCT in CR2, all ten patients >35 years old at diagnosis were identified as a high-risk group, with all patients dying because of leukemia (5/10), infection (3/10) or graftversus-host disease (2/10) within a median period of 5.5 months (range, 1-18) after transplantation. In comparison, among 19 patients treated with allogeneic SCT who were <35 years old at diagnosis, ten are still alive after a median of 5.5 years (range, 4.2-8.3). Among the patients <35 years at diagnosis, the projected 5-year overall survival rate in allogeneic SCT-treated patients is 53%. The only young patient surviving in the non-allogeneic SCT-treated group underwent autologous transplantation, as mentioned above.

Overall survival was not significantly influenced by type of donor, with projected 5-year overall survival rates of 43% (95% CI: 17-69%) versus 29% (95% CI: 5-52%) for unrelated and related donors, respectively.

Discussion

This study is unique as a population-based survey of adult patients (age <66 years) with relapsed ALL potentially eligible for allogeneic SCT, covering all relapsing patients reported to the Swedish Acute Leukemia Registry during the period from 2003 to 2007. Reinduction protocols used in cases of relapsed ALL lead to CR2 in 0–80% of patients.¹¹ It is, however, extremely difficult to compare their efficacy, as no randomized or population-based studies are available and selection is often present in the populations of patients. Intensified chemotherapy at relapse can increase overall survival.¹⁸ Many protocols involving various combinations of anthracyclines, vincristine, steroids, cyclophosphamide, cytarabine and other cytostatics are available, illustrating the lack of uniform treatment guidelines for relapsed ALL.

Both recommended reinduction protocols for early relapsing patients, MEA and FLAG-Asp, were effective in achieving CR2 in our study, whereas ABCDV, which was used for late relapses, resulted in a somewhat lower CR2 rate. However, no significant differences in CR2 achievement among the applied protocols were observed. Final achievement of CR2 was more likely in younger patients and in cases of late relapse, as reported previously.¹⁰ One could speculate that the MEA and FLAG-Asp regimens might produce at least as good CR2 results if applied in cases of late relapse and thereby be more suitable choices for these patients also. If CR2 is not reached by means of front-line salvage it can be reached via second-line regimens, as we and other groups have shown.

Achieving CR2 is essential with regards to the outcome of allogeneic SCT, as patients undergoing transplantation during active relapse have little chance of long-term survival.^{11,19} Even though no patients became long-time survivors without SCT, achieving CR2 as such can improve survival time, as illustrated in our study. Patients who underwent transplantation in CR1 and who subsequently suffered relapse were beyond rescue, although it is noteworthy that CR2 was reached in a high proportion of Philadelphia chromosome-positive cases after administration of tyrosine kinase inhibitors (Table 3).

Age is an important prognostic factor in adult ALL and a high-risk disease pattern in ALL (adverse cytogenetics, high WBC count) in older patients is well known.⁶ Other factors often contributing to worse outcome in this population are poor performance status and chemotherapyrelated complications. Probably a combination of the above-mentioned factors meant that none of the patients aged over 35 years old at diagnosis became long-term survivors in our study.

There are conflicting data regarding whether or not central nervous system disease, which is the most common extramedullary ALL manifestation, has an adverse effect on survival at diagnosis⁶ and/or relapse.¹⁰⁻¹² In our limited number of patients we found that isolated bone marrow relapse was correlated with shorter overall survival time (at least in the SCT setting) compared with extramedullary disease alone or in combination with bone marrow relapse. This finding needs to be confirmed in other studies but it indicates that allogeneic SCT can be an effective treatment option in CR2 for patients with extramedullary relapse.

Scoring systems and risk-group stratification regarding outcome in cases of ALL relapse based on parameters such as age, duration of CR1, Philadelphia chromosome status, WBC count, blast count and lactate dehydrogenase level have been proposed.¹⁹²⁰ Our results confirm the previously reported, strong prognostic value of age and time to relapse.¹⁰⁴² These factors, together with the effect of allogeneic SCT in CR2, seem to influence the possibility of long-term survival strongly. Since patients with high-risk factors had undergone SCT in CR1 or had been found not eligible or suffered from early relapses prohibiting SCT, a scoring system including pretreatment high-risk factors was not really possible.

Intensive chemotherapy followed by allogeneic SCT is regarded as the optimal treatment strategy for relapsed adult ALL, but usually only a minority of patients (17-30%) are considered éligible for such an approach.10-12 In comparison, the proportion of patients among the intensively treated subjects who underwent allogeneic SCT in CR2 in our study was as high as 41% (51% among those who did not undergo transplantation in CR1), with a high overall survival rate of 38%. Whereas 53% of post-relapse allogeneic SCT patients in the younger age group showed sustained survival, no positive long-term effect was seen among patients >35 years of age at the time of diagnosis. We interpret this apparent lack of success in "older" adults as being partly a result of our low numbers of patients, and also a result of the well-known efficacy and toxicity problems of allogeneic SCT in this age group, in which five of our ten transplanted patients died of infection/graft-versushost disease. Likewise, very few older survivors have been reported in other relapse studies,11,12 but non-myeloablative SCT may be a possible approach in this age group.²¹ Conversely, for young, standard-risk patients, the results of allogeneic SCT after relapse seem good enough to indicate that withholding transplantation in CR1 may be advisable, especially in the era of more effective pediatricbased protocols. When relapses occur in such young patients, an urgent search for a donor should be performed, regardless of the availability of related donors.

It is noteworthy that autologous SCT after relapse can also be effective in selected cases, as exemplified by two of our patients, of whom one is showing sustained survival and the other (SCT without prior CR2 achievement) survived for 3.5 years. In a recently published study, six of 14 relapsed patients who received autologous SCT showed sustained survival.¹⁰ Long-term survival proportions after autologous SCT (15%) and unrelated donor allogeneic SCT (16%) performed as treatment after relapse were comparable in another large study, in which sibling allogeneic SCT was associated with the highest survival rate (23%) and chemotherapy alone with the lowest (4%).¹²

In summary, our results show encouraging long-term survival rates after intensive salvage chemotherapy followed by allogeneic SCT in CR2 for relapsed patients <35 years of age at diagnosis. The overall prognosis after ALL recurrence is, however, still unsatisfactory, with only a minority of adult patients being rescued. Simple riskgroup stratification based on age and time to relapse aid in predicting outcome. MEA and FLAG-Asp seem effective as reinduction therapies, although our small numbers treated preclude solid conclusions. Efforts should continue to identify effective reinduction protocols to increase the number of patients eligible for allogeneic SCT in CR2. However, as regards relapses after allogeneic SCT performed in CR1, and patients >35 years of age at diagnosis, allogeneic SCT in CR2 is often either not achievable or is ineffective at improving survival. Prevention of relapse is essential to improve prognosis, especially in older patients, and new salvage treatments are urgently needed.

1421

Authorship and Disclosures

the full text of this paper at www.haematologica.org.

The information provided by the authors about contributions from persons listed as authors and in acknowledgments is available with Financial and other disclosures provided by the authors using the ICMJE (www.icmje.org) Uniform Format for Disclosure of Competing Interests are also available at www.haematologica.org.

References

- Huguet F, Leguay T, Raffoux E, Thomas X, Beldjord K, Delabesse E, et al. Pediatriinspired herapy in adults with Philadelphia chromosome-negative acute lymphoblastic leukemia: the GRAALI-2003 study. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27(6):911-8.
- Al-Khabori M, Minden MD, Yee KW, Gupta V, Schimmer AD, Schuh AC, et al. Improved survival using an intensive, pediatric-based chemotherapy regimen in adults with T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Leuk Lymphoma. 2010;51(1):61-5.
- Óttmann OG, Pfeifer H. Management of Philadelphia chromosome-positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia (Ph+ ALL). Hematology Am Soc Hematol Educ Program. 2009;371-81.
- 4. Goldstone AH, Richards SM, Lazarus HM, Tallman MS, Buck G, Fielding AK, et al. In adults with standard-risk acute lymphoblastic leukemia, the greatest benefit is achieved from a matched sibling allogeneic transplantation in first complete remission, and an autologous transplantation is less effective than conventional consolidation/maintenance chemotherapy in all patients: final results of the International ALL Trial (MRC UKALL XI/ECOG E2993). Blood. 2008;111 (4):1827-33.
- Bachanova V, Weisdorf D. Unrelated donor allogeneic transplantation for adult acute lymphoblastic leukemia: a review. Bone Marrow Transplant. 2008;41(5):455-64.
- Bartolozzi B, Bosi A, Orsi C. Allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation as part of postremission therapy improves survival for adult patients with high-risk acute lymphoblastic leukemia: a meta-analysis.

- Cancer. 2007;109(2):343; author reply 44.
 7. Rowe JM, Buck G, Burnett AK, Chopra R, Wiernik FH, Richards SM, et al. Induction therapy for adults with acute lymphoblastic leukenia: results of more than 1500 patients from the international ALL trial: MRC UKALL XII/ECOG E2993. Blood. 2005;106 (12):3760-7.
- Faderl S, O'Brien S, Pui CH, Stock W, Wetzler M, Hoelzer D, et al. Adult acute lymphoblastic leukemia: concepts and strategies. Cancer. 2010;116(5):1165-76.
- Goldstone AH, Rowe JM. Transplantation in adult ALL. Hematology Am Soc Hematol Educ Program. 2009;593-601.
- Oriol A, Vives S, Hernandez-Rivas JM, Tormo M, Heras I, Rivas C, et al. Outcome after relapse of acute bymphoblastic leukemia in adult patients included in four consecutive risk-adapted trials by the PETHEMA Study Group. Haematolocica. 2010;95(4):589-96.
- Group. Haematologica. 2010;95(4):589-96.
 11. Tavernier E, Boiron JM, Huguet F, Bradstock K, Vey N, Kovacsovics T, et al. Outcome of treatment after first relapse in adults with acute lymphoblastic leukemia initially treated by the LALA-94 trial. Leukemia. 2007;21(9): 1907-14.
- Fielding AK, Richards SM, Chopra R, Lazarus HM, Litzow MR, Buck G, et al. Outcome of 609 adults after relapse of acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL); an MRC UKALL12/ECOG 2993 study. Blood. 2007; 109(3):944-50.
- Juliusson G, Karlsson K, Hallbook H. Population-based analyses in adult acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood. 2010;116(6): 1011; author reply 12.
- Hallbook H, Simonsson B, Ahlgren T, Bjorkholm M, Cameskog J, Grimfors G, et al. High-dose cytarabine in upfront therapy for adult patients with acute lymphoblastic

leukaemia. Br J Haematol. 2002;118(3):748-54.

- Kantarjian HM, O'Brien S, Smith TL, Cortes J, Giles JJ, Beran M, et al. Results of treatment with hyper-CVAD, a dose-intensive regimen, in adult acute lymphocytic leukemia. J Clin Oncol. 2000;18(3):547-61.
- Hoelzer D, Ludwig WD, Thiel E, Gassmann W, Loffler H, Fonatsch C, et al. Improved outcome in adult B-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood. 1996;87(2): 495-508.
 Hallböök H, Gustafsson G, Smedmyr B,
- 17. Hallböck H, Gustafsson G, Smedmyr B, Söderhäll S, Heyman M; Swedish Adult Acute Tymphocytic Leukemia Group; Swedish Childhood Leukemia Group, Treatment outcome in young adults and children >10 years of age with acute lymphoblastic leukemia in Sweden: a comparison between a pediatric protocol and an adult protocol. Cancer. 2006;107(7):1551-61.
- Camera A, Annino L, Chiurazzi F, Fazi P, Cascavilla N, Fabbiano F, et al. GIMEMA ALL - Rescue 97: a salvage strategy for primary refractory or relapsed adult acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Haematologica. 2004;89(2):145-53.
- Advani Á, Jin T, Bolwell B, Copelan E, Sekeres M, Sobecks R, et al. A prognostic scoring system for adult patients less than 60 years of age with acute lymphoblastic leukemia in first relapse. Leuk Lymphoma. 2009;50(7):1126-31.
- Duval M, Klein JF, He W, Cahn JY, Cairo M, Camitta BM, et al. Hematopoietic stem-cell transplantation for acute leukemia in relapse or primary induction failure. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28(23):3730-8.
- Ribera JM. Allogeneic stem cell transplantation for adult acute lymphoblastic leukemia: when and how. Haematologica. 2011;96(8): 1083-6.

PAPER II

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

High relapse rate of T cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia in adults treated with Hyper-CVAD chemotherapy in Sweden

Piotr Kozlowski¹, Maria Åström¹, Lucia Ahlberg², Per Bernell³, Erik Hulegårdh⁴, Hans Hägglund³, Karin Karlsson⁵, Alicja Markuszewska-Kuczymska⁶, Beata Tomaszewska-Toporska⁵, Bengt Smedmyr⁷, Rose-Marie Amini⁸, Helene Hallböök⁷, For the Swedish Adult ALL Group

¹Hematology Section, Department of Medicine, Örebro University Hospital, Örebro; ²Department of Hematology, University Hospital of Linköping, Linköping; ³Karolinska University Hospital, Stockholm; ⁴Department of Hematology and Coagulation, Sahlgrenska University, Göteborg; ⁵Department of Hematology, Skåne University Hospital, Lund; ⁶Department of Hematology, Cancer Center, University Hospital, Umeå; ⁷Department of Hematology, Uppsala University, Uppsala; ⁸Department of Immunology, Genetics and Pathology, Uppsala University, Uppsala, Sweden

Abstract

Background: Hyper-CVAD is widely used to treat acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL) and aggressive lymphomas. This multicenter, population-based study assessed the efficacy of Hyper-CVAD as first-line therapy in patients with T-cell ALL (T-ALL). *Patients and methods*: Between October 2002 and September 2006, 24 patients were diagnosed with T-ALL in Sweder; 19 were eligible for treatment with the protocol. *Results*: The median age was 32 yr (range 18–72 yr). Complete remission (CR) was obtained in 17 of 19 (89%) patients, and the treatment was relatively well tolerated. Allogeneic stem cell transplantation (SCT) was recommended in high-risk disease and was performed in four patients upfront. Two- and 5-yr leukemia-free survivals (LFS) in 17 patients with CR achievement were identical, at 29% (95% confidence interval [CI]: 8–51). Two- and 5-yr overall survival (OS) in whole cohort was 63% (95% CI: 42–85) and 47% (95% CI: 26–69), respectively. The 5-yr LFS for 15 patients who did not receive allogeneic SCT upfront were 20% (95% CI: 0–40), although 14 of 15 completed the protocol (eight cycles). Relapse occurred in 2 of 4 upfront-transplanted patients and in 12 of 15 patients treated with chemotherapy alone, six of whom received allogeneic SCT in CR2. Age \geq 35 yr influenced OS negatively in univariate analysis (HR 5.1, 95% CI: 1.55–16.7). *Conclusions:* Hyper-CVAD treatment resulted in a high CR rate and appeared safe, but it showed poor efficacy at preventing relapse. Therefore, this treatment is no longer recommended for adults with T-ALL in Sweden.

Key words precursor T-cell lymphoblastic leukemia–lymphoma; antineoplastic combined chemotherapy protocols; stem cell transplantation; treatment outcome

Correspondence Piotr Kozlowski, Department of Medicine, Örebro University Hospital, Örebro 701 85, Sweden. Tel: +46 19 6021000; Fax: +46 19 6024580; e-mail: piotr.kozlowski@orebroll.se

Accepted for publication 13 January 2014

doi:10.1111/ejh.12269

T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia (T-ALL), which constitutes about one-fifth of adult ALL cases, differs in some features from B-ALL; it is characterized by male predominance, tumor growth in the mediastinum, more frequent hyperleukocytosis, central nervous system (CNS) involvement, and lymph node and organ enlargement. The outcome in T-ALL is influenced negatively by hyperleukocytosis, non-thymic phenotype (CD1a-), complex karyotype, female gender, and age >35 yr (1). As in B-ALL, minimal residual disease (MRD) has been shown to be an independent prognostic factor for T-ALL (2). Treatment strategies for T- and B-ALL were very similar in Sweden until 2002 (ABCDV/VABA); this resulted in an inferior 3-yr leukemia-free survival (LFS) for T-ALL compared with B-ALL (25% vs. 38%, respectively) (3). An attempt to optimize T-ALL therapy was made, and Hyper-CVAD (4) was introduced as standard treatment for T-ALL, leaving the recommendation for B-ALL unmodified (ABCDV/VABA). The Hyper-CVAD protocol was recommended for T-ALL from 2002 to 2006 in the national guidelines of the Swedish Adult ALL Group. The decision to recommend this protocol was based on an earlier single-center study (2000) that described favorable outcome after Hyper-CVAD treatment in 24 adult T-ALL patients, with a complete remission (CR) rate of 100%, estimated 5-yr overall survival (OS) of 43%, and estimated 5-yr CR duration of 53% (4). In this study, we prospectively evaluated the efficacy of Hyper-CVAD in a population-based national multicenter T-ALL cohort.

Methods

Patients and treatment

The study cohort consisted of patients prospectively reported to the Swedish Adult Acute Leukemia Registry who were diagnosed with T-ALL between October 2002 and September 2006. The Registry is truly population based; it contains data on patients diagnosed with acute leukemia since 1997, with 98% coverage compared with the Swedish Cancer Registry (5). Missing data were complemented retrospectively. The study was approved by the regional ethical review board in Uppsala (3–520 and 10–258), and the patients gave informed consent in accordance with the ethical approval.

Hyper-CVAD treatment with a total of eight courses (four of each of fractionated cyclophosphamide, vincristine, doxorubicin, and betamethasone alternating with high-dose methotrexate and cytarabine, prophylactic intrathecal methotrexate included) was recommended to all adult (≥18 yr) T-ALL patients without severe comorbidity. Dexamethasone, which was recommended in the original publication (4), was replaced by equivalent doses of betamethasone. G-CSF was recommended between courses to shorten the duration of neutropenia. No upper age limit was stipulated. Allogeneic stem cell transplantation (SCT) was recommended for patients with high-risk T-ALL, defined as disease with hyperleukocytosis [white blood cell (WBC) count > 100×10^{9} /L], CR achievement after >2 courses, or high MRD level measured by flow cytometry ($\geq 1\%$ after the second course or $\geq 0.1\%$ after the third course), as well as relapsed disease (after CR2 achievement). In patients without high-risk factors, maintenance consisted of oral mercaptopurine and methotrexate for 2 yr, as well as the following reinduction courses: daunorubicine, vincristine, and prednisolone every second month (for the first year) and cytarabine, thioguanine, and prednisolone every third month (for the second year). Mediastinal radiotherapy was recommended if residual mediastinal disease was present (if the patient was not a candidate for allogeneic SCT with total body irradiation).

Statistics

OS was calculated from the time of diagnosis to death or last follow-up and LFS from achievement of first remission (CR1) to the time of first relapse, death in CR1, or last follow-up. The chi-squared test was used to compare relapse rates and frequencies of transplantation between age groups. OS and LFS with 95% confidence intervals (95% CI) were estimated by the Kaplan–Meier method complemented with the log-rank test. Univariate Cox regression analyses were also performed to evaluate the effects of relevant covariates on overall survival; hazard ratios (HR) with 95% CI were obtained. Statistical analyses were performed with the IBM SPSS software package, version 21.0 (Armonk, NY, USA).

Results

Patient characteristics

In total, 24 T-ALL patients were diagnosed during the study period, with last follow-up on 25 February 2013. Median follow-up was 93 months (range 77–125 months) for patients who were alive at the end of the study period. Therapy and outcomes are presented in Fig. 1. Four patients were treated with palliative intentions and were excluded from further analysis, as was one patient with a relapse of sarcoma and concomitant secondary T-ALL.

The remaining 19 patients were treated in ten hospitals according to the Hyper-CVAD protocol. Their median age at diagnosis was 32 yr (range 18–72 yr) with 17 of 19 patients (89%) younger than 60 yr. Four were women (21%), and 15 were men (79%). A mediastinal mass was present in 11 patients, CNS involvement in one, and WBC count > 100 × 10⁹/L in one patient. The median blast count in the bone marrow was 85% (range 25–99%). The differentiation stages were defined by flow cytometry in 14 patients as follows: five immature (pro/pre), three cortical/thymic, and six medullary T-ALL. Cytogenetic analysis (16/19 evaluable) revealed two cases with complex karyotype (including one with the MLL fusion gene), nine with other chromosomal

	[T-ALL (N = 24)	
		(N = 19)	Secondary $(N = 4)$
	CR (N = 17)		Refractory (N = 2)
Early relapse (N = 1)	Maintenance (N = 14)	SCT upfront (N = 2)	SCT upfront (N = 2)
	Relapse (N = 11)	Relapse (N = 0)	Relapse (N = 2)
	SCT in CR2 (N = 6) Relapse (N = 3)		

Figure 1 Treatment overview for the 24 patients with T-ALL.
abnormalities, and five with normal karyotypes. There were no cases of hyperdiploidy or t(10;14).

Outcome

CR was obtained in 17 of 19 (89%) patients: after one or two Hyper-CVAD cycles for 15 patients (79%) and after more than two cycles for two patients. In the remaining two patients, CR was achieved after nelarabine therapy and allogeneic SCT, respectively. The disease was assessed as highrisk T-ALL in six patients due to hyperleukocytosis in one patient, a high level of MRD in one patient, no CR in two patients, and late CR achievement in two patients. The median OS (for all 19 patients) was 43 (7–125) months, and LFS (for 17 patients with CR achievement after Hyper-CVAD) was 11 (2–119) months. Two-year and 5-yr LFS were identical: 29% (95% CI: 8–51). The 2 and 5-yr OS was 63% (95% CI: 42–85) and 47% (95% CI: 26–69), respectively.

Allogeneic SCT (sibling donor for three patients and unrelated donor for one patient; myeloablative, total body irradiation containing conditioning) was performed upfront in four patients after 3–5 cycles of chemotherapy (three high-risk, including one with active disease at transplantation, one with CR after nelarabine salvage therapy, and one with standard risk disease with CNS involvement). Two of these patients were long-term survivors at the time of publication, whereas the other two relapsed and died.

The Hyper-CVAD protocol (eight cycles in total) was completed (without significant dose reductions) in 14 of 15 (93%) of the patients who were not transplanted upfront. Three patients had high-risk factors (late CR achievement or high MRD) but did not receive an allogeneic SCT upfront: one patient due to high age (72 yr), two of unknown cause (aged 18 and 25 yr). The median time lapse between initiation of cycles one and eight was 5.7 (range: 4.9-8.5) months, yielding an average of 24 d between cycles. Mediastinal irradiation was given after completion of the Hyper-CVAD protocol to 3 of 11 patients with initial mediastinal involvement. Vincristine caused severe neuropathy in one patient and was withdrawn after the fifth cycle. Other toxicities in single cases included transient liver and kidney function impairment, infections (septicemia, pneumocystis pneumonia, pyomyositis, colitis, and appendicitis), and femoral head avascular necrosis. One patient received only two cycles due to agranulocytosis and invasive candidiasis and experienced a subsequent early relapse. No mortality exclusively related to treatment with Hyper-CVAD was observed.

Five-year LFS and OS for the 15 patients who did not receive allogeneic SCT upfront were 20% (95% CI: 0–40) and 47% (95% CI: 21–72), respectively. Twelve of the 15 patients not transplanted upfront (80%) relapsed after a median of 9 (range 2–23) months from CR1 achievement. Six of the relapsed patients received allogeneic SCT in CR2 Hyper-CVAD in adult T cell ALL

(sibling donor, 1; unrelated donor, 4; cord blood, 1; myeloablative conditioning), with three still alive and in persistent CR2 after >6 yr. The other three died of relapse (n = 2) or transplantation-related toxicity (n = 1). Five-year OS in all relapsed patients (14/19) was 29% (95% CI: 5–52).

Prognostic factors

There was a trend toward shorter LFS in patients \geq 35 yr at diagnosis (n = 6) compared with the younger group (HR 2.7, 95% CI: 0.9–8.3; Fig. 2A). A negative impact of age



Figure 2 Leukemia-free survival (LFS) (A) and overall survival (OS) (B) according to age (<35 or ≥35 yr) in patients treated with Hyper-CVAD.

≥35 yr was, however, more evident with regard to OS (HR 5.1, 95% CI: 1.55-16.7; Fig. 2B). There were no long-term survivors in this older group (n = 7), except for a 72-yr-old man who died after 91 months in CR1, compared with 67% (95% CI: 40-93) OS at 5 yr in 12 younger patients. There was no statistical difference in the relapse rate according to age group [<35 yr old, 7/9 (78%); ≥35 yr old, 5/6 (83%); P = 0.79 by χ^2 test] in the 15 patients not transplanted upfront. Only 1 of 7 (14%) patients aged ≥35 yr was treated with allogeneic SCT (upfront) compared with 9 of 12 (75%) patients <35 yr, of whom three were transplanted upfront and six in CR2 (P = 0.01, χ^2 test). A long time lapse between the initiation of cycles 1 and 3 (median 47 d) had a negative impact on OS (HR 1.05, 95% CI: 1.006-1.09, P = 0.03; time as continuous variable), but not on LFS. No other clinical or laboratory parameters had a significant impact on LFS and OS. Samples for MRD were not consistently collected.

Discussion

To our knowledge, this study is the first population-based report of Hyper-CVAD efficacy in adult T-ALL, although the cohort size was small. Chemotherapy was well tolerated and yielded a high CR rate. Disappointingly, treatment without subsequent SCT did not prevent relapse in the majority of patients, resulting in a 5-yr LFS of 20%. This finding is very similar to that of our previous study in Sweden of AB-CDV/VABA chemotherapy (3), although it is inferior to the previously published single-center long-term results with the Hyper-CVAD regimen in totally 36 T-ALL patients, which showed a 5-yr CR duration rate of 55% (6). However, the 5yr OS is equivalent, with 47% in our study compared with 48% in that report (6). This indicates that our high relapse rate does not reflect an extremely high-risk cohort, as a significant proportion of relapsed patients still had a chemotherapy-sensitive disease, which allowed them to be allocated to allogeneic transplantation in CR2. It is also possible that our high-risk factors were suboptimal and that, for instance, a more stringent use of MRD could have allocated a higher proportion of patients to allogeneic SCT in first remission, which might have been advantageous for the outcome.

T-ALL is a rare disease, and Sweden has relatively few inhabitants, resulting in a small treatment cohort (5). One could speculate as to whether the decentralized organization for ALL treatment might have had a negative effect on treatment results. OS was influenced negatively by long lapses in time between the first and third courses in our investigation, but total time between initiation of the first and eighth courses was similar to that of the original publication describing the Hyper-CVAD protocol (4), indicating an acceptable adherence to the protocol. However, dexamethasone previously showed superior efficacy compared with prednisolone, particularly with regard to reduced risk of CNS relapse (7). Betamethasone has historically been recommended for ALL treatment in Sweden, and the use of betamethasone instead of dexamethasone in the Hyper-CVAD regimen might have influenced the outcome. No mortality due to toxicities from Hyper-CVAD alone is a favorable finding that indicates good tolerability and appropriate supportive care, but it could also indicate that the treatment schedule might be intensified.

Relapse of T-ALL is known to result in extremely poor outcome with only a few survivors (1). In our study, the 5yr OS after relapse was 29%, due to the high frequency of SCT in CR2. This procedure is equally effective for relapsed B- and T-ALL (8,9), but unfortunately none of the relapsed patients \geq 35 yr old in our study reached SCT in CR2. Together with factors related to disease biology and toxicity, this low rate of SCT probably contributed to the impaired OS for older compared with younger patients, as the relapse rate was high for all ages.

The efficacy of upfront allogeneic SCT could not be assessed in our study, as only four patients received this treatment; however, in a previous study (1), having a sibling donor influenced survival positively, which indicates a beneficial role for SCT in CR1. This effect could be even greater for high-risk T-ALL (10,11), but could be weaker for older patients, mainly due to increased transplant-related mortality in patients >40 yr old (12). Intensifying the Hyper-CVAD protocol (13), incorporating nelarabine, and adapting pediatric-like regimens (14) might improve prognosis for patients with adult T-ALL, although in well-defined high-risk cases, upfront allogeneic SCT remains a reasonable option.

To conclude, Hyper-CVAD gave a high CR rate and appeared safe but showed a poor relapse-preventing efficacy and unsatisfactory survival rate in a population-based setting. As a consequence of the results of this study, the Hyper-CVAD treatment is no longer recommended for adult patients with T-ALL in Sweden. In the new guidelines, allogeneic SCT is recommended in all eligible high-risk patients >45 yr old after CR1 achievement (ABCDV/VABA induction). Patients <45 yr old are treated (as are Philadelphia negative B-ALL patients of the same age group) according to the common pediatric and adult Nordic NOPHO 2008 study protocol (15).

References

- Marks DI, Paietta EM, Moorman AV, et al. T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia in adults: clinical features, immunophenotype, cytogenetics, and outcome from the large randomized prospective trial (UKALL XII/ECOG 2993). Blood 2009;114:5136–45.
- Gokbuget N, Kneba M, Raff T, et al. Adult patients with acute lymphoblastic leukemia and molecular failure display a poor prognosis and are candidates for stem cell transplantation and targeted therapies. *Blood* 2012;**120**:1868–76.

- Hallbook H, Simonsson B, Ahlgren T, et al. High-dose cytarabine in upfront therapy for adult patients with acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. Br J Haematol 2002;118:748–54.
- Kantarjian HM, O'Brien S, Smith TL, et al. Results of treatment with Hyper-CVAD, a dose-intensive regimen, in adult acute lymphocytic leukemia. J Clin Oncol 2000;18:547–61.
- Juliusson G, Karlsson K, Hallbook H. Population-based analyses in adult acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Blood* 2010:116:1011: author reply 2.
- Kantarjian H, Thomas D, O'Brien S, et al. Long-term followup results of hyperfractionated cyclophosphamide, vincristine, doxorubicin, and dexamethasone (Hyper-CVAD), a doseintensive regimen, in adult acute lymphocytic leukemia. *Cancer* 2004;101:2788–801.
- Teuffel O, Kuster SP, Hunger SP, Conter V, Hitzler J, Ethier MC, Shah PS, Beyene J, Sung L. Dexamethasone versus prednisone for induction therapy in childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *Leukemia* 2011;25:1232–8.
- Kozlowski P, Astrom M, Ahlberg L, et al. High curability via intensive reinduction chemotherapy and stem cell transplantation in young adults with relapsed acute lymphoblastic leukemia in Sweden 2003-2007. Haematologica 2012;97:1414–21.
- Gokbuget N, Stanze D, Beck J, et al. Outcome of relapsed adult lymphoblastic leukemia depends on response to salvage chemotherapy, prognostic factors, and performance of stem cell transplantation. Blood 2012;120:2032–41.

- Bakr M, Rasheed W, Mohamed SY, et al. Allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation in adolescent and adult patients with high-risk T cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 2012;18:1897–904.
- Shimizu H, Handa H, Hatsumi N, Takada S, Saitoh T, Sakura T, Miyawaki S, Nojima Y. Distinctive disease subgroups according to differentiation stages in adult patients with T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Eur J Haematol* 2013;90: 301–7.
- Goldstone AH, Richards SM, Lazarus HM, et al. In adults with standard-risk acute lymphoblastic leukemia, the greatest benefit is achieved from a matched sibling allogeneic transplantation in first complete remission, and an autologous transplantation is less effective than conventional consolidation/maintenance chemotherapy in all patients: final results of the International ALL Trial (MRC UKALL XII/ECOG E2993). Blood 2008;111:1827–33.
- Faderl S, Thomas DA, O'Brien S, et al. Augmented Hyper-CVAD based on dose-intensified vincristine, dexamethasone, and asparaginase in adult acute lymphoblastic leukemia salvage therapy. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk 2011;11:54–9.
- 14. Ribera JM. Advances in acute lymphoblastic leukemia in adults. *Curr Opin Oncol* 2011;**23**:692–9.
- Toft N, Birgens H, Abrahamsson J, et al. Risk group assignment differs for children and adults 1–45 yr with acute lymphoblastic leukemia treated by the NOPHO ALL-2008 protocol. Eur J Haematol 2013;90:404–12.

PAPER III

SHORT COMMUNICATION

Satisfactory outcome after intensive chemotherapy with pragmatic use of minimal residual disease (MRD) monitoring in older patients with Philadelphia-negative B cell precursor acute lymphoblastic leukaemia: a Swedish registry-based study

Emma Bergfelt¹ · Piotr Kozlowski² · Lucia Ahlberg³ · Erik Hulegårdh⁴ · Hans Hägglund⁵ · Karin Karlsson⁶ · Alicja Markuszewska-Kuczymska⁷ · Beata Tomaszewska-Toporska⁶ · Bengt Smedmyr¹ · Maria Åström² · Rose-Marie Amini⁸ · Heléne Hallböök¹

Received: 9 March 2015/Accepted: 14 March 2015 © Springer Science+Business Media New York 2015

Abstract The introduction of minimal residual disease (MRD) monitoring, in the Swedish national guidelines for acute lymphoblastic leukaemia, was evaluated in 35 patients aged 46–79 years (median 61), who were diagnosed from 2007 to 2011 and treated with high-intensity, block-based chemotherapy (ABCDV/VABA induction). Both a high complete remission rate (91 %) and acceptable overall survival (OS) rate (47 %) at 5 years were achieved. MRD by flow cytometry was measured in 73 % of the patients reaching complete remission after the first course, but was omitted by the clinicians for eight patients who were either over 70 years of age or already met conventional high-risk criteria. Factors negatively influencing

On behalf of the Swedish adult ALL Group, SVALL.

Emma Bergfelt emma.bergfelt@medsci.uu.se

- ¹ Department of Medical Sciences, Haematology, Uppsala University, Uppsala, Sweden
- ² Haematology Section, Department of Medicine, Faculty of Medicine and Health, Örebro University, Örebro, Sweden
- ³ Department of Haematology, University Hospital of Linköping, Linköping, Sweden
- ⁴ Department of Haematology and Coagulation, Sahlgrenska University Hospital, Göteborg, Sweden
- ⁵ Division of Haematology, Department of Medicine Huddinge, Karolinska Institutet, Karolinska University Hospital, Stockholm, Sweden
- ⁶ Department of Haematology, Skåne University Hospital, Lund, Sweden
- ⁷ Department of Haematology, Cancer Center, University Hospital of Umeå, Umeå, Sweden
- ⁸ Department of Immunology, Genetics and Pathology, Uppsala University, Uppsala, Sweden

Published online: 22 March 2015

OS were age over 65 years and WHO status ≥ 2 . MRD < 0.1 % after induction had positive impact on continuous complete remission but not on OS. Only five patients were allocated to allogeneic haematopoietic stem cell transplantation in first remission, mainly due to conventional high risk factors. Thus, use of intensive remission induction therapy is effective in a selection of older patients. In a population for whom the possibilities of treatment escalation are limited, the optimal role of MRD monitoring remains to be determined.

Keywords Acute lymphoblastic leukaemia · Adults · Minimal residual disease · Flow cytometry

Introduction

While substantial advancements have been made in the treatment of paediatric acute lymphoblastic leukaemia (ALL) over the last decades, the prognosis for adult ALL patients is still dismal. Younger adults treated according to paediatric protocols have superior outcome compared with patients over 45 years of age, a majority of whom die of the disease [1]. Minimal residual disease (MRD) observed after remission induction, consolidation, or reoccurrence after haematopoietic stem cell transplantation (hSCT) are recognized as risk factors for relapse and death in both paediatric and adult ALL patients, regardless of type of leukaemia or detection method. However, repeated MRD analyses are expensive and little information is available about the use of MRD outside controlled clinical trials.

In the 2003 national guidelines of the Swedish ALL group, MRD measurement by flow cytometry was introduced for Philadelphia-negative B cell precursor (Ph-BCP) ALL and by PCR for T-ALL. The aim of this study was to evaluate MRD monitoring for Ph-BCP ALL outside of randomized controlled trials in a middle-aged/older population treated in a decentralized national setting, with respect to feasibility, cutoff adequacy, and correlation with treatment outcome.

Materials and methods

Patients over 45 years old who were diagnosed with Ph-BCP ALL between 2007 and 2011 were identified using the Swedish ALL registry. Patients treated according to the high-intensity ABCDV/VABA protocol [2] were included in this study. Baseline characteristics and treatment data were obtained from the registry and supplemented from data collected from patient records. The national guidelines recommended allogeneic hSCT in the presence of conventional high risk (HR) factors [white blood cell count (WBC) > 30×10^{9} /l, t(4;11), late complete morphologic remission (CR) achievement, refractory disease] and/or HR MRD. HR MRD was, at the time, defined as MRD >1 % after remission induction (MRD1), not reaching <0.1 % after consolidation therapy or duplicate MRD measurements >0.1 % after the consolidation courses. Maintenance therapy was recommended for patients with standard risk (SR) leukaemia and patients not eligible for hSCT.

MRD levels were prospectively reported to the ALL registry and, at the time of the study, were confirmed directly with the five laboratories that had performed the analyses. Since 2008, MRD was measured by six-colour flow cytometry, which was then used throughout the study period.

Vital status was obtained through 30 August 2014. The study was approved by the regional ethical committee in Uppsala, Sweden, Dnr 2012/415, in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. Informed consent was obtained.

Statistical analysis

Overall survival (OS) was defined as the time from diagnosis until last follow-up or death. Continuous complete remission (CCR) was defined as the time from morphologic complete remission to relapse, death in remission, or date of last follow-up. The probability of OS and CCR was estimated by the Kaplan–Meier method. The log-rank method was used for comparisons between groups. Confidence intervals (CI) of 95 % were calculated. Analyses were performed using the SPSS package (v.22, IBM).

Results

comprised ABCDV followed by VABA. Cytarabin and daunorubicin doses were reduced for the three patients over 70 years of age. CR was attained for 32 (91%) of the patients (30 after ABCDV, two after VABA). Induction death was 6% within 30 days (2/35). One additional patient received two courses and died without reaching remission, 49 days after start of induction therapy. Eight patients (25%) reached CR but deviated from the protocol because of comorbidity/age (n = 2) or severe infections, such as aspergillosis (n = 4); two died in CR due to complications after 32 and 80 days, respectively, and one more patient died in CR during maintenance. Allogeneic hSCT was performed in five patients in CR1, aged 47–64 years, due to HR factors of t(4;11) (n = 2), WBC (n = 2), or MRD (n = 1).

A total of 30 patients reached CR after induction with ABCDV. MRD1 was measured in 22 of these patients on day 19–26 (Table 1). Due to hypoplastic bone marrow, MRD was not evaluable in two cases. The remaining eight patients without MRD measurements were either over 70 years of age or already met HR criteria.

After the second course of treatment, MRD2 measurements were taken in 17 patients, on day 48–78 from start of the first course, and proved evaluable in 16 (Table 1). One patient met the criteria for the HR group because of persistent MRD.

Seventeen patients (49 %) were in CCR at the time of last follow-up. Six had HR leukaemia, of which three underwent hSCT in CR1. The remaining 11 patients had SR leukaemia, seven with MRD1 < 0.1 %, one with MRD1 > 1 %, and three without MRD measurement (two over 70 years of age, one not evaluable). Fifteen patients relapsed (seven with HR features, including two who had undergone hSCT and four with MRD1 > 0.1 %; eight with SR leukaemia). Five patients received allografts in CR2, but no one became a longterm survivor.

Median follow-up among surviving patients was 71 months. OS and CCR at 5 years were 47 % (95 % CI 30-64 %) and 51 % (95 % CI 33-70 %), respectively. Factors negatively influencing OS were age over 65 years and WHO status ≥ 2 (Table 2). OS did not differ significantly between patients with MRD1 > 0.1 % and <0.1 % nor between the SR and HR group, according to our protocol. MRD1 < 0.1 % showed positive impact on CCR, especially in the absence of conventional HR factors (Table 2).

Discussion

In the present study, we document a 47 % overall survival rate 5 years after ALL diagnosis in a nationwide older cohort. The selection of patients eligible for intensive

Table 1 Clinical and treatment characteristics	Patient characteristics					
	Patients included, n	35				
	Male/female, n	12/23 (34 %/66 %)				
	Median age, years	61 (range 46-79)				
	Previous chemotherapy*	2 (6 %)				
	Previous radiation therapy*	3 (9 %)				
	Previous haematologic diagnosis	2 (6 %)				
	PCR or FISH for t(9;22) performed and negative	34 (97 %)				
	<i>t</i> (4;11), <i>n</i>	4 (11 %)				
	WBC > $30 \ge 10^{9}/1$, n	9 (26 %)				
	CNS leukaemia, n	1 (3 %)				
	Allogeneic stem cell transplantation					
	in CR1/CR2, n	5/5 (14 %/14 %)				
	Response to treatment, $n = 35$					
	CR after first course/second, n	30/2 (86 %/6 %)				
	MRD1-evaluation, $n = 30^{**}$					
	MRD1 measured, n	22 (73 %)				
	Evaluable, n	20/22 (91 %)				
	MRD1, evaluable, $n = 20^{**}$					
	MRD1 not detectable (<0.1 or <0.01 %), n	8 (40 %)				
	MRD1 detectable 0.01-0.099 %, n	5 (25 %)				
	MRD1 detectable 0.1-0.09 %, n	2 (10 %)				
	MRD1 detectable >1 %, n	5 (25 %)				
	MRD2, evaluable, $n = 16$					
	MRD2 not detectable (<0.1 or <0.01 %), n	13 (81 %)				
	MRD2 detectable 0.01-0.099 %	2 (13 %)				
	MRD2 detectable 0.1-0.09 %	1 (6 %)				

* Therapy given for previous cancer

** Only including patients with morphological CR after first induction

Table 2	Factors	affecting	OS	and (CCR
---------	---------	-----------	----	-------	-----

	OS			CCR		
	n (%)	5 years OS (95 % CI)	Р	n	5 years CCR (95 % CI)	Р
Age < 65	25 (71)	59 (39–79) %	0.01	24	58 (37–79) %	0.01
Age > 65	10 (29)	20 (0-45) %		8	29 (0-62) %	
WHO 0-1	27 (77)	55 (36-74) %	0.04	26	53 (33-74) %	NS
WHO ≥ 2	8 (23)	25 (0-55) %		6	40 (0-83) %	
HR according to protocol*	15 (43)	47 (21-72) %	NS	13	40 (11-67) %	NS
SR according to protocol	20 (57)	49 (27–71) %		19	59 (19-75) %	
MRD1 > 0.1 % after ABCDV	7 (35)	54 (14-93) %	NS	7	43 (6-80) %	0.05
MRD1 < 0.1 % after ABCDV	13 (65)	69 (44–94) %		13	83 (62-100) %	
HR according to protocol and/or MRD1 ≥ 0.1	20 (71)	43 (20-66) %	NS	18	40 (16-64) %	0.04
SR including MRD1 < 0.1**	8 (29)	75 (45–100) %		8	87 (65–100) %	

* Refractory: n = 2, late CR: n = 2, WBC count over 30×10^9 /l: n = 9, t(4;11): n = 4, high-risk MRD: n = 1. Two patients had more than one HR factor

** Omitting seven patients regarded as SR according to the protocol but who did not have MRD1 measurement

Deringer

chemotherapy was made by clinicians in daily practise and likely has influenced these results. Nevertheless, the high remission frequency (91 %) and long-term survival of almost half of the patients are encouraging, considering the high median age of this cohort. Rates of induction death and death in CR were acceptable; however, only 75 % of the patients who reached CR could complete consolidation therapy as the protocol recommends, due to comorbidity and toxicity. This observation illustrates the necessity of treatment adjustment in older patients, and the need for further studies in this population [3].

The prognostic value of MRD in this cohort cannot be thoroughly evaluated because of the limited number of patients. However, the excellent CCR observed in patients with low MRD is promising, and it supports the utility of MRD measurements in making treatment decisions in an older population. MRD < 0.1 %, as measured by flow cytometry approximately 25 days after the start of induction, seems to be an adequate level in this setting. This limit is lower than in the current Swedish guidelines, which will be revised accordingly. From a health-economic perspective, we noted that assessment of MRD was performed judiciously, that is, only when the results would influence further treatment.

Use of MRD as a treatment-escalating tool is established, but the measurement timepoint and discrimination level vary among children, adults, and B cell- and T cellderived leukaemias [4–8]. Furthermore, the two alternative methods of MRD detection, PCR and flow cytometry, have various advantages and disadvantages [9]. Additional studies and new diagnostic methods such as next-generation sequencing may improve the prognostic stratification, including MRD, in older patients as well as younger patients [10].

The cost-effectiveness of using MRD as a tool for treatment escalation could be questioned in a population that is not eligible for hSCT. However, one could hypothesize that a high MRD after remission induction, along with conventional HR factors, could serve as a signal for transition to less toxic regimens and palliative care.

We conclude that the ABCDV-based regimen is both feasible and effective in a selected fraction of older ALL patients. We also find that MRD is used in a pragmatic way in a decentralized setting in Sweden. However, we still lack knowledge about how to most optimally treat older patients with regard to overall survival, time spent in hospital, quality of life, and economic costs. Additional populationbased and randomized interventional studies will be necessary to determine the value of intensive treatment in the older ALL patient.

Acknowledgments The Swedish adult ALL group would like to thank Ann-Sofi Hörstedt and Hanna Åberg, Regionalt Cancer Centrum, Lund; Linda Fogelstrand, MD, PhD, Sahlgrenska University Hospital, Göteborg; Professor Göran Roos, Umeå University Hospital; Fredrik Ellin, MD, Kalmar County Hospital; Ylva Hammarlund, MD, Falun County Hospital; Michael Karlsson, Växjö County Hospital; Andréas Asplund, MD, Östersund County Hospital; Mattias Mattson, MD, Karlstad County Hospital; Jonas Wallwik, MD, Sundsvall County Hospital; Maria Eckerrot, MD, Västerås County Hospital; Christina Rhedin, MD, Borås County Hospital; Björn Andréasson, MD, Uddevalla County Hospital; and Nevzetta Kuric, MD, Halmstad County Hospital. The research was supported by the Lions Cancer Research Foundation, Uppsala (HH).

Conflict of interest None.

Ethical standard All procedures performed in studies involving human participants were in accordance with the ethical standards of the institutional and/or national research committee and with the 1964 Declaration of Helsinki and its later amendments or comparable ethical standards.

References

- Huguet F, Leguay T, Raffoux E, Thomas X, Beldjord K, Delabesse E, et al. Pediatric-inspired therapy in adults with Philadelphia chromosome-negative acute lymphoblastic leukemia: the GRAALL-2003 study. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27(6):911–8. doi:10.1200/jco.2008.18.6916.
- Hallböök H, Simonsson B, Ahlgren T, Björkholm M, Carneskog J, Grinnfors G, et al. High-dose cytarabine in upfront therapy for adult patients with acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. Br J Haematol. 2002;118(3):748–54.
- Gökbuget N. How I treat older patients with ALL. Blood. 2013;122(8):1366–75. doi:10.1182/blood-2012-07-379016.
- Holowiecki J, Krawczyk-Kulis M, Giebel S, Jagoda K, Stella-Holowiecka B, Piatkowska-Jakubas B, et al. Status of minimal residual disease after induction predicts outcome in both standard and high-risk Ph-negative adult acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. The Polish Adult Leukemia Group ALL 4-2002 MRD Study. Br J Haematol. 2008;142(2):227–37. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2141.2008. 07185.x.
- Patel B, Rai L, Buck G, Richards SM, Mortuza Y, Mitchell W, et al. Minimal residual disease is a significant predictor of treatment failure in non T-lineage adult acute lymphoblastic leukaemia: Final results of the international trial UKALL XII/ ECOG2993. Br J Haematol. 2010;148(1):80–9. doi:10.1111/j. 1365-2141.2009.07941.x.
- Gokbuget N, Kneba M, Raff T, Trautmann H, Bartram CR, Arnold R, et al. Adult patients with acute lymphoblastic leukemia and molecular failure display a poor prognosis and are candidates for stem cell transplantation and targeted therapies. Blood. 2012;120(9):1868–76. doi:10.1182/blood-2011-09-377713.
- Beldjord K, Chevret S, Asnafi V, Huguet F, Boulland ML, Leguay T, et al. Oncogenetics and minimal residual disease are independent outcome predictors in adult patients with acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood. 2014;123(24):3739–49. doi:10. 1182/blood-2014-01-547695.
- Fossat C, Roussel M, Arnoux I, Asnafi V, Brouzes C, Garnache-Ottou F, et al. Methodological aspects of minimal residual disease assessment by flow cytometry in acute lymphoblastic leukemia: A French multicenter study. Cytom Part B Clin Cytom. 2015;88(1):21–9. doi:10.1002/cyto.b.21195.
- Bruggemann M, Schrauder A, Raff T, Pfeifer H, Dworzak M, Ottmann OG, et al. Standardized MRD quantification in European ALL trials: proceedings of the Second International

Symposium on MRD assessment in Kiel, Germany, 18–20 September 2008. Leukemia. 2010;24(3):521–35. doi:10.1038/leu. 2009.268.

 Ladetto M, Bruggemann M, Monitillo L, Ferrero S, Pepin F, Drandi D, et al. Next-generation sequencing and real-time quantitative PCR for minimal residual disease detection in B-cell disorders. Leukemia. 2014;28(6):1299–307. doi:10.1038/leu. 2013.375.

PAPER IV

Age but not Philadelphia positivity impairs outcome in older/elderly patients with Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia in the Swedish population

Piotr Kozlowski¹, Emma Bergfelt², Lucia Ahlberg³, Per Bernell⁴, Erik Hulegårdh⁵, Holger Karbach⁶, Karin Karlsson⁷, Beata Tomaszewska-Toporska⁷, Maria Åström¹, Heléne Hallböök² On behalf of the Swedish Adult Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia Group (SVALL).

¹Hematology Section, Dept of Medicine, Faculty of Medicine and Health, Örebro University, Örebro;
²Hematology, Dept of Medical Sciences, Uppsala University, Uppsala; ³Dept of Hematology, University Hospital of Linköping, Linköping; ⁴Div of Hematology, Dept of Medicine, Karolinska Institutet, Karolinska University Hospital, Stockholm; ⁵Dept of Hematology and Coagulation, Sahlgrenska University Hospital, Göteborg; ⁶Dept of Hematology, Cancer Center, University Hospital of Umeå, Umeå; ⁷Dept of Hematology, Skåne University Hospital, Lund

ABSTRACT

Few older/elderly patients with Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia (ALL) are included in clinical trials. Based on data from the Swedish leukemia registries and the medical records for patients aged 55-85 years (y) diagnosed 2005-2012, we investigated the disease/patient characteristics, choice of treatment, and outcome in this population based cohort, and examined if survival had improved with the introduction of an age-adapted protocol from 2009. Among 174 patients, 81% had B-ALL, 11% Burkitt leukemia (excluded from further analysis), and 7% T-ALL. The frequency of Philadelphia chromosome positivity (Ph+) among 155 B- and T-ALL patients was 35% (found only in B-ALL). The majority, 124/155 (80%) patients (median age 65y, range: 55-82), were treated with intensive protocols (+ tyrosine kinase inhibitor in all 42 with Ph+) and 31 (median age 79y, range: 55-85) with palliative intention. Higher age and performance status ≥ 2 were factors for the choice of palliation. Intensive, palliative and both treatments resulted in the complete remission rate of 83/16/70% and 3y overall survival (OS) of 32/3/26%. The introduction of an age-adapted protocol did not improve OS. In the intensively treated cohort, platelet count $\leq 35 \times 10^9$ /L and age ≥ 75 y were negative prognostic factors for OS in a multivariate analysis, but not Ph+. Males had impaired OS in the 55-64y group. In conclusion, we confirm a high frequency of Ph+ ALL in older/elderly patients, with a non-inferior outcome compared to Ph-ALL. However, overall prognosis of ALL in the elderly remains mostly dismal despite use of intensive, including age-adapted, treatments.

INTRODUCTION

Acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL) is a highly proliferative blood malignancy, treated with complex and intense chemotherapy protocols with improving results in children and young adults over the last decades. Survival has not improved in patients >70 years (y) and improved only modestly in those aged 60-70 y.¹ In studies with intensive chemotherapy, elderly patients had inferior complete remission (CR) rate, overall survival (OS), and disease free survival (DFS) compared with younger adults.²⁻⁴ This is partly explained by comorbidities, poor performance status at diagnosis, toxicity, need for dose reductions, and a higher proportion of adverse risk cytogenetics including Philadelphia chromosome positivity (Ph+).^{2,4-8} The latter has historically been recognized as a high-risk factor, but its impact on outcome in elderly patients has declined since the introduction of tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKI).⁵ Due to the poor outcome for patients >55y according to the Swedish ALL registry ⁹, and based on the promising results of the European Working Group on Adult ALL (EWALL) backbone¹⁰, this age-adapted protocol +/- TKI was introduced in Sweden for elderly (and older unfit) patients as of October 2009.

By using the Swedish Acute Leukemia Registry/ALL Registry, we performed a population based study in order to assess different therapy strategies in patients 55-85y treated for ALL 2005-2012 according to the Swedish national guidelines. We hypothesized that the outcome had improved after October 2009. The aim was also, in this unselected population, to investigate the disease and patient characteristics in relation to age, clinician treatment choice, and outcome.

PATIENTS AND METHODS

Every Swedish citizen has a unique social security number which enables disease surveillance in population-based registries. Patients are reported to the Swedish ALL Registry by their treating physician. As previously described, the coverage of the leukemia registries compared to the compulsory Swedish Cancer Registry has been 98%.⁹ In this study, patients were identified through the ALL registry and additionally through the Swedish Cause of Death Registry. Vital status was obtained through 30th of June 2015. The study was approved by the Regional Ethical Review Board in Uppsala/Sweden (2014/063) in accordance with the declaration of Helsinki, including informed consent from the patients.

Data collection

Clinical and laboratory data along with pathology and genetic reports were verified from medical records by P.K and E.B. Registry data were supplemented regarding co-morbidities, treatment description, and toxicity. The diagnoses were verified by morphology reports, immunophenotype and genetics according to the World Health Organization (WHO) Classification of 2005.¹¹ In the case of

Burkitt leukemia, t(8;14), *C-MYC* rearrangement [by fluorescence in situ hybridization (FISH) or immunohistochemistry] or typical immunophenotype was verified. Cytogenetic classification was based on G-banding analysis and considered normal when \geq 20 normal metaphases were analyzed. Ph+ ALL diagnosis was based on t(9;22), *BCR-ABL* detection by G-banding and /or FISH and/or reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR), and *MLL* rearrangement by the presence of t(4;11) or FISH for 11q23 (regardless of fusion-partner). Bulky disease was defined as a lymph node conglomerate >10 cm or a mediastinal mass larger than 1/3 of the thoracic diameter. CNS-leukemia was diagnosed if blasts in cerebrospinal fluid and/or radiological findings of CNS-involvement were present.

Performance status (PS) at diagnosis was reported according to the WHO classification.¹² The comorbidity component (CC) from the adjusted Charlson Comorbidity Index was estimated retrospectively.¹³ The ALL diagnosis was not included in the score. The number of drugs (including inhaled therapy) was counted from medical records at the first admission. Treatment adjustments were considered in specific regimens if a dose was reduced by >25% or a drug was omitted. The only hematologic toxicity registered was time from start of first treatment (pre-phase treatment included) to the neutrophilic recovery (>0.5x10⁹/L for three consecutive days). Proven or probable invasive fungal and pneumocystis jiroveci infections were noted. Septicemia was reported when a clinical infection was documented and bacteria detected in one blood culture (two cultures in the case of coagulase negative staphylococci).

Renal- and hepatic failure of grade III-IV (Common Terminology Criteria of Adverse Events)¹⁴, heart failure, enterocolitis, mucositis, and neuropathy of grade III-IV influencing protocol adherence were reported. Pancreatitis and thrombosis were recorded if observed. Toxicity was assessed from initiation until start of maintenance therapy or allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (hSCT) with the exception of osteonecrosis and neuropathy recorded throughout the whole follow up period. CR was defined as morphologic complete remission, with less than five percent blasts in the bone marrow (BM) and absence of extramedullary disease. Minimal Residual Disease (MRD) was measured by flow cytometry in B-ALL, RT-PCR in Ph+ ALL or PCR of T-cell receptor rearrangement in T-ALL.

Treatment and risk classification

National guidelines for treatment of patients older than 55y with the two main protocols (ABCDV¹⁵ and EWALL-backbone) are presented in supplemental Table S1 and S2, respectively. Allogeneic hSCT in CR1 was recommended in fit patients mainly up to 65y fulfilling at least one of the following high-risk criteria: white blood cells (WBC) >30 x10⁹/L in B-ALL or >100 x10⁹/L in T-ALL, Ph+ disease, *MLL* rearrangement, CR achievement after more than one course (two courses if T-ALL treated with hyper-CVAD), MRD >1% after remission induction, increasing MRD levels or not reaching <0.1% after consolidation therapy. From 2009, T-cell phenotype was regarded as high-risk feature. Decisions on

PAPER IN

conditioning regimens, donor type and graft-versus-host prophylaxis were made by transplantation centers at their own discretion. The extent of human leukocyte antigen (HLA)-match (full/mismatch) was not scrutinized. Viral-, bacterial-, and fungal prophylaxis were given according to local routine.

Statistical methods

For categorical data differences in proportions were compared with the Chi-square or two-tailed Fischer's exact test when appropriate. Continuous variables were compared with Mann-Whitney U test. OS was calculated from diagnosis to death or date of last follow up. Event-free survival (EFS) was estimated from diagnosis to relapse, death or last follow up in CR. Event was considered on day one for patients who died without CR evaluation or because of refractory disease. Distributions of OS and EFS were estimated by the Kaplan-Meier method and differences analyzed using the log-rank test. In addition, univariate and multivariate Cox regression analyses were performed to evaluate the effects [calculating hazard ratio (HR)] of relevant covariates on OS and EFS. Association of CR achievement with different variables was evaluated by logistic regression estimating odds ratio (OR). Cut-off points providing the most significant discrimination for OS were used for continuous variables when converted to dichotomous. Statistical tests were used with an alfa-significance level of 5% and 95% confidence intervals. No adjustment of multiplicity was performed and *P* values should be interpreted as explorative. The IBM SPSS software package, version 23.0 (Armonk, NY, USA) was used.

RESULTS

Patients and treatments in the population based ALL cohort

A total of 183 patients were identified through the ALL-registry. Eleven patients were excluded [ten because of diagnosis misclassification (5%) and one because of withdrawn consent]. Additionally, two patients with ALL were identified through the Swedish Cause of Death Registry giving a coverage reaching 99% for B- and T-ALL. Among 174 patients, B-ALL was the most common phenotype (81%), followed by Burkitt leukemia (11%) and T-ALL (7%). The median age for the respective ALL subtype was: 67, 73 and 70.5y. Patients with Burkitt leukemia were excluded from further analysis as being a separate entity according to the WHO 2005 classification. Characteristics of the final study cohort of 155 patients are presented in Table 1. The male/female distribution was equal except that T-ALL was more common in males [10/72 (14%)] compared to females [2/83 (2%); P = 0.01]. Bulky disease was documented in one and mediastinal mass in two patients. Cytogenetic abnormalities are summarized in Table 1. G-band karyotyping, and FISH or PCR for at least *BCR-ABL*, were performed and evaluable for 140/155 (90%) of the cohort. Ph+ ALL was diagnosed in 49/132 (37%) of the B-ALL cohort. The vast majority of patients were treated with intensive (remission inducing) protocols (Table 1). Median age in the cohort was lower compared with those treated with a palliative approach (P < 0.001). The most common comorbidities were diabetes 16/123 (13%) and history of myocardial infarction 12/123

(10%). The proportions of patients with PS ≥ 2 and CC ≥ 1 were significantly higher in those receiving palliation (P < 0.001 and 0.005), as also for comorbidities ≥ 2 and median number of drugs (Table 1). CC was used in further analyses for comorbidity assessment. In multivariate analysis (PS, CC, age; logistic regression), only age (as continuous variable) and proportion of patients with PS ≥ 2 remained significantly different between the intensive and palliative cohort (P < 0.001 and < 0.05, respectively). CR was reached in 108/155 (70%) in the entire B- and T-ALL cohort, and one and 3 year OS were 50% (95%CI: 42, 58) and 26% (95%CI: 20, 33) respectively.

Patients with B- and T-ALL treated with remission intention

Treatment characteristics

Remission inducing therapy was given to 124 patients aged 55-82y. Characteristics of patients and treatments given in three age groups are presented in Table 2. Patients receiving EWALL-backbone +/- TKI (n = 35) were older than those treated with ABCDV +/- TKI (n = 79) [median age of 69y (range 62-82) and 63y (range: 55-79) respectively; P < 0.001]. Treatment was modified in equal proportions of patients for both protocols, 12/35 (34%) and 27/79 (34%) respectively. Totally 12/35 (34%) of patients completed EWALL-backbone and 48/79 (61%) the ABCDV protocol. Of the 10 remaining patients, five received hyper-CVAD ¹⁶ and four remission induction with daunorubicin/cytarabine (DA) due to initial misclassification as Acute Myeloid Leukemia (AML). One patient received pre-phase treatment only and died before induction was started. All 42 patients with Ph+ disease (and one with Ph-) started with TKI at induction (41 imatinib and two dasatinib) according to EWALL (n = 12), ABCDV (n = 29), hyper-CVAD (n = 1) and DA (n = 1).

Remission rate and survival for all patients

The proportion of patients achieving CR (83%) was not influenced by age analyzed as continuous variable (OR 0.95, 95%CI: 0.89, 1.03; P = 0.20), but was significantly lower in the oldest as compared to youngest age group (P = 0.03, Table 2). CR frequency was slightly higher in Ph+ ALL (93% vs. 80%; P = 0.07). No other factors influenced probability of CR achievement (data not shown). Median survival was 16 months (range 0-126). OS was 59% (95%CI: 50, 67) after one and estimated to 32% (95%CI: 24, 40) after 3 years. EFS was 47% (95%CI: 38, 56) and 25% (95%CI: 17, 33), respectively. Median follow-up of survivors was 74 (33-126) months. Of the patients treated with remission intention, 96/124 (77%) died during follow up. Causes of death were: early death (ED; within 60 days) in 18/124 (15%) patients (four in CR, two with refractory disease), relapse in 56 (45%), transplant-related mortality (TRM) in 9 (7%; eight after hSCT in CR1 and one in CR2), refractory disease in five (4%), secondary AML in two, late induction treatment complication in one. Five (4%) patients died later on in remission. The only factor associated with ED was PS \geq 2 at diagnosis [7 of 26 (27%) vs. 11 of 97 patients (11%) with PS <2; P = 0.046].

Outcome according to treatment protocol (EWALL/ABCDV+/-TKI):

All patients

Induction according to EWALL-backbone resulted in CR in 25 of 35 (71%) patients, and ABCDV in 70 of 79 (89%; in seven after \geq 2 courses). ED occurred in 20% and 13% of the patients respectively. One and 3 year OS in the cohort treated with EWALL-backbone was: 49% (95%CI: 32, 65) and 20% (95%CI: 7, 33) respectively, and with the ABCDV protocol: 63% (95%CI: 53, 74) and 39% (95%CI: 28, 50).

Patients aged 65-74y

A shift from ABCDV before October 2009 (22/31, 71%) to the EWALL-backbone in the later period (19/22, 86%) occurred in the 65-74 age group (P < 0.001) as a consequence of the new guidelines, and approximately the same proportion of patients had received treatment by the respective protocol at the end of the study period (Table 2). Median age was 69y for each protocol. Proportion of patients with PS \geq 2 (16 vs 25%) and CC \geq 1 (44 vs 50%) did not differ significantly between EWALL-backbone and ABCDV. CR was achieved in 18/25 (72%) after EWALL induction and 21/24 after ABCDV (88%; P = 0.18). Neither ED-rate (20% vs 21%) nor OS differed between protocols in this age group (Figure 1).

Toxicity:

All patients

The proportion of patients affected by toxicity (displayed in Table 2) did not differ significantly among three age groups with exception of kidney failure which was more common in patients aged $\geq 65y$. The frequency of probable or proven invasive fungal infection was higher in patients with diabetes as compared to those without [7/16 (44%) vs. 15/106 (14%); P = 0.004]. Invasive candidiasis (with positive blood cultures) was diagnosed in 4 patients, aspergillosis in 4 and the agent was unknown in 14. No case of pancreatitis was recorded. Median time to neutrophil recovery was 23 days from start of chemotherapy in patients reaching CR.

According to protocol (EWALL/ABCDV+/-TKI)

Serious infections (mainly septicemia) during induction/consolidation were more common in ABCDV as compared to EWALL-backbone treated patients [69/79 (87%) vs. 23/35 (66%); P = 0.007], and pneumocystis jiroveci pneumonia occurred only in the former cohort. Median time to neutrophil recovery was equal for both protocols (ABCDV-23 vs. EWALL-24 days; P = 0.3) despite more common use of G-CSF in the latter [34/73 (47%) vs. 31/32 (97%); P < 0.001]. Serious toxicity of TKI (leading to transition to another TKI or long-lasting intermissions) was less frequent in EWALL-backbone compared to ABCDV [1/12 (8%) vs. 13/29 (45%), P = 0.03] but did not differ among the three age groups (P = 0.64).

Allogeneic hSCT in CR1

Allogeneic hSCT was performed in 20 of 103 (19%) patients in first remission (10 males and 10 females) after ABCDV (n = 17) and hyper-CVAD (n = 3) treatment. Median age was 60y (range 55-66). High-risk disease according to guidelines was considered in 19 patients due to: Ph+ (n = 14), T-ALL (n = 1), high WBC at diagnosis (n = 3, as only high-risk criterion), late remission (n = 1), and high MRD (n = 1). Donors were HLA-identical siblings (n = 10) or matched unrelated (n = 10). Peripheral blood as stem cell source was used in all but one patient. Reduced-intensity conditioning [fludarabine-based including total body irradiation (TBI) in five patients] was given to 13 patients and myeloablative to the remaining seven (mainly cyclophosphamide and TBI). Three year OS and EFS were 40% (95%CI: 18, 62) and 25% (95%CI: 6, 44). OS in men was impaired (P = 0.05), as well as EFS (P=0.04), despite lower median age 57.5 vs. 62y in women (P = 0.04). Transplanted patients died mainly because of TRM (8/20) and relapse (6/20). OS in 14 transplanted Ph+ patients was not different from all non-transplanted Ph+ (receiving palliative treatment included) (Figure 2).

Prognostic factors

Univariate analysis of prognostic factors for OS is demonstrated in Table 3. Significant/borderline significant factors from univariate analysis (Table 3) were included in a multivariate model which revealed age \geq 75 (Fig 3A) and PLT \leq 35x10⁹/l as negative prognostic factors for OS (Table 3) and EFS (data not shown). No impact on survival was observed for: Ph+, PS, CC \geq 2. When analyzing three age groups versus Ph status, age negatively influenced OS in Ph- but not as clearly in Ph+ ALL, as presented in Figure 3B-C.

EFS (not shown) and OS were significantly impaired in males in the youngest age group (Figure 4), even though thrombocytopenia (PLT $<35x10^{9}/1$) was more common in females in this age group [39/67 (58%) vs. 20/57 (35%); P = 0.01].

MRD analysis after remission induction was performed in only 55 of 94 patients achieving CR (13 after EWALL induction, 39 after ABCDV, and three after other protocols). Detectable MRD1 (>0.1%) neither had impact on OS nor EFS.

Outcome before and after the introduction of new guidelines

In total, 92 of 155 (59%) patients with B- and T-ALL were diagnosed before and 63 of 155 (41%) after October 2009. The proportion of patients treated with remission intention was equal in both periods [74/92 (80%) vs. 50/63 (79%)]. Median age was 64y and 67y (P = 0.1), respectively. There was no significant difference in previously defined prognostic factors (data not shown) between the two periods. Of 124 intensively treated patients, 115 (93%) started treatment according to the contemporary guidelines. EWALL-backbone was applied to 6/74 (8%) patients before October 2009 and 29/50 (58%) after (P < 0.001). Neither OS nor EFS differed between periods in the whole cohort or in the three age groups (not shown).

Palliation

Characteristics of 31 patients are shown in Table 1. Of them 17 (55%) received more intense palliative treatment: modified (heavily reduced) induction according to ABCDV (n = 2) or EWALL (n = 1), COP/CHOP [n = 9: with rituximab (n = 1) or with TKI (n = 2)], VAD (n = 2; with TKI n = 1), vincristine/thioguanine/cortisone combination (n = 1) or cortisone/TKI combination (n = 2). Five of 17 (29%) achieved CR. Less intensive palliation (14/31) consisted of: oral cyclophosphamide/cortisone (n = 1), thioguanine/cortisone (n = 1), cortisone alone (n = 2), hydroxyurea (n = 1) or no specific antileukemic therapy (n = 9). OS after one and three years was 13% (95%CI%: 1, 25) and 3% (95%CI: 0, 9). OS was not significantly impaired in the oldest age group (75-85y) given palliation (n = 23) as compared to the 12 patients (75-82y) receiving remission induction therapy (P = 0.12).

DISCUSSION

We present a truly population based study of Swedish older/elderly ALL patients. Disease characteristics, with low T-ALL-, bulky disease- and high Ph+ incidence compared to younger adults, were similar to other studies.^{2,4-8} As regards therapy, the national guidelines were followed to a large extent. The decision to refrain from intensive treatment appeared to be based mainly on age and PS, and a minority of patients \geq 75y received remission induction compared to over 90% of those <75y old.

Complete remission rate (83%) was at least as high as compared to other protocols (34-84%) ^{2,3,5-8,17}, having in mind the population-based character of our study. The drawback was the high early mortality (15%), even if the frequency reported by others is comparable (11-34%).^{2,4-8} The 3y OS was similar to other ALL studies including older/elderly patients.^{4,5} Toxicity, especially infectious, was high in previous reports.^{2,4,17} A new finding was the increased frequency of invasive fungal infections in diabetic patients. This could indicate the need for broad spectrum antimycotic prophylaxis in this group. ALL recurrence was the main cause of death, as found also by others^{2,4,5,7}, suggesting need of intensification during consolidation to reduce the relapse risk.

The introduction of the age-adapted EWALL-backbone, which was used mainly for the ≥65y old patients, did not improve overall outcome. Even if CR achievement was satisfactory (71%) it was not translated into prolonged survival, and a high early death-rate (20%) was observed. In contrast to our results of population-based use of the protocol, others reported none ^{10,18} or low early death.¹⁹ The CR-rates previously reported using EWALL-backbone¹⁰, EWALL backbone + nilotinib¹⁸, or EWALL-backbone + dasatinib ¹⁹ were 85, 97, and 90% respectively. One year OS in our study was 49% (46% in Ph-) as compared to 61% in the previously cited.¹⁰ A straightforward comparison of ABCDV and EWALL in terms of efficacy and toxicity is not fair, as they were used in different (but overlapping) age cohorts. Though when looking at ages 65-74y, where comparable numbers of patients received each

treatment option and baseline patient characteristics were similar, we could not see any significant difference in outcome/toxicity.

Age as adverse prognostic factor in older/elderly patients was demonstrated by us and other authors^{6,7,17}, but not all.^{5,8} In epidemiological studies outcome according to age is striking.^{1,20} Intensive chemotherapy beyond the 75y age-limit rendered few survivors and an OS similar to palliative treatment. A randomized trial is needed to address the question how to best treat the >75y patients. To speculate, less intensive chemotherapy ("intensive palliation") in the age group inclusive the use of TKI in Ph+ disease can be an option, especially as age had limited impact on outcome in Ph+ ALL.

Thrombocytopenia impaired OS and EFS. It was not reported previously in elderly ALL, but in a population based study from Denmark²⁰ and in patients treated with Hyper-CVAD.¹⁶ In our study, the impaired outcome was not an effect of major hemorrhage as only a few patients were affected by the latter. Instead, we interpreted the thrombocytopenia as a pseudo-marker for more aggressive disease.

Survival was noticeably impaired in males in the youngest age group. Previously reported data on prognostic significance of sex are conflicting. Historically, male sex was regarded as a negative prognostic factor mainly in children. In Poland, OS and probability of CR achievement was superior in elderly females.⁶ To speculate, the differences in outcome may be protocol specific, and possibly related to pharmacokinetics, as survival impairment in males has disappeared during population-based study periods²¹ as in modern pediatric protocols.²²

No patient with T-ALL survived beyond two years. Inferior survival in T-ALL treated with ABCDV was demonstrated previously in Sweden¹⁵ and was not improved by the introduction of hyper-CVAD.²³ T-phenotype was found to be a negative prognostic factor for survival³ and CR achievement¹⁷ in elderly patients. The findings were not confirmed by others.⁴⁻⁸ Numbers of patients with T-phenotype were low in all studies making thorough analysis difficult.

Ph+ disease is classically regarded as a high-risk factor in ALL,²⁴ including in our national guidelines. Introduction of TKI has challenged the paradigm²⁵ and even a trend towards favorable outcome compared to Ph-disease was reported in a small Ph+ cohort of elderly patients.⁵ We found similar OS in Ph- and Ph+ ALL, given the fact that every patient with Ph+ disease received TKI.

The hSCT frequency in patients <65 years was high. According to some authors^{4,26}, hSCT in CR1 in eligible older patients with high-risk features (particularly Ph+)²⁴ should be considered. In our presented study, the overall survival was similar in Ph+ patients treated with chemotherapy + TKI (palliative included) and patients receiving hSCT. Even if the number of patients was low, one can speculate if more

intensive protocols (such as ABCDV) plus TKI with subsequent hSCT are too toxic in this age group as reflected by high TRM. Low intensity protocols +TKI rendered acceptable results in elderly.^{27,28}

Comorbidities had no clear impact on survival in our intensively treated cohort, probably partly because of "wise" selection of patients illegible for remission induction, demonstrated by a larger fraction of patients with higher age and poor PS in the palliatively treated cohort. Lack of prognostic value of different comorbidity scoring systems was found also previously.⁷

Conclusions

The prognosis remains mostly dismal for older/elderly ALL patients despite intensive treatment. The use of an age-adapted protocol did not improve outcome in Sweden. The challenge remains – to decrease early mortality and the frequency of relapse. Risk factors based on disease and patient characteristics including age can probably predict response to intensive treatment, but Ph+ ALL is, in the TKI-era, no longer a negative prognostic factor for the age group. Male sex, as an adverse prognostic factor in patients aged 55-65y, warrants further investigation. We conclude that intensive treatment should primarily be reserved for patients aged <75y, and new treatment modalities with less toxicity are needed for elderly patients with ALL.

REFERENCES

- 1. Dinmohamed AG, Szabo A, van der Mark M, et al. Improved survival in adult patients with acute lymphoblastic leukemia in the Netherlands: a population-based study on treatment, trial participation and survival. *Leukemia*. 2015.
- O'Brien S, Thomas DA, Ravandi F, Faderl S, Pierce S, Kantarjian H. Results of the hyperfractionated cyclophosphamide, vincristine, doxorubicin, and dexamethasone regimen in elderly patients with acute lymphocytic leukemia. *Cancer*. 2008;113(8):2097-2101.
- Shin DY, Kim I, Kim KH, et al. Acute lymphoblastic leukemia in elderly patients: a single institution's experience. *Korean J Intern Med*. 2011;26(3):328-339.
- Sive JI, Buck G, Fielding A, et al. Outcomes in older adults with acute lymphoblastic leukaemia (ALL): results from the international MRC UKALL XII/ECOG2993 trial. *Br J Haematol*. 2012;157(4):463-471.
- Brandwein JM, Gupta V, Wells RA, et al. Treatment of elderly patients with acute lymphoblastic leukemia--evidence for a benefit of imatinib in BCR-ABL positive patients. *Leuk Res.* 2005;29(12):1381-1386.
- 6. Robak T, Szmigielska-Kaplon A, Wrzesien-Kus A, et al. Acute lymphoblastic leukemia in elderly: the Polish Adult Leukemia Group (PALG) experience. *Ann Hematol*. 2004;83(4):225-231.
- Saillard C, Etienne A, Charbonnier A, et al. Evaluation of comorbidity indexes in the outcome of elderly patients treated for acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Leuk Lymphoma*. 2014;55(9):2211-2212.
- Sancho JM, Ribera JM, Xicoy B, et al. Results of the PETHEMA ALL-96 trial in elderly patients with Philadelphia chromosome-negative acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Eur J Haematol*. 2007;78(2):102-110.
- 9. Juliusson G, Karlsson K, Hallbook H. Population-based analyses in adult acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Blood*. 2010;116(6):1011; author reply 1012.
- Gökbuget N LT, Hunault M, et al. First European chemotherapy schedule for elderly patients with acute lymphoblastic leukemia: promising remission rate and feasible moderate dose intensity consolidation [abstract]. Blood. Vol. 2008;112. Abstract 3962; 2008.
- Vardiman JW, Thiele J, Arber DA, et al. The 2008 revision of the World Health Organization (WHO) classification of myeloid neoplasms and acute leukemia: rationale and important changes. *Blood*. 2009;114(5):937-951.
- 12. Oken MM, Creech RH, Tormey DC, et al. Toxicity and response criteria of the Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group. *Am J Clin Oncol.* 1982;5(6):649-655.
- Charlson ME, Pompei P, Ales KL, MacKenzie CR. A new method of classifying prognostic comorbidity in longitudinal studies: development and validation. *J Chronic Dis.* 1987;40(5):373-383.
- 14. Common Terminology Criteria for Adverse Events (CTCAE) v4.03. In: 09-5410 NPN ed. USDHHS: National Cancer Institute; 2010.
- 15. Hallbook H, Simonsson B, Ahlgren T, et al. High-dose cytarabine in upfront therapy for adult patients with acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. *Br J Haematol*. 2002;118(3):748-754.
- Kantarjian H, Thomas D, O'Brien S, et al. Long-term follow-up results of hyperfractionated cyclophosphamide, vincristine, doxorubicin, and dexamethasone (Hyper-CVAD), a doseintensive regimen, in adult acute lymphocytic leukemia. *Cancer*. 2004;101(12):2788-2801.
- 17. Hunault-Berger M, Leguay T, Thomas X, et al. A randomized study of pegylated liposomal doxorubicin versus continuous-infusion doxorubicin in elderly patients with acute lymphoblastic leukemia: the GRAALL-SA1 study. *Haematologica*. 2011;96(2):245-252.
- Ottmann G HPH, Cayuela J-M et al. Nilotinib (Tasigna®) and Chemotherapy for First-Line Treatment in Elderly Patients with De Novo Philadelphia Chromosome/BCR-ABL1 Positive Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia (ALL): A Trial of the European Working Group for Adult ALL (EWALL-PH-02). ASH Session: 614.; 2014.
- Rousselot P CM, Huguet F, et al. Dasatinib (Sprycel®) and low intensity chemotherapy for firstline treatment in patients with de novo Philadelphia positive ALL aged 55 and over: final results of the EWALL-Ph-01 Study [abstract]. Vol. 120. Abstract 666. Blood; 2012.

- Toft N, Schmiegelow K, Klausen TW, Birgens H. Adult acute lymphoblastic leukaemia in Denmark. A national population-based retrospective study on acute lymphoblastic leukaemia in Denmark 1998-2008. Br J Haematol. 2012;157(1):97-104.
- 21. Pulte D, Jansen L, Gondos A, et al. Survival of adults with acute lymphoblastic leukemia in Germany and the United States. *PLoS One*. 2014;9(1):e85554.
- 22. Schmiegelow K, Heyman M, Gustafsson G, et al. The degree of myelosuppression during maintenance therapy of adolescents with B-lineage intermediate risk acute lymphoblastic leukemia predicts risk of relapse. *Leukemia*. 2010;24(4):715-720.
- Kozlowski P, Astrom M, Ahlberg L, et al. High relapse rate of T cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia in adults treated with Hyper-CVAD chemotherapy in Sweden. *Eur J Haematol*. 2014;92(5):377-381.
- 24. Fielding AK. Current treatment of Philadelphia chromosome-positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Haematologica*. 2010;95(1):8-12.
- 25. Leoni V, Biondi A. Tyrosine kinase inhibitors in BCR-ABL positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Haematologica*. 2015;100(3):295-299.
- 26. Pfeifer H WC, Wassmann B, et al. . Long term follow-up of 121 elderly patients with Philadelphia-positive acute lymphoblastic leukaemia (Ph+ALL) treated in prospective GMALL trials supports a greater emphasis on allogeneic SCT as definitive postremission therapy [abstract]. *Blood*. 2012;(102). Abstract 2608.
- Delannoy A, Delabesse E, Lheritier V, et al. Imatinib and methylprednisolone alternated with chemotherapy improve the outcome of elderly patients with Philadelphia-positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia: results of the GRAALL AFR09 study. *Leukemia*. 2006;20(9):1526-1532.
- Vignetti M, Fazi P, Cimino G, et al. Imatinib plus steroids induces complete remissions and prolonged survival in elderly Philadelphia chromosome-positive patients with acute lymphoblastic leukemia without additional chemotherapy: results of the Gruppo Italiano Malattie Ematologiche dell'Adulto (GIMEMA) LAL0201-B protocol. *Blood*. 2007;109(9):3676-3678.

TABLES AND FIGURES

	n (%)	Trea	atment
	- (, •)	Intensive (%)	Palliation (%)
Number of patients	155	124 (80)	31 (20)
Median age (range)	67 (55-85)	65 (55-82)	79 (55-85)
Age group:	· · ·	, ,	× ,
55-64v	60 (39)	59 (47)	1 (3)
65-74v	60 (39)	53 (43)	7(23)
75-85v	35 (22)	12(10)	23 (74)
Male: Female	72.83	57.67	15.16
Phenotype	/ =.05	01.01	10.10
B	141 (91)	116 (93)	25 (81)
Ť	12 (8)	8(7)	4(13)
B-ALL UNS	2(1)	0	2.6
Cytogenetics:	= (1)	ů.	- (0)
BCR-ABL/Ph	49 (35)	42 (35)	7 (35)
MLL/t(4.11)	8(6)	7(6)	1(5)
complex	8(6)	6 (5)	2(10)
normal	10(7)	10 (8)	0
other	41 (31)	36 (30)	7 (35)
unknown, not Ph	22 (15)	19(16)	3 (15)
not performed/ not evaluable	15	4	11
CNS leukemia:			
Yes	9 (9)	6 (6)	3 (43)
No	104 (91)	100 (94)	4 (57)
not performed/ not evaluable	41	18	23
WBC median (range) $x 10^{9/1}$	11.9(0.6-420)	13.0(0.6-420)	8 8 (1 7-105)
Plt median (range) x10 /1	41(6-654)	37(6-654)	$53(9_200)$
I DH ratio* median (range)	27(0547)	27(05-333)	28(05-427)
Hh median (range) g/l	101(40-150)	99(40-150)	111(60-139)
Creatinine median (range)	85 (3 3-34 3)	8 5 (3 3-26 1)	86(39-343)
Performance status (WHO):	0.5 (5.5-54.5)	0.5 (5.5-20.1)	0.0 (3.7-34.3)
	10 (26)	25 (28)	5 (17)
1	70 (46)	53(28) 62(50)	$\frac{3(17)}{8(28)}$
2	25 (16)	18(15)	7(24)
3	10(7)	6(5)	4(14)
4	7(5)	2(2)	5(17)
Number of comorbidities:	, (3)	- (2)	- (17)
	52 (34)	49 (40)	3 (10)
1	48(31)	40(32)	8 (26)
>2	54 (35)	34(28)	20(64)
Comorbidity component:	5.(55)	51 (20)	20 (07)
	85 (55)	75 (61)	10 (32)
	31 (20)	24 (19)	7 (23)
2	19(12)	12 (10)	7 (23)
3	12 (8)	10 (8)	2.6
>4	7(5)	2(2)	5(16)
Median number of drugs	2 (0-14)	1 (0-13)	6 (0-14)

Table 1. Characteristics and treatment type for all patients with B- or T-ALL.

*a ratio of serum lactate dehydrogenase and upper limit of normal value

		A	ge groun	
	n (%)	55-64y (%)	65-74y (%)	75-82y (%)
Number of patients	124	59 (47)	53 (43)	12 (10)
Median age years Male: Female T phenotype Ph+*	65 57:67 8 (7) 42 (35)	60 26:33 3 (5) 21 (36)	69 23:30 4 (8) 16 (32)	77 8:4 1 (8) 5 (46)
Performance status ≥ 2	26 (21)	13 (22)	11 (21)	2 (17)
Comorbidity component ≥1 Protocol used:	49 (40)	17 (29)	25 (47) ^a	7 (58)
ABCDV EWALL Other Protocol adherence	79 (64) 35 (28) 10 (8) 86 (70)	49 (83) 5 (8.5) 5 (8.5) 44 (76)	24 (45) 25 (47) ^a 4 (8) 37 (70)	6 (50) 5 (42) ^a 1 (8) 5 (42) ^a
CR Early death	103 (83) 18 (15)	53 (90) 6 (10)	43 (81) 10 (19)	7 (59) ^a 2 (17)
Infectious toxicity	97 (79)	46 (79)	40 (76)	11 (92)
Septicemia Pneumonia Pneumocystis pneumonia Invasive fungal infection	80 (65) 28 (23) 4 (3) 22 (18)	39 (67) 12 (21) 2 (4) 15 (26)	34 (64) 12 (23) 2 (4) 6 (11)	7 (58) 4 (33) 0 1 (8)
Other toxicity	52 (42)	19 (33)	27 (51)	6 (50)
Enterocolitis Mucositis Heart failure Kidney failure Liver failure Thrombosis Neuropathy Diabetes at discharge Bleeding	14 (11) 4 (3) 13 (11) 9 (7) 6 (5) 6 (5) 8 (7) 3 (2) 3 (2)	7 (12) 0 3 (5) 0 1 (2) 3 (5) 4 (7) 1 (2) 1 (2)	6 (11) 3 (6) 8 (15) 7 (13) ^a 4 (8) 3 (6) 4 (8) 2 (4) 2 (4)	$ \begin{array}{c} 1 (8) \\ 1 (8) \\ 2 (17) \\ 2 (17)^{a} \\ 1 (8) \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \end{array} $
ICU** admission	21 (17)	11 (19)	10 (19)	0
hSCT in CR1	20 (16)	18 (31)	2 (4) ^a	0 ^a

Table 2. Patient and treatment characteristics according to age group for intensively treated B- or T-ALL.

*4 missing values, **intensive care unit

^a significant difference as compared to 55-64y

	n	3y OS% (95%CI)	Univariate analysis:	Multivariate analysis*:
		()0,001)	HR (95%CI); P value	HR (95%CI); P value
Age group: 55-64y 65-74y 75-82y	59 53 12	39 (26, 51) 30 (18, 43) 8 (0, 24)	; 0.01 1.30 (0.85, 1.99); 0.23 ^a 2.71 (1.40, 5.22); 0.003 ^a 2.08 (1.08, 4.00); 0.028 ^b	; 0.025 1.20 (0.77, 1.85); 0.42 ^a 2.60 (1.30, 5.19); 0.007 ^a 2.17 (1.10, 4.31); 0.026 ^b
Female Male	67 57	40 (28, 52) 23 (12, 34)	1.52 (1.02, 2.27); 0.04	1.37 (0.82, 2.29); 0.22
B-cell phenotype T-cell phenotype	116 8	34 (26, 43) 0	2.04 (0.98, 4.27); 0.06	1.49 (0.68, 3.28); 0.32
Ph- Ph+	78 42	31 (21, 41) 33 (19, 48)	0.96 (0.62, 1.47); 0.84	
No <i>MLL</i> rearrangement <i>MLL</i> rearrangement	100 7	31 (22,40) 13 (0, 40)	1.06 (0.92, 1.21); 0.45	
No CNS leukemia CNS leukemia	100 6	37 (27,46) 17 (0, 46)	1.36 (0.55, 3.38); 0.50	
WBC ≤100 x10 ⁹ /l WBC >100 x10 ⁹ /l	108 16	35 (26, 44) 13 (0, 29)	1.64 (0.94, 2.87); 0.08	1.63 (0.92, 2.87); 0.09
Plt >35 x10 ⁹ /l Plt \leq 35 x10 ⁹ /l	65 59	39 (27, 50) 25 (15, 36)	1.53 (1.02, 2.29); 0.04	1.81 (1.16, 2.79); 0.008
LDH ratio <3** LDH ratio ≥3	61 49	41 (29, 53) 25 (15, 36)	1.41 (0.92, 2.17); 0.11	
Creatinine ≤90 mg/dL Creatinine >90 mg/dL	74 48	40 (29, 52) 19 (8, 30)	1.73 (1.15, 2.61); 0.009	1.26 (0.76, 2.09); 0.37
Performance status <2 Performance status ≥2	97 26	34 (24,43) 27 (10, 44)	1.34 (0.82, 2.18); 0.24	

Table 3. Univariate and multivariate analyses of pretreatment prognostic factors for overall survival (OS) in intensively treated patients with B- or T-ALL.

*Two patients excluded due to missing values.

Comorbidity component <1 75

Comorbidity component ≥ 1 49

^a as compared with 55-64y group, ^b as compared with 65-74y group

**a ratio of serum lactate dehydrogenase and upper limit of normal value

32 (21, 42)

33 (20, 46)

1.01 (0.67, 1.53); 0.95



Figure 1. Overall survival in patients aged 65-74y according to protocol (EWALL-backbone vs. ABCDV).

Figure 2. Overall survival in patients with Ph+ transplanted and not transplanted (intensively and palliatively treated included, all receiving TKI).



Figure 3. Overall survival in intensively treated patients with B- or T-ALL according to age group in whole cohort (A), Ph- (B), and Ph+ (C) disease.







Figure 4. Overall survival in youngest age group (55-64y) according to sex.



Table S1 (supplemental). National guidelines for treatment of older/elderly ALL patients in Sweden.

	Until year 2009	After year 2009				
Phenotype	All eligible adults	Biological age 45-60y	Biological age 60-75y or younger with comorbidities	Biological age >75y or younger with serious comorbidities		
B-ALL Ph-	ABCDV	ABCDV	EWALL	Reduced CHOP (75%),		
			backbone	VAD, Vincristine+ steroids		
B-ALL Ph+	ABCDV (+imatinib*)	ABCDV +imatinib	EWALL backbone+ imatinib	Imatinib + steroids		
T-ALL	Hyper-CVAD	ABCDV	EWALL	Reduced CHOP (75%), VAD, Vincristine+ steroids		

*imatinib as standard treatment for Ph+ disease was introduced 2007

Table S2 (supplemental). Protocol specifications.

ABCDV +/- Imatinib		EWALL backbone +/- Imatinib			
Drug	Dose	Davs	Drug	Dose	Davs
Imatinih in Ph+AU	600 ma o.d.	continuously	Imatinih in Ph+ AU	600 ma o.d.	continuously
Pre-nha	se (ontional)	continuousiy		eee nig erai	continuousiy
Prednisolone	60 mg/m^2	-5-0			
	oral				
Cyclophosphamide	200 mg/m ²	-5-0			
	i.v.				
Remission in	duction (ABCDV)	Remission induction	on I (d 1-16) and I	(d 20-34)
Methotrexate	10 mg/m ² i.t.	0	Methotrexate	12 mg i.t.	1
	(max 15 mg)			Ū	
Ara-C (cytarabine)	3 g/m ² b.i.d.	1-3	Dexamethasone	10 mg/m ² oral	1-7, 13-16
	i.v.				
B etamethasone	20 mg/m ²	1-5	Vincristine	1 mg i.v.	6, 13
	oral				
C yclophosphamide	600 mg/m ²	1	Idarubicin	10 mg i.v.	6, 7, 13, 14
	i.v.				
D aunorubicin	30 mg/m ² i.v.	1-3	Ara-C (cytarabine)	60 mg/m ² i.v.	21-24, 28-31
Vincristine	2 mg i.v.	1	Cyclophosphamide	300 mg/m ² i.v.	20-22
			Methotrexate/Ara-	12/40/12.5 mg	12, 20, 27,
			C/prednisolone	i.t.	34
			G-CSF	5 μg/kg s.c.	6-, 20-
Consolidation 1 or	2:nd induction (VABA)	Conse	olidation 1, 3, 5	
Vincristine	2 mg i.v.	1	Methotrexate**	1000 mg/m ²	1
				i.v.	
Amsacrine	200 mg/m ²	1-3	Asparaginase**	10 000 E/m ²	2
	i.v.*			i.v. or i.m.	
B etamethasone	20 mg/m ²	1-5			
	oral				
Ara-C (cytarabine)	3 g/m² i.v.*	1-4	-		
Consolida	ation 2 (BCDE)	1	Conso	plidation 2, 4, 6	
Betamethasone	20 mg/m²	1-5	Ara-C (cytarabine)	1000 mg/m ²	1, 3, 5
	oral			i.v.	
Cyclophosphamide	1000 mg/m²	1			
D	I.V.	1.2			
Daunorubicin	30 mg/m ² i.v.	1-2			
Etoposide	100 mg/m ²	1-5			
Concolidati	I.V.				
Vincristino	2 mg iv	1			
Amsacrino	2 111g 1.v.	1 2			
Amsachine	200 mg/m	1-2			
B etamethasone	20 mg/m^2	1-5			
Betainethasone	oral	1.5			
Ara-C (cytarabine)	3 g/m ² i v	1-3			
Consolida	tion (MAP)***	1.5			
Methotrexate	1500 mg/m^2	1.15			
methoricade	i.v.	-, 10			
PEG-Asparaginase	1000 F/m ² i v	2.16			
Mercaptopurine	60 mg/m^2	1-21			
	oral				

Maintenance in 2 y from last consolidation			Maintenance in 2 y from start of induction		
Mercaptopurine****	50-75 mg/m ²	continuously	Mercaptopurine****	50-75 mg/m ²	continuously
	o.d.			o.d.	
Methotrexate****	5-10 mg/m ²	continuously	Methotrexate****	5-10 mg/m ²	continuously
	oral, once			oral once	
	weekly			weekly	
Reinduction course- every 2:nd (1:st y) and every 3:rd		Reinduction course- every 2:nd (1:st y) and every 3:rd			
(2:nd y) month during maintenance:		(2:nd y) month during maintenance:			
Daunorubicin (1:st y)	40 mg/m ² i.v.	1			
Vincristine (1:st y)	2 mg i.v.	1	Vincristine	1 mg i.v.	1
Prednisolone	60 mg/m ²	1-7 (1:st y)	Dexamethasone	40 mg oral	1-2
	oral	1-5 (2:nd y)			
Ara-C (2:nd y)	60 mg/m ² s.c.	1-5			
Thioguanine (2:nd y)	80 mg/m ²	1-5			
	oral				

*For patients >70 years of age, amsacrine is given d 1-2 and Ara-C d 1-3

** 50% methotrexate and asparaginase dose reduction in patients aged >70 y. Asparaginase omitted in Ph+ALL.

***Only for high-risk patients

****omitted in Ph+ ALL
PUBLICATIONS in the series Örebro Studies in Medicine

- 1. Bergemalm, Per-Olof (2004). Audiologic and cognitive long-term sequelae from closed head injury.
- 2. Jansson, Kjell (2004). *Intraperitoneal Microdialysis*. *Technique and Results*.
- 3. Windahl, Torgny (2004). *Clinical aspects of laser treatment of lichen sclerosus and squamous cell carcinoma of the penis.*
- 4. Carlsson, Per-Inge (2004). *Hearing impairment and deafness*. Genetic and environmental factors – interactions – consequences. A clinical audiological approach.
- 5. Wågsäter, Dick (2005). CXCL16 and CD137 in Atherosclerosis.
- 6. Jatta, Ken (2006). *Inflammation in Atherosclerosis*.
- 7. Dreifaldt, Ann Charlotte (2006). *Epidemiological Aspects on Malignant Diseases in Childhood*.
- 8. Jurstrand, Margaretha (2006). *Detection of Chlamydia trachomatis and Mycoplasma genitalium by genetic and serological methods.*
- 9. Norén, Torbjörn (2006). *Clostridium difficile, epidemiology and antibiotic resistance.*
- 10. Anderzén Carlsson, Agneta (2007). *Children with Cancer Focusing on their Fear and on how their Fear is Handled.*
- 11. Ocaya, Pauline (2007). *Retinoid metabolism and signalling in vascular smooth muscle cells*.
- 12. Nilsson, Andreas (2008). *Physical activity assessed by accelerometry in children*.
- 13. Eliasson, Henrik (2008). *Tularemia epidemiological, clinical and diagnostic aspects*.
- 14. Walldén, Jakob (2008). *The influence of opioids on gastric function: experimental and clinical studies.*
- 15. Andrén, Ove (2008). Natural history and prognostic factors in localized prostate cancer.
- 16. Svantesson, Mia (2008). Postpone death? Nurse-physician perspectives and ethics rounds.

- 17. Björk, Tabita (2008). Measuring Eating Disorder Outcome – Definitions, dropouts and patients' perspectives.
- 18. Ahlsson, Anders (2008). Atrial Fibrillation in Cardiac Surgery.
- 19. Parihar, Vishal Singh (2008). Human Listeriosis Sources and Routes.
- 20. Berglund, Carolina (2008). Molecular Epidemiology of Methicillin-Resistant Staphylococcus aureus. Epidemiological aspects of MRSA and the dissemination in the community and in hospitals.
- 21. Nilsagård, Ylva (2008). Walking ability, balance and accidental falls in persons with Multiple Sclerosis.
- 22. Johansson, Ann-Christin (2008). *Psychosocial factors in patients* with lumbar disc herniation: Enhancing postoperative outcome by the identification of predictive factors and optimised physiotherapy.
- 23. Larsson, Matz (2008). Secondary exposure to inhaled tobacco products.
- 24. Hahn-Strömberg, Victoria (2008). Cell adhesion proteins in different invasive patterns of colon carcinoma: A morphometric and molecular genetic study.
- 25. Böttiger, Anna (2008). Genetic Variation in the Folate Receptor-α and Methylenetetrahydrofolate Reductase Genes as Determinants of Plasma Homocysteine Concentrations.
- 26. Andersson, Gunnel (2009). Urinary incontinence. Prevalence, treatment seeking behaviour, experiences and perceptions among persons with and without urinary leakage.
- 27. Elfström, Peter (2009). Associated disorders in celiac disease.
- 28. Skårberg, Kurt (2009). Anabolic-androgenic steroid users in treatment: Social background, drug use patterns and criminality.
- 29. de Man Lapidoth, Joakim (2009). *Binge Eating and Obesity Treatment* – *Prevalence, Measurement and Long-term Outcome.*
- 30. Vumma, Ravi (2009). Functional Characterization of Tyrosine and Tryptophan Transport in Fibroblasts from Healthy Controls, Patients with Schizophrenia and Bipolar Disorder.
- 31. Jacobsson, Susanne (2009). Characterisation of Neisseria meningitidis from a virulence and immunogenic perspective that includes variations in novel vaccine antigens.

- 32. Allvin, Renée (2009). Postoperative Recovery. Development of a Multi-Dimensional Questionnaire for Assessment of Recovery.
- 33. Hagnelius, Nils-Olof (2009). Vascular Mechanisms in Dementia with Special Reference to Folate and Fibrinolysis.
- 34. Duberg, Ann-Sofi (2009). *Hepatitis C virus infection. A nationwide study of assiciated morbidity and mortality.*
- 35. Söderqvist, Fredrik (2009). *Health symptoms and potential effects on the blood-brain and blood-cerebrospinal fluid barriers associated with use of wireless telephones.*
- 36. Neander, Kerstin (2009). *Indispensable Interaction. Parents' perspectives* on parent–child interaction interventions and beneficial meetings.
- 37. Ekwall, Eva (2009). Women's Experiences of Gynecological Cancer and Interaction with the Health Care System through Different Phases of the Disease.
- 38. Thulin Hedberg, Sara (2009). Antibiotic susceptibility and resistance in Neisseria meningitidis phenotypic and genotypic characteristics.
- 39. Hammer, Ann (2010). Forced use on arm function after stroke. Clinically rated and self-reported outcome and measurement during the sub-acute phase.
- 40. Westman, Anders (2010). *Musculoskeletal pain in primary health care: A biopsychosocial perspective for assessment and treatment.*
- Gustafsson, Sanna Aila (2010). The importance of being thin

 Perceived expectations from self and others and the effect on self-evaluation in girls with disordered eating.
- 42. Johansson, Bengt (2010). Long-term outcome research on PDR brachytherapy with focus on breast, base of tongue and lip cancer.
- 43. Tina, Elisabet (2010). Biological markers in breast cancer and acute leukaemia with focus on drug resistance.
- 44. Overmeer, Thomas (2010). *Implementing psychosocial factors in physical therapy treatment for patients with musculoskeletal pain in primary care.*
- 45. Prenkert, Malin (2010). On mechanisms of drug resistance in acute myloid leukemia.

- 46. de Leon, Alex (2010). Effects of Anesthesia on Esophageal Sphincters in Obese Patients.
- 47. Josefson, Anna (2010). Nickel allergy and hand eczema epidemiological aspects.
- 48. Almon, Ricardo (2010). Lactase Persistence and Lactase Non-Persistence. Prevalence, influence on body fat, body height, and relation to the metabolic syndrome.
- 49. Ohlin, Andreas (2010). Aspects on early diagnosis of neonatal sepsis.
- 50. Oliynyk, Igor (2010). *Advances in Pharmacological Treatment of Cystic Fibrosis*.
- 51. Franzén, Karin (2011). Interventions for Urinary Incontinence in Women. Survey and effects on population and patient level.
- 52. Loiske, Karin (2011). Echocardiographic measurements of the heart. With focus on the right ventricle.
- 53. Hellmark, Bengt (2011). *Genotypic and phenotypic characterisation of Staphylococcus epidermidis isolated from prosthetic joint infections.*
- 54. Eriksson Crommert, Martin (2011). On the role of transversus abdominis in trunk motor control.
- 55. Ahlstrand, Rebecca (2011). *Effects of Anesthesia on Esophageal Sphincters*.
- 56. Holländare, Fredrik (2011). *Managing Depression via the Internet* – self-report measures, treatment & relapse prevention.
- 57. Johansson, Jessica (2011). Amino Acid Transport and Receptor Binding Properties in Neuropsychiatric Disorders using the Fibroblast Cell Model.
- 58. Vidlund, Mårten (2011). *Glutamate for Metabolic Intervention in Coronary Surgery with special reference to the GLUTAMICS-trial.*
- 59. Zakrisson, Ann-Britt (2011). Management of patients with Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease in Primary Health Care. A study of a nurse-led multidisciplinary programme of pulmonary rehabilitation.
- 60. Lindgren, Rickard (2011). Aspects of anastomotic leakage, anorectal function and defunctioning stoma in Low Anterior Resection of the rectum for cancer.

- 61. Karlsson, Christina (2011). Biomarkers in non-small cell lung carcinoma. Methodological aspects and influence of gender, histology and smoking habits on estrogen receptor and epidermal growth factor family receptor signalling.
- 62. Varelogianni, Georgia (2011). Chloride Transport and Inflammation in Cystic Fibrosis Airways.
- 63. Makdoumi, Karim (2011). Ultraviolet Light A (UVA) Photoactivation of Riboflavin as a Potential Therapy for Infectious Keratitis.
- 64. Nordin Olsson, Inger (2012). *Rational drug treatment in the elderly:* "To *treat or not to treat*".
- 65. Fadl, Helena (2012). *Gestational diabetes mellitus in Sweden: screening, outcomes, and consequences.*
- 66. Essving, Per (2012). Local Infiltration Analgesia in Knee Arthroplasty.
- 67. Thuresson, Marie (2012). The Initial Phase of an Acute Coronary Syndrome. Symptoms, patients' response to symptoms and opportunity to reduce time to seek care and to increase ambulance use.
- 68. Mårild, Karl (2012). *Risk Factors and Associated Disorders of Celiac Disease*.
- 69. Fant, Federica (2012). Optimization of the Perioperative Anaesthetic Care for Prostate Cancer Surgery. Clinical studies on Pain, Stress Response and Immunomodulation.
- 70. Almroth, Henrik (2012). *Atrial Fibrillation: Inflammatory and pharmacological studies*.
- 71. Elmabsout, Ali Ateia (2012). CYP26B1 as regulator of retinoic acid in vascular cells and atherosclerotic lesions.
- 72. Stenberg, Reidun (2012). *Dietary antibodies and gluten related seromarkers in children and young adults with cerebral palsy.*
- 73. Skeppner, Elisabeth (2012). Penile Carcinoma: From First Symptom to Sexual Function and Life Satisfaction. Following Organ-Sparing Laser Treatment.
- 74. Carlsson, Jessica (2012). Identification of miRNA expression profiles for diagnosis and prognosis of prostate cancer.
- 75. Gustavsson, Anders (2012): Therapy in Inflammatory Bowel Disease.

- 76. Paulson Karlsson, Gunilla (2012): Anorexia nervosa treatment expectations, outcome and satisfaction.
- 77. Larzon, Thomas (2012): Aspects of endovascular treatment of *abdominal aortic aneurysms*.
- 78. Magnusson, Niklas (2012): Postoperative aspects of inguinal hernia surgery pain and recurrences.
- 79. Khalili, Payam (2012): *Risk factors for cardiovascular events and incident hospital-treated diabetes in the population.*
- 80. Gabrielson, Marike (2013): *The mitochondrial protein* SLC25A43 *and its possible role in* HER2-positive breast cancer.
- 81. Falck, Eva (2013): *Genomic and genetic alterations in endometrial adenocarcinoma*.
- 82. Svensson, Maria A (2013): Assessing the ERG rearrangement for clinical use in patients with prostate cancer.
- 83. Lönn, Johanna (2013): *The role of periodontitis and hepatocyte growth factor in systemic inflammation.*
- 84. Kumawat, Ashok Kumar (2013): Adaptive Immune Responses in the Intestinal Mucosa of Microscopic Colitis Patients.
- 85. Nordenskjöld, Axel (2013): *Electroconvulsive therapy for depression*.
- 86. Davidsson, Sabina (2013): Infection induced chronic inflammation and its association with prostate cancer initiation and progression.
- 87. Johansson, Benny (2013): No touch vein harvesting technique in coronary by-pass surgery. Impact on patency rate, development of atherosclerosis, left ventricular function and clinical outcome during 16 years follow-up.
- 88. Sahdo, Berolla (2013): *Inflammasomes: defense guardians in host-microbe interactions.*
- 89. Hörer, Tal (2013): Early detection of major surgical postoperative complications evaluated by microdialysis.
- 90. Malakkaran Lindqvist, Breezy (2013): *Biological signature of HER2positive breast cancer.*

- 91. Lidén, Mats (2013): The stack mode review of volumetric datasets – applications for urinary stone disease.
- 92. Emilsson, Louise (2013): Cardiac Complications in Celiac Disease.
- 93. Dreifaldt, Mats (2013): Conduits in coronary artery bypass grafting surgery: Saphenous vein, radial and internal thoracic arteries.
- 94. Perniola, Andrea (2013): A new technique for postoperative pain management with local anaesthetic after abdominal hysterectomy.
- 95. Ahlstrand, Erik (2013): Coagulase-negative Staphylococci in Hematological Malignancy.
- 96. Sundh, Josefin (2013): *Quality of life, mortality and exacerbations in COPD*.
- 97. Skoog, Per (2013): On the metabolic consequences of abdominal compartment syndrome.
- 98. Palmetun Ekbäck, Maria (2013): *Hirsutism and Quality of Life with Aspects on Social Support, Anxiety and Depression.*
- 99. Hussain, Rashida (2013): Cell Responses in Infected and Cystic Fibrosis Respiratory Epithelium.
- 100. Farkas, Sanja (2014): DNA methylation in the placenta and in cancer with special reference to folate transporting genes.
- 101. Jildenstål, Pether (2014): Influence of depth of anaesthesia on postoperative cognitive dysfunction (POCD) and inflammatory marker.
- 102. Söderström, Ulf (2014): Type 1 diabetes in children with non-Swedish background epidemiology and clinical outcome
- 103. Wilhelmsson Göstas, Mona (2014): Psychotherapy patients in mental health care: Attachment styles, interpersonal problems and therapy experiences
- 104. Jarl, Gustav (2014): The Orthotics and Prosthetics Users' Survey: Translation and validity evidence for the Swedish version
- 105. Demirel, Isak (2014): Uropathogenic Escherichia coli, multidrugresistance and induction of host defense mechanisms
- 106. Mohseni, Shahin (2014): The role of β -blockade and anticoagulation therapy in traumatic brain injury

- 107. Bašić, Vladimir T. (2014): Molecular mechanisms mediating development of pulmonary cachexia in COPD
- 108. Kirrander, Peter (2014): Penile Cancer: Studies on Prognostic Factors
- 109. Törös, Bianca (2014): Genome-based characterization of Neisseria meningitidis with focus on the emergent serogroup Y disease
- 110. von Beckerath, Mathias (2014): *Photodynamic therapy in the Head and Neck*
- 111. Waldenborg, Micael (2014): *Echocardiographic measurements at Takotsubo cardiomyopathy - transient left ventricular dysfunction.*
- 112. Lillsunde Larsson, Gabriella (2014): *Characterization of HPV-induced vaginal and vulvar carcinoma*.
- 113. Palm, Eleonor (2015): Inflammatory responses of gingival fibroblasts in the interaction with the periodontal pathogen Porphyromonas gingivils.
- 114. Sundin, Johanna (2015): *Microbe-Host Interactions in Post-infectious Irritable Bowel Syndrome*.
- 115. Olsson, Lovisa (2015): Subjective well-being in old age and its association with biochemical and genetic biomarkers and with physical activity.
- 116. Klarström Engström, Kristin (2015): *Platelets as immune cells in sensing bacterial infection*.
- 117. Landström, Fredrik (2015): Curative Electrochemotherapy in the Head and Neck Area.
- 118. Jurcevic, Sanja (2015): *MicroRNA expression profiling in endometrial adenocarcinoma*.
- 119. Savilampi, Johanna (2015): *Effects of Remifentanil on Esophageal Sphincters and Swallowing Function.*
- 120. Pelto-Piri, Veikko (2015): *Ethical considerations in psychiatric inpatient care. The ethical landscape in everyday practice as described by staff.*
- 121. Athlin, Simon (2015): Detection of Polysaccharides and Polysaccharide Antibodies in Pneumococcal Pneumonia.
- 122. Evert, Jasmine (2015): Molecular Studies of Radiotheray and Chemotherapy in Colorectal Cancer.

- 123. Göthlin-Eremo, Anna (2015): *Biological profiles of endocrine breast cancer.*
- 124. Malm, Kerstin (2015): Diagnostic strategies for blood borne infections in Sweden.
- 125. Kumakech, Edward (2015): Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV), Human Papillomavirus (HPV) and Cervical Cancer Prevention in Uganda: Prevalence, Risk factors, Benefits and Challenges of Post-Exposure Prophylaxis, Screening Integration and Vaccination.
- 126. Thunborg, Charlotta (2015): *Exploring dementia care dyads' person transfer situations from a behavioral medicine perspective in physiotherapy. Development of an assessmement scale.*
- 127. Zhang, Boxi (2015): Modulaton of gene expression in human aortic smooth muscle cells by Porphyromonas gingivalis a possible association between periodontitis and atherosclerosis.
- 128. Nyberg, Jan (2015): On implant integration in irradiated bone: - clinical and experimental studies.
- 129. Brocki, Barbara C. (2015): *Physiotherapy interventions and outcomes following lung cancer surgery.*
- 130. Ulfenborg, Benjamin (2016): *Bioinformatics tools for discovery and evaluation of biomarkers. Applications in clinical assessment of cancer.*
- 131. Lindström, Caisa (2016): Burnout in parents of chronically ill children.
- 132. Günaltay, Sezin (2016): Dysregulated Mucosal Immune Responses in Microscopic Colitis Patients.
- 133. Koskela von Sydow, Anita (2016): *Regulation of fibroblast activity by keratinocytes*, TGF-β and IL-1α–studies in two- and three dimensional in vitro *models*.
- 134. Kozlowski, Piotr (2016): Prognostic factors, treatment and outcome in adult acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Population-based studies in Sweden.